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AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr Sheldon Trainor-DeGirolamo
Mr Tong Ka Wing, Carl

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr Wong Man Cheung

REGISTERED OFFICE
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HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN MACAU

Palace Building, Macau Fisherman’s Wharf
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Macau
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IN HONG KONG

Shop 102, 1/F, Shun Tak Centre
168-200 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
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Hong Kong
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HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISERS
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CORPORATE PROFILE

Macau Legend Development Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on 5 October
2006. The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) is one of the leading owners of entertainment
and casino gaming facilities in Macau. The Group currently has
Macau Fisherman’s Wharf operated by MFW Investment (“MFW"),
which is a waterfront integrated gaming, hotel, convention and
entertainment complex located on the outer harbour of the Macau
Peninsula which follows the “Leisure, Tourism, Economic and Multi-
Cultural Diversification” policy of the government of the Macau
Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China.

The Group's businesses include (i) the provision of gaming
services to SJM in the Legend Palace Casino, Babylon Casino and
Landmark Casino under the Service Agreement; (ii) the operation
of casino inside Savan Legend Resorts Hotel and Entertainment
Complex in the Lao People’s Democratic Republic (“Lao PDR") and
(iii) the operation of hotels, entertainment and leisure facilities
within its properties.

On 9 November 2017, the Group and the independent third parties
(the "Purchasers”) entered into the disposal agreement, pursuant
to which the Group agreed to sell and the Purchasers agreed to
buy the entire issued share capital in New Macau Landmark and all
obligations, liabilities and debts owing by New Macau Landmark to
Hong Hock, at a consideration of HK$4,600 million (the “Disposal”).
The transaction was completed on 27 April 2018.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2018 Annual Report 5
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

2018 was a year with opportunities and challenges for Macau.
The factors such as economic situation in China and the changing
profile of the visitors in Macau have kept causing uncertainties in
the gaming and non-gaming business in Macau.

According to the figures announced by the Gaming Inspection
and Coordination Bureau, Macau generated gross gaming revenue
of approximately MOP302.8 billion in 2018, representing an
approximately 14.0% increase when compared to corresponding
period in last year. During the year 2018, as benefited by the
increase of the visitors in Macau, the Group's business achieved a
total reported revenue for the year of approximately HK$1,865.4
million, representing an increase of approximately 1.6% over that
of 2017. Adjusted EBITDA for the year was approximately HK$359.8
million, representing an increase of approximately 29.4% when
compared to corresponding period in last year.

In the past year, the Group has been committed to restructuring its
hotel business in Macau. Our Legend Palace Hotel and Harbourview
Hotel, resulting from the mature operation and high occupancy
rate, have contributed stable local revenue to the Group, and has
steadily built up our core advantage and brands in Macau'’s hotel
industry. In addition, on 27 April, 2018, the Group has completed
the disposal of New Macau Landmark (the “Disposal”). The Disposal
enables the Group to focus on the operation and development of
MFW, and provides MFW Redevelopment with sufficient financial
support. The Group is actively improving the ancillary facilities
inside MFW and increasing the number of events to be held in
MFW, in order to attract more well-known brands to march into
MFW. The Group aims to develop MFW to become the largest
diversified convention and exhibition center and leisure hub on the
Macau Peninsula.

On the other hand, in response to the China’s “One-Belt, One-
Road” policy, the Group also actively developed the overseas
projectsin 2018. Our Savan Legend Resorts in Savannakhet Province
in Laos has continuously contributed stable overseas returns to the
Group. In addition, progress on a number of overseas projects,
including an integrated resort and casino in Cape Verde, are within
our expectation.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2018 Annual Report 7
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The Group will continue to look for overseas projects with good
development and investment potential so as to cope with its
vision to create new market for business development. We will
continue to focus on Southeast Asian destinations where the
“One Belt, One Road” policy from China is supporting new
investment in tourism and tourism related infrastructure and will
also focus on Portuguese-speaking countries, like Cape Verde,
to make good use of the Sino-Portuguese platform for our
diversified overseas business.

Lastly, we would like to join the Board in thanking all of the Group's
employees for their continued hard work and dedication in the past
year. The Group is grateful for their tireless effort and commitment
in the past year, and the Group is proud of the contribution each and
every one of them has made. The Group would also like to express
its appreciation to all of its business partners and shareholders for
their support throughout the year.

CHOW KAM FAI, DAVID
Co-chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

TONG KA WING, CARL
Co-chairman and Non-executive Director

28 March 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REHME OVERVIEW OF RESULTS

BE—_Z—\F+-_A=+—8IFE  A&EHFH For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group achieved a
M4E2HUEEH A 1,865,400,00087C © BEF total reported revenue of approximately HK$1,865.4 million,
R HA491,836,100,000% T N4729,300,000 representing an increase of approximately HK$29.3 million or
BILHM1.6% - REBREBEE_T—N\FER_ approximately 1.6% over that of the last corresponding year of
E—+tFTA=+—HILFENEHKRAH approximately HK$1,836.1 million. Breakdown of the Group's
W reported revenue for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017

is as follows:

—E-N\F —E—+F
2018 2017
FET FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
ER R Gaming services:
- BE R - Legend Palace Casino
- RISEETR — Mass market tables 560,901 271,648
- EEHER - VIP tables* 115,538 29,091
- AT — Slot machines 6,071 4,996
682,510 305,735
- BLhfeiRges — Babylon Casino
- FRIZEEG — Mass market tables 81,120 80,957
- EEMR* — VIP tables* 27,955 29,769
- AT — Slot machines 1,105 718
110,180 111,444
- EMIRESS (RIBEZ T =R - Landmark Casino (formerly known as
IREEIS) Pharaoh’s Palace Casino)
- ISR — Mass market tables 316,016 442,627
- BEEER* - VIP tables* 18,072 97,506
- AT - Slot machines - 6,323
334,088 546,456
- Savan Legend R4435 - Savan Legend Casino
- B AR — Mass market tables 109,205 106,237
- BEEER — VIP tables 40,059 41,962
- AT - Slot machines 81,898 98,266
231,162 246,465
BRARIS NG Sub-total for gaming services 1,357,940 1,210,100
* ZEeHeENEEREMRETEREER * The amounts include outsourced VIP tables and indirect participation
RBFEBNEEBE2REL A NER - in the gaming promotion business in Macau through New Legend

under the VIE Structure.

10 MPIMBARERAT 20185H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

—B-N\F —TtF
2018 2017
FHBT THET
HK$’000 HK$'000

FEBRLE - Non-gaming operations
b YN - MFW 416,596 394,205
- RPIEHES — The Landmark Macau 69,222 209,539
- Savan Legend - Savan Legend 21,625 22,213
FEEREE G Sub-total for non-gaming operations 507,443 625,957
W2 mUr s Total reported revenue 1,865,383 1,836,057

HE-_Z—-N\F+ZA=+—HLFE &
SENBEYREREAFRAEMNNI12.2%E

491,357,900,0008 T * ZIEBE KR
18.9% Z=#9507,400,000 B TP 8 - B W

EMTHEEHRB T RS T2 R
?JI]?;%’](SSZ 500,000/ 7T * % (i)Savan Legend
R4S B BA 2 R E R A =4 231,200,000
/%E&(II)Efﬁlﬁ;&%Eé \J:KE’] i&”k /ﬂ}?;%]
334,100,000 B T ATHKEH - Bl 2 IRE5 8 2 MUK
HABEMDEEARERR_ZE—tFRE+
BRAEE(ER-_T—+F-_A-+LtHFEE )L
.ﬂ&ﬂiu% EREEEE M_Z— ) \FllA:
f'i#-

EER SR HEEARBE S —/\FOA
ZHNARELEERMERES Z REEEA
ik BECRMSHESERNZREKEH DL
67.0% °

For the year ended 31 December 2018, gaming revenue of the
Group increased by approximately 12.2% to approximately
HK$1,357.9 million, offset by decreased non-gaming revenue
of approximately 18.9% to approximately HK$507.4 million,
respectively, when compared to the last corresponding year. The
increase in gaming revenue was primarily due to the increase in
the reported revenue contributed from Legend Palace Casino
to approximately HK$682.5 million, which was offset by (i) the
decrease in reported revenue contributed by Savan Legend Casino
to approximately HK$231.2 million and (ii) the decrease in reported
revenue contributed by Landmark Casino to approximately
HK$334.1 million. The significant increase in gaming revenue of
Legend Palace Casino was mainly due to a full year operation in
2018 as comparing to the 10 months operation with its opening on
27 February 2017 and temporary cessation of operation caused by
Typhoon Hato in 2017.

The decrease in non-gaming revenue was primarily due to the
cessation of consolidation of The Landmark Macau's revenue
starting from 28 April 2018, which resulted in the decrease
in reported revenue contributed by The Landmark Macau of
approximately 67.0%.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2018 Annual Report 11
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BHE-_ZT-N\FF+_A=T—RHLEFEMNLH Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended 31 December 2018 was
X EBITDA &#)359,800,000/# 7T + B & [AIH approximately HK$359.8 million, representing an increase of
H#EhN%981,600,000 /8 T34 29.4%  TRAK approximately HK$81.6 million or approximately 29.4% over that
JAEEEBITDABARR RIFER A RS RN (BHE) 8 of the last corresponding year. The following table reconciles
HER the Adjusted EBITDA to the profit (loss) attributable to owners

of the Company:

—E-N\F —T—tF
2018 2017
REH REH
(FE#E (B
Savan Savan Savan Savan
Legend) Legend we Legend)  Legend A
The Group The Group
excluding excluding
Savan Savan Savan Savan
Legend Legend Consolidated Legend  Legend  Consolidated
FHT FTERT FTHET TET FHT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
KRAREE AL RF Profit (loss) attributable to
(&18) owners of the Company 1,942,692 23,414 1,966,106 (532,772) 25431 (507,341)
R Adjustments for:
AR Finance costs 109,344 - 109,344 103,751 - 103,751
REMENE Depreciation of investment
properties 11,263 - 11,263 14,295 - 14,295
MERRETE Depreciation of property and
equipment 336,014 8,893 344,907 370,452 20,373 390,825
fERTA A ERIE Release of prepaid lease
payments 42,310 410 42,720 54,044 399 54,443
HAth i & B Amortisation of other
intangible assets 33,168 1,733 34,901 33,168 1,693 34,861
HEMERZEOEE  Loss on disposal of property
and equipment 509 332 841 427 - 427
B HRWFIERERE  Impairment losses on trade
receivables 50,567 3 50,570 - - -
HAEWFIERERIE  Impairment losses on other
receivables 58,003 - 58,003 - - -
R 2 RERER Impairment loss of goodwill 681,986 - 681,986 - - -
HtEREAEZMMERE  Impairment losses of other
intangible assets 97,377 - 97,377 - - -
W N R Write-off of property and
equipment - 5,455 5,455 - - -
HEsERSMEMER  Write-off of property and
B equipment as a result of
typhoon Hato - - - 121,118 - 121,118
KREWEH (Wz)EHE  Unrealized exchange (gain) loss (40) 1,363 1,323 (573) 192 (381)
PRI (Hi) Pre-opening expenses (remark) - - - 48,141 - 48,141
RITHBIA Bank interest income (25,401) - (25,401) (84) - (84)
HE—RfBRARWE Gain on disposal of a subsidiary  (3,430,078) = (3,430,078) - - -
BE(E A Compensation income (74,595) - (74,595) (55,001) - (55,001)
FREBis Income tax expenses 408,168 76,907 485,075 (4,856) 77,958 73,102
4 FFEEBITDA Adjusted EBITDA 241,287 118,510 359,797 152,110 126,046 278,156
et - BRI R X 3 295 HA RS K 55 B A9 3T 1 2 Remark: Pre-opening expenses represent mainly staff related costs,
BHAFBRFFRIFELSNE TIHBRA - 5 1#E marketing and other administrative expenses incurred prior to the opening
REMITHAR ° of new or expanded operations of the Group for the relevant periods.

12 MABBARERAT 20185%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
B EBEI D WIS A EBITDA DT (KK 8 5 2B An analysis of the Adjusted EBITDA by segments (after elimination
MFER)IT - of inter-segment results) is as follows:
—B-N\F —T—tF
2018 2017
REH REH
(R (T e
Savan Savan Savan Savan
Legend) Legend wE Legend)  Legend ey
The Group The Group
excluding excluding
Savan Savan Savan Savan
Legend Legend Consolidated Legend Legend  Consolidated
FHT FTET FTET FHET FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B RS Gaming services 443,009 178,907 621,916 315,175 195,098 510,273
FEFERLE Non-gaming operations (152,668) (60,397) (213,065) (95,569)  (69,052) (164,621)
INET Sub-total 290,341 118,510 408,851 219,606 126,046 345,652
AoEERT* Unallocated corporate expenses* (49,054) - (49,054) (67,496) - (67,496)
TR EBITDA Adjusted EBITDA 241,287 118,510 359,797 152,110 126,046 278,156
* ZEREBERAIREGEFAS U MEYHET * The amounts represented the unallocated corporate expenses,
LA 8K o offsetting with its inter-segment elimination.
REEEE (TP IESavan Legend RAR DB Adjusted EBITDA from operations of the Group excluding Savan
ERY)ZICAEEBITDAX ZRERMEH Legend and unallocated corporate expenses, mainly arising from
EE(REEEHEA) MRFIVAATGEEENE the operations at The Landmark Macau (before Disposal) and
B REFRPEMAI22%9ZBE_ZE—N MFW Group, for the year ended 31 December 2018 increased by
FT-A=1+—B1E¥E#290,300,000/8 T ° approximately 32.2% to approximately HK$290.3 million when
Savan Legend M EE EBITDA R EFRIEAAY compared to the last corresponding year. Adjusted EBITDA of
126,000,000 BTTR DK 6.0 EZEE_T—N Savan Legend decreased by approximately 6.0% to approximately
F+_A=+—HI1EF/E4118,500,0008 7T - HK$118.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 from
approximately HK$126.0 million for the last corresponding year.
AEBBEEZE-T—/\F+_A=1t—HILFEN The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2018 was
& F491,966,100,000 % 7T - #E LA F R ARH) &S approximately HK$1,966.1 million, when compared to the loss of
18#47507,300,0008 7T ° & M ATRIZ N EE R H approximately HK$507.3 million in the last corresponding year. The
B ORZE-N\FOATKREESFEEREH significant increase in profit was mainly due to (i) non-recurring gain
E-HENBRRZEEEESE - R)EFR on disposal of a subsidiary after the completion of the Disposal in
TBRIVIE R MR I RIS P ER April 2018 and (ii) the recovering gaming performance with positive
effort on expenses streamline.
Macau Legend Development Limited 2018 Annual Report 13 -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

R-ZE—N\F+-_A=+—8 AREKEBHE
AREEBURPI P BIEEE  UAREEIFLE
EZPHNTHABPAE  AEEERECHETE
AEEREVEPREEFEER. 2 0T YE M (F
MRRAEE L) - UMORPIE R EB 2K
REFEE N (Plan R AR RR SRR ) EHE
TEHMATE - RIBEFTENER - HETHEA
EEBEEPREEREZENL 85,900,000%
7T~ E2#7682,000,000/8 T M EMEREEL
97,400,000 % JT BB RIB 5 RIIFTHIRRE o

B ARARABRZRERRE  FREEERZ
BEDER_FT-_FRBERFAABHEEE
(MRFVBRABESRE])ERM - ARBEDNRA
SEEREEN()KEEZUGBURPI R P A
EEHBLERENTHARE  R(INARAZ
BRLERBEHEFRARMERPIEB 2 REKR
ERFBREIETH A GEREL < RFUAAS
BZBERESN T LFEAMBRRAL
B o ARAIEBEBER - \FERETVEF A
ABBEEBZOPLERTR  BELEEET
SIEE - BELBRIRIE

(i) FBRIBEEEI  RPFTVAANGEREBR RN
ZHERRUREN _T-NFFERSE
BT HELERNEEREE  #HE
EABVEUNCEEE e k-8 4= R =S Ch: PN
R FaHAMER

(i) ZE-—N\FLEFRABEEEZ K
BTt FREEM - EESRETE
Al A WESERZBER T —N\F
THEERE  BAREEINRLE-ZZ—N\F
TER - Bt - BRIFTIE R B ER R
TRABAREIE 2 BT E  FERES
B RARBRMAANGEER ZTE
RS HRE RSB T ERLBHD
K
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As at 31 December 2018, due to the uncertainties arising from
the possible economic slowdown in Macau and PRC as a result of
trade war, as well as the change of our VIP gaming operation, the
management of the Group has performed detailed reassessment
on recoverability of certain individual VIP gaming patrons and
VIP rooms operators (e.g. reviewing corresponding repayment
history), as well as future profitability of Macau’s gaming business
(e.g. reviewing future cash flow forecast). Based on the results of
reassessment, impairments were made on corresponding balances
of certain individual VIP gaming patrons and VIP rooms operators
of approximately HK$85.9 million, goodwill of approximately
HK$682.0 million and other intangible assets of approximately
HK$97.4 million, respectively.

In particular, in relation to the impairment loss on goodwill,
the goodwill impaired is relating to the acquisition of Macau
Fisherman’'s Wharf Group (“MFW Group”) in the year 2012.
The impairment was made after the Group’s management detailed
re-assessment on future cashflow forecast of Macau’s business in
light of factors of (i) the uncertainties arising from the possible
economic slowdown in Macau and PRC as a result of trade war; and
(ii) the change of the Company’s gaming operational strategies.
The operation of Legend Palace Casino in MFW formally was
opened and commenced in 2017. After the year end of 2018, when
the management of the Company received the preliminary figures
of the operation of MFW Group, the following factors were noted
and considered, and hence led to the making of the impairment:

(i)  apart from the hotel operation, the sales performance of non-
gaming facilities at MFW did not meet the originally forecasted
figure for the year 2018, and hence the management has
adjusted the forecasted growth of visitors to MFW Group and
hence expected revenue out of prudence;

(i)  the revenue from gaming operation during the first half of
2018 increased compared with that of 2017 and could meet
the previous forecast; however, the revenue increasing trend
slowed down since the second half of 2018 and could not
meet the previous forecast for 2018. This factor, together
with the expected uncertainties on economic environment as
mentioned and the expected impact on the revenue, lead to
the conclusion by the management that the expected cash
flow and revenue generated from MFW Group will not meet
originally expected level;
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(iii) as such, the Company expected that the estimated future
growth in revenue from MFW Group’s operation will be slower
than previously expected. According to relevant accounting
standard, the impairment shall be made accordingly. The
Company has also relied on a valuation report in considering
the amount of impairment.

The Company relied on a valuation report prepared by an
independent valuer using income approach to assess the value-
in-use of the MFW in assessing the impairment on the goodwill.
The income approach was adopted after taking into account the
operating and industry environment of MFW Group and the nature
of its business, and the income approach was considered to be an
appropriate valuation method in this case. The key factors for the
value-in-use calculations include (i) discount rates, (ii) growth rates
and (iii) expected changes to revenue and direct costs during the
forecast period, which cover a period of 5 years after the financial
year end of 31 December 2018. The discount rates are estimated
by using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the MFW Group,
being a single cash generating unit (the “"CGU"), for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. The growth
rates are estimated by reference to the industry and market data.
Changes in revenue and direct costs are based on past practices
and expectations of future changes in the market.

The Group prepared cash flows forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by management for the next
five years. Cash flows beyond five years are extrapolated using a
steady 2.0% (2017: 3.0%) growth rate for the CGU. This growth rate
does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
industry. The pre-tax rate used to discount the forecast cash flows
for the CGU is 16.0% (2017: 15.4%). Accordingly, in view of the
aggregate recoverable amount of the CGU is below its aggregate
carrying amount, and impairment of approximately HK$682
million was recognised during the year ended 31 December 2018
according to the relevant accounting standard.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2018 Annual Report 15
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The valuer has also taken into account the major factors including
the nature and prospect of the concerned business operations; the
financial conditions of MFW; the specific economic competitive
element affecting MFW, the industry and the market which it
operates; the market-derived investment returns of enterprises
engaged in a similar line of business; and the business risk of MFW.

The major assumptions made by the valuer included (but not limited
to) the following: (1) There will be no major change in the existing
political, legal and economic conditions in which MFW is being
operated; (2) the availability of finance will not be a constraint on the
forecast growth of MFW operations in accordance with the business
plan; (3) the unaudited financial statements of MFW as supplied
to the valuer have been prepared in a manner truly and accurately
reflected the financial position of MFW as at the respective balance
sheet dates; (4) the profit forecasts of MFW revealed to the valuer
by the Company have been complied based on fair and reasonable
assumptions that can be materialised by MFW; and (5) the operation
of MFW complied with all applicable laws.

There were no significant changes in the value of inputs for valuation
nor change in valuation method adopted from these adopted in
the previous years.

DIVIDEND

The Board has declared a special dividend of HK8 cents per Share,
amounting to approximately HK$501.4 million, and was made
payable on 12 July 2018. The Board did not declare any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: nil).
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FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL REVIEWS

A.

Gaming Services

The Group'’s revenue from gaming services consisted of (i)
service income received from SJM for services and facilities
provided relating to mass market tables, VIP tables and slot

machines and (ii) casino operations in the Lao PDR.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group had the
following number of gaming tables and slot machines in its

casinos which were put into operation:

RZZ—tH+-A=+—H

At 31 December 2018 At 31 December 2017

Savan Savan

BE BHAR Bt  Legend B= Etttm Eih  Legend
RS RS RES RS Hgm IRES 1REL5 IRES IREEIS Fok ]

Legend Savan Legend Savan

Palace Babylon Landmark Legend Palace  Babylon Landmark  Legend
Casino Casino Casino Casino Total Casino Casino Casino Casino Total
FUSEEIR  Mass market tables 55 18 66 49 188 48 18 60 39 165
EEHIR  VIPtables 25 7 6 17 55 21 7 " 20 59
BETR4E%  Total gaming tables 80 25 72 66 243 69 25 71 59 224
=R Slot machines 112 57 - 415 584 88 28 - 305 421

R-E-NE+-_A=+—8 x&£H
RBEMREAH194R(ZE—+F+_-A
=+—H :1945R) %R - HF177K(=
T—tHF+_A=+—8 1 165K)B#%
ANEE - REEREBRB 6 R(ZE—+
F+_A=Z+—H 59R)BEHREEAL
BEo-HEZT-NFF+_A=+—RHLHF
E BHIRGSHNATHREEDKRIE - R
T )N\F+-AZF+—8 > BEHIRES
WL HE AT -

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a total of 194 gaming
tables in Macau (31 December 2017: 194), of which 177
(31 December 2017: 165) were put into operation. The Group
had 66 (31 December 2017: 59) gaming tables which were
put into operation in the Lao PDR. During the year ended
31 December 2018, operation of slot machines at Landmark
Casino has been terminated. As at 31 December 2018, no slot

machine was installed at Landmark Casino.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2018 Annual Report
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The following tables set out certain key operational data of
mass market tables, VIP tables and slot machines for the year
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017:

g Mass Market Tables
BERES Bt faiRgs EibiRgs Savan Legend 12445
HEt-A=t-BLFE BEt-A=t-HLFE BEt-A=t+-BLEE BEt-A=t-HLFE
Legend Palace Casino Babylon Casino Landmark Casino Savan Legend Casino
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
ZZ-N\F _T—+F 29 —B-N\F —TtHF £ —E-N\F ZTtF 28 ZB-\F —T—+#F #
2018 2017 Change 2018 2017 Change 2018 2017 Change 2018 2017 Change
TR FET % TET FET % TR TET % TR FET %
HK$'000  HK$'000 % HK$'000  HK$'000 % HK$'000  HK$'000 % HK$'000  HK$'000 %
TR Games drop 5,058,386 3,307,454 52.9 852,281 1,021,834 (16.6) 3,002,633 4,183,344 (28.2) 447,394 475,306 (5.9)
e tl Net win 1,002,894 493904 103.1 145,356 146,978 (1. 574,574 804,777 (28.6) 116,137 109,960 56
wE Hold rate 19.83% 14.93% 49 17.05% 14.38% 2.7 19.14% 19.24% 0.1) 25.96%  23.13% 2.8
BEIRTO8E  Average number
of tables 50 48 42 16 24 (333) 63 60 50 49 45 8.9
BREMEHE  Netwin per table
et per day 55 28 96.4 25 17 471 25 37 (32.4) 6 7 (14.3)
BEEER VIP Tables
BEgRLs B fmiRgs BitjRgus Savan Legend IR 4415
BET-A=+-HLEFE BE+T-A=t—-ALFE BET-A=t+-HLEFE BE+T-A=t-ALFE
Legend Palace Casino Babylon Casino Landmark Casino Savan Legend Casino
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
—B-N\F —2—tF 28 ZB-N\F —T+F %y ZB-N\F —TLF 28 ZB-N\F —TLF 2%
2018 2017 Change 2018 2017 Change 2018 2017 Change 2018 2017 Change
TERT TET % TEx BT % TERT FEL % FET FET %
HK$'000  HK$'000 % HK$'000  HK$'000 % HK$'000  HK$'000 % HK$'000  HK$'000 %
BREXE  Gamestumover 19,297,580 4,046,000 3770 624,576 635,582 (17) 7,646,685 18,042,746 (57.6) 3,533,233 4,033,045 (12.4)
F Net win 626,800 85,318 634.7 40,313 51,584 (21.8) 261,228 612,950 (57.4) 108,114 113,323 (4.6)
FES Win percentage 3.25% 2.11% 11 6.45% 8.12% 17) 3.42% 3.40% 0.0 3.06% 2.81% 03
BEIRT9E  Average number
of tables 30 12 150 7 12 @1.7) 9 24 (62.5) 17 24 (29.2)
?E%*E‘El Net win per table
R FmER per day 58 19 205.3 16 12 333 80 70 143 17 13 308

HPMBRARERLT 2018F K
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BFE Slot Machines
BEiREE Biofaikss Bitigs Savan Legend R 4415
HEt-A=t-BLFE BEt-A=t-HLFE BZE+t-A=t-ALEE HBEt-A=t-HLFE
Legend Palace Casino Babylon Casino Landmark Casino Savan Legend Casino
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
ZZ-N\F _T—+F 29 —B-N\F —TF £ —E-N\F ZTtF 28 ZB-\F —T—+#F =)
2018 2017 Change 2018 2017 Change 2018 2017 Change 2018 2017 Change
TR FET % TET FET % TR FET % TR FET %
HK$'000  HK$'000 % HK$'000  HK$'000 % HK$'000  HK$'000 % HK$'000  HK$'000 %

ATHEEE  Slothandle

2 264,267 182,135 451 46,899 28865 625 - 256146 THANA 2026425 2491438 (187)
2EE Net win 14766 12548 177 2761 1836 504 - 16888 THEANA 83775 98425 (149)
e Hold rate 559%  6.89% (13 589%  636% 05) - 659% TEANA 413%  395% 02
AFETIHEE Average number of

slot machines 97 7% 7 a2 a8 (125) = 142 FEANA a1 421 24
FAATHESH Netwin per slot

KT machines per day 0.4 05 (20.0) 0.2 0.1 100 - 03 TEANA 0.6 0.6 0.0

FEREE B. Non-gaming Operations
HE—_ZT—)\F+_A=+—HIEFE " For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
N ERGIEER AU 49 507,400,000 recorded a total non-gaming revenue of approximately
BT BREAFRERA% 118,500,000 HK$507.4 million, decreased by approximately HK$118.5
TLE 41 18.9% ° million or approximately 18.9% when compared to the

last corresponding year.

TREHRAEENIEERREAS A The following table provides details on the composition
BH of the Group's non-gaming revenue:
—E-N\F Tt
2018 2017
FEE rEH
(TafRE (T EiE
Savan Savan Savan Savan
Legend) Legend we Legend) Legend RE
The Group The Group
excluding excluding
Savan Savan Savan Savan
Legend Legend Total Legend Legend Total
FHET FTHET FTHET FHET FHET FHET

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BEREEHESWA Rental income from hotel rooms 229,211 5,247 234,458 281,375 2,307 283,682
RE MR AR Licensing income from

investment properties 72,566 274 72,840 102,932 189 103,121
EFERRBUIA Income from building

management services 21,528 - 21,528 48,442 - 48,442
R Food and beverage 142,817 15,014 157,831 151,811 17,577 169,388
EmiEE Sales of merchandise 7,213 181 7.394 13,092 - 13,092
Eftb Others 12,483 909 13,392 6,092 2,140 8,232

JEMFT LB M 4EF  Total revenue from non-gaming
operations 485,818 21,625 507,443 603,744 22,213 625,957

Macau Legend Development Limited 2018 Annual Report 19 -



. EEENWR (&)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

FERURERD  FERANEEFEERME The decrease in non-gaming revenue was primarily due to the
35 B RRA Yz 0w 4 4 140,300,000 8 7T - decrease in revenue of approximately HK$140.3 million contributed

by The Landmark Macau after the Disposal.

TREIAEERBE-_ZE-NFR-_T—+F The following table sets out certain key operational data on
T A=+ BUFEREAEETIEEELE our major hotel operations of the Group for the year ended
METZELEHE 31 December 2018 and 2017:
—E-N\F —E—tF
2018 2017
B=EEE Legend Palace Hotel
ANEE (%) Occupancy rate (%) 95.7 84.0
HEEMEGET) ADR (HK$) 1,650.8 1,439.4
SETTHARERZ(ET) REVPAR (HK$) 1,579.9 1,209.1
BESSEE Harbourview Hotel
ANEER (%) Occupancy rate (%) 94.5 86.3
HEEMRGET) ADR (HK$) 959.4 885.3
BETTHERERZEET) REVPAR (HK$) 906.7 764.0
Bith S EE* Landmark Hotel*
AFEE (%) Occupancy rate (%) 87.2 85.0
BEEMEGET) ADR (HK$) 1,080.3 1,020.2
BRTERAREYE(ET) REVPAR (HK$) 942.0 867.2
* BWESEENEEREBERBER _T—N\F * The operational data for Landmark Hotel only covered the period
—A—BEZ-)/\FOA-+tBZHHE - from 1 January 2018 to 27 April 2018.
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C. Corporate and Business Updates

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

MFW Redevelopment
Legendale Hotel

Re-design of the construction of the hotel is now in
progress in order to meet the height requirements of
the relevant government authority in Macau.

Disposal of New Macau Landmark

On 9 November 2017, the Group entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with, among others, the
Purchasers, pursuant to which the Purchasers agreed to
purchase the entire issued share capital in New Macau
Landmark and all obligations, liabilities and debts owing
or incurred by New Macau Landmark to Hong Hock for
a consideration of HK$4,600,000,000. The Disposal was
completed on 27 April 2018. Details of the Disposal
were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 9
November 2017, circular dated 22 December 2017 and
announcement dated 27 April 2018, respectively.

An Investment Project in Cape Verde

On 22 July 2015, the Company entered into several
agreements with the Government of Cape Verde for
an investment project in Cape Verde, with an expected
investment amount of approximately €250 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,150 million). Details
of the investment project in Cape Verde were set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 22 July 2015.

With the completion of superstructure work of the office
building in 2017, the Group shall revisit the construction
plan of the hotel and casino complex.

An Investment Project in Hengqin

On 27 February 2019, the Company entered into
agreements with certain sellers in Macau for an
investment project in Hengqgin, with an investment
amount of approximately HK$84 million. Details of
the investment project in Henggin were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 27 February 2019.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2018 Annual Report 21
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OUTLOOK

The Group's revenue and Adjusted EBITDA improved during the
year under review with the casino operations within the Legend
Palace Hotel delivering solid results.

The Group continues to improve and upgrade its operations at
MFW, and is working towards the introduction of a virtual reality
experience centre, a wax museum and new dining facilities in the
second half of 2019. The convention and exhibition centre will
also be upgraded with completion targeted for 2020. Together
with the continued improvement of existing offers, the new
additions will further reposition MFW as a prime tourist attraction
on the Macau Peninsula.

Each of the Group’s new overseas projects is carefully managed to
ensure they are developed in line with the growth in the tourism
related infrastructure and tourism markets in each specific country.

In Lao PDR, Savan Legend Resorts is continuously contributing
stable return to the Group during the year. The Group remains
positive in the longer term growth, and is currently considering
an expansion of the hotel, gaming and non-gaming facilities at
this project.

In Cape Verde, the Group has completed the superstructure work
of the office building, and is now revisiting the overall construction
plan of the hotel and casino complex, in order to meet the
requirements of the Group's future business strategy.

The Group is actively finalising the acquisition of a minority interest
in a shopping complex in a strategic location in Henggqin, adjacent
to the crossing to Cotai. The Group believes such investment will
create synergy with its existing business in Macau.

There is optimism that the uncertainties resulted from global trade
disputes be relieved in the first half of the year, and together with
increasing travel flexibilities offered by the Hong Kong - Zhuhai -
Macau bridge, will positively influence visitations to Macau.
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RBEERELRER LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
AEENRDESTETEREEBES &K The Group’s liquidity needs primarily comprise working capital,
A REERAEENER - AEE—RURILE capital expenditure, and servicing borrowings of the Group. The
B ERR S RREREAHELEREREIBE Group has generally funded its operations and development
BE - projects from internal resources, debt and/or equity financing.
R-E—NE+_FA=+—8 ' xXo5HEBA As at 31 December 2018, the consolidated net assets attributable
B & BEFELNAT,691,900,00087T © & to owners of the Company amounted to approximately HK$7,691.9
—E—+F+ZA=1+—H%6,236,300,000 % million, representing an increase of approximately HK$1,455.6
JCIE A4 1,455,600,00087C c HE T — N million from approximately HK$6,236.3 million as at 31 December
FT-A=+T—RILFENGEREEFEEM 2017. The increase in consolidated net assets during the year
FTERNAREBFRESEFAH1,966,100,000 ended 31 December 2018 was mainly due to the Group's profit for
I o the year of approximately HK$1,966.1 million.
RITHEBREE Bank balances and cash
RZZE-NEF+T_A=+—0 AEEHFER As at 31 December 2018, bank balances and cash held by the
THEB KNI 41,454,500,0008 T (B EREH Group amounted to approximately HK$1,454.5 million (including
HR1TF 42,100,000 % 7T R E EIRRITIF KL short-term bank deposits of approximately HK$2.1 million and
6,500,000 7T) » ZZEHIE X B A T RIR pledged bank deposits of approximately HK$6.5 million), which
HOIME - RVRFPIREBTTHE - HAEERR was denominated mainly in HK$ and MOP. Given MOP are pegged
H OB PIEETI(E R R1T 45 85 R IR S PR 2 B SN E to HK$, the Group considers the exposure to exchange rate risk is
BRI REK o nominal for its bank balances and cash denominated in MOP.
BE-_Z-N\E+-_A=1+—HBILEFE  ~x&£8 During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has received
BUEZ B ESEMESREZ#K  BIRTESE the remaining proceeds of the Disposal, bringing a significant
WHRIBEM - increase in bank balances and cash.
(EEN Borrowings
RZE-NE+_A=+—H "EE W As at 31 December 2018, the Group had outstanding (i) secured
AEEN(HEERRBERBTEROR and guaranteed bank borrowings of approximately HK$1,964.8
1,964,800,0008 7 » (i) EIKIF - EIERLEE million, and (ii) unsecured and unguaranteed, interest-free other
B E At 18 2RI 49 4 88,900,000 7 7T © borrowings of approximately HK$88.9 million.
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CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, certain assets of the Group were
pledged to secure credit facilities and use of electricity granted
to the Group, including investment properties with a total carrying
amount of approximately HK$328.9 million (31 December 2017:
approximately HK$450.6 million), buildings with a total carrying
amount of approximately HK$4,553.8 million (31 December 2017:
approximately HK$5,059.7 million), prepaid lease payments with
a total carrying amount of approximately HK$1,279.4 million
(31 December 2017: approximately HK$1,710.6 million), trade
receivables of approximately HK$130.0 million (31 December
2017: approximately HK$164.4 million) and bank deposits of
approximately HK$6.5 million (31 December 2017: approximately
HK$8.1 million).

GEARING

The Group’s net gearing ratio is expressed as a percentage of
total borrowings (e.g. bank and other borrowings and loans from
a shareholder) minus cash (e.g. pledged bank deposits, short-term
bank deposits and bank balances and cash) over total equity.
As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s net gearing ratio was 7.8%
(31 December 2017: 48.0%).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a total of approximately
3,944 employees, including approximately 1,016 gaming operation
employees who were employed and paid by SJM but over whom
the Group exercised oversight in accordance with the Service
Agreement. The Group reimbursed SJM in full for the salaries and
other benefits of these gaming operation employees.

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining a stable staff
force for its continued success. Staff remuneration is determined
by reference to personal qualifications, work performance,
industry experience, responsibilities and relevant market trends.
Discretionary bonuses are granted to employees based on merit
and in accordance with industry practice. Other benefits including
share options, reward shares, retirement benefits, subsidised
medical care, pension funds and sponsorship for external education
and training programmes are offered to eligible employees.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Shares during the year ended 31
December 2018.
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr Chow Kam Fai, David, aged 68, has been a Director since
October 2006 and the chief executive officer of the Company since
December 2006. Mr David Chow became a co-chairman of the
Company and an executive Director on 31 May 2012. He is also a
member of both the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. He has been appointed as an alternate Director to
Madam Lam since 7 December 2018. He has had more than 30 years
of experience in the gaming, gaming promotion, entertainment and
hospitality industries prior to founding the Company’s business.
He was engaged in the provision of gaming promotion services
for junket room operations for Sociedade de Turismo e Diversées
de Macau, S.A. (“STDM") in the 1980s. In 1992, Mr David Chow,
together with Madam Lam and Mr Li Chi Keung, established Hong
Hock to engage in real estate operations in Macau. Under Mr David
Chow’s management, Hong Hock opened The Landmark Macau
to provide rental, management and dining services for the use of
the premises, facilities and services of the Group to SJM for their
VIP room operations. In 2006, Mr David Chow expanded Hong
Hock’s operations and caused Hong Hock to enter into the Service
Agreement with SUJM and has since managed and directed Hong
Hock’s gaming services provision operations. In 2000, Mr David
Chow, together with Dr Ho Hung Sun, Stanley and Madam Lam,
incorporated MFW Investment to develop and operate MFW. He
has been instrumental to the development and operations and the
proposed redevelopment of the hotels and entertainment facilities
in MFW.
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Mr David Chow has been actively involved in community service.
He founded Macau Association of Retailers and Tourism Services
CRPREZSERBEMLEE) in 1998. Mr David Chow was elected
as a legislator of the Macau Government in 1996, 2001 and 2005,
and has been a member of the Macau Chief Executive Election
Committee in 2004, 2009 and 2014. He established the Travel
Industry Council of Macau in 2001. He also established the Federal
General Commercial Association of Macau Small and Medium
Enterprises and has been serving as its president since 2012. In
2007, Mr David Chow's experience and contribution to Macau’s
tourism industry were recognised when he was awarded the
title of Top Ten Talent (Construction) in China for the year 2006
(2006F B+ KEHZEA) and the Order of Merit for Tourism
(IR#ETH4EEE ) by the Macau government for his contribution to the
tourism industry. In February 2013, Mr David Chow's contribution
to Macau and the PRC was further recognised by his appointment
as a member of the 12th National Committee of Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of the PRC.

In addition to the Group, Mr David Chow also manages other
hospitality businesses in the PRC. He has been the chairman of
the board of directors of Beijing Hua Hai Jin Bao Real Estate
Development Co. Ltd. (ItREELEFMEREERAF) since
2008, which has, since 2007, owned and managed the award
winning five-star Legendale Hotel Beijing.

Mr David Chow is a son of Madam Lam, an executive Director, the
vice chairman and a controlling shareholder of the Company, the
husband of Ms Melinda Chan, the president of MFW Investment,
and the father of Mr Donald Chow, an executive Director and vice
president, corporate business development of the Company. The
discloseable interest of Mr David Chow in the Shares and underlying
Shares under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out in
the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Position in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company”
under the Directors’ Report of this annual report.
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Madam Lam Fong Ngo, aged 91, has been a Director since
December 2006. Madam Lam became an executive Director and
the vice chairman of the Company on 31 May 2012. She is also
a member of the Remuneration Committee. She has also been
the vice chairman of MFW Investment since August 2000. Madam
Lam has more than 30 years of experience in the Macau gaming
industry and has worked for STDM since the 1980s. Madam Lam
founded Associacdo Geral de Opera Chinesa e Arte Musical de
Macau CEFIEBIHMELE) in 2004 and has since served as its
chairperson. Madam Lam participates in community work in Macau
and has served as a member of the Macau Chief Executive Election
Committee in 2004 and 2009. She was awarded the Medal of
Cultural Merit (/L4 EIE) in 2009 by the Macau government
and was conferred the title of honorary citizen of Guangzhou (&M
M&EMR) by the Guangzhou People’s Congress.

Madam Lam is the mother of Mr David Chow, an executive Director,
a co-chairman, the chief executive officer and a controlling
shareholder of the Company, the mother-in-law of Ms Melinda
Chan, the president of MFW Investment, and the grandmother
of Mr Donald Chow, an executive Director, and vice president,
corporate business development of the Company. The discloseable
interest of Madam Lam in the Shares under the provisions of Part
XV of the SFO is set out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests and Short Position in Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company” under the Directors’ Report of this
annual report.
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Mr Sheldon Trainor-DeGirolamo, aged 55, has been a Director
since 18 May 2012. He is also a member of the Nomination
Committee. Mr Trainor has been licensed by the Securities and
Futures Commission since 1994 as an investment representative
before the SFO came into effect and as a representative under the
SFO to carry out Type 6 Regulated Activity (Advising on Corporate
Finance). He obtained a bachelor’'s degree in commerce at the
University of British Columbia in 1988 and has more than 20 years
of experience in financial advisory services. He served a number
of leading investment banks and has extensive experience in
raising capital for casino, leisure and property companies in Asia.
He worked at Credit Suisse Management (Australia) PTY Limited
between 1990 and 1994 and last served as an associate in the
investment banking division. He then served within Morgan Stanley
group of companies between 1994 and 2005 and last served as a
managing director in the investment banking division of Morgan
Stanley Asia Pacific Holding Ltd. Mr Trainor worked at Merrill
Lynch between 2005 and 2009 as a managing director and had
been involved in the Group's financing projects in such capacity
since 2005. He founded PacBridge Capital Partners (HK) Limited in
2009. As its director and responsible officer, Mr Trainor is primarily
responsible for the execution of both corporate advisory and
principal investment transactions. He was a director of Athenex Inc.
(Nasdaq GS:ATNX) between June 2017 and March 2019.

The discloseable interest of Mr Trainor in the Shares and underlying
Shares under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out in
the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Position in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company”
under the Directors’ Report of this annual report.

Mr Chow Wan Hok, Donald, aged 28, was appointed as an
executive Director on 1 September 2016 and has been appointed as
the vice president, corporate business development of the Company
since February 2019, respectively. Mr Donald Chow was awarded
a bachelor’'s degree of science in business administration from the
University of Southern California in May 2013. He joined the Group
in July 2013 as a corporate finance analyst and was appointed as
corporate development director and Babylon Casino director of the
Company between July 2014 and February 2019. Mr Donald Chow
is involved in the new and current business development projects
of the Group and supervises the gaming operation of Babylon
Casino. He also leads the installation and implementation of new
casino management system and assists in the investor relations of
the Group. As an executive Director of the Company, Mr Donald
Chow is primarily responsible for the execution of both corporate
advisory and principal investment transactions. Mr Donald Chow
is also currently a member of Shaanxi Provincial Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of the PRC.
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Mr Donald Chow is the son of Mr David Chow, an executive
Director, a co-chairman, the chief executive officer and a controlling
shareholder of the Company, and Ms Melinda Chan, the spouse of
Mr David Chow and the president of MFW Investment, and the
grandson of Madam Lam, the mother of Mr David Chow, and an
executive Director, the vice chairman and a controlling shareholder
of the Company.

The discloseable interest of Mr Donald Chow in the Shares and
underlying Shares under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO is
set out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Position in Shares and Underlying Shares of the
Company” under the Directors’ Report of this annual report.

Non-executive Directors

Mr Tong Ka Wing, Carl, aged 68, was appointed as a co-chairman
of the Company and non-executive Director on 18 May 2012.
He is also a member of the Audit Committee. Mr Tong became
an associate of the HKICPA in 1981, an associate of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales in 1980 and an
associate member of the Institute of Motor Industry in 1973. He
worked with Arthur Andersen between 1977 and 1985 and as vice
president of Citibank, N.A. between 1985 and 1987. He was a
director of Asia Television Limited between 1990 and 1991. He
founded Carl Tong & Associates Management Consultancy Limited
in 1987 which is engaged in management consultancy business.
He is also consultant of UNIR (HK) Management Limited, a
management service company wholly-owned by Ms Chan Un Chan.
In addition, Mr Tong has been actively engaged in community
service. He served as Member for the Central and Western District
Board of Hong Kong between 1982 and 1988, and was a member
of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong between 1984 and 1985.
Mr Tong has been an executive director and chief executive
officer of Creative Master Bermuda Limited between 2003 and
2013, and was the chairman and chief executive officer of Creative
Master International Inc. between 1997 and 2000. He served as
an independent non-executive director of eSun Holdings Limited
(SEHK: 0571) between 2004 and 2011, and a director at Crocodile
Garments Limited (SEHK: 0122) between 2007 and 2012.
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The discloseable interest of Mr Tong in the Shares and underlying
Shares under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out in
the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Position in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company”
under the Directors’ Report of this annual report.

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda, aged 27, was appointed as a non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee on 1
September 2016. Ms Ho is a daughter of Ms Chan Un Chan, a
substantial shareholder of the Company. She was awarded a
bachelor of science in economics from the University of London in
August 2012. Ms Ho was an assistant tax advisor with Ernst & Young
PLL in London in 2013 and a senior staff accountant with Ernst
& Young PLL in Beijing from March 2014 to October 2014. She
has been a director of UNIR Australia Pty Ltd, the group of which
owns substantial real estate assets including hospitality, retail and
office investments in Perth, Australia. Ms Ho has been a member
of Foshan Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of the PRC since 25 January 2019.

The discloseable interest of Ms Ho in the Shares and underlying
Shares under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out in
the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Position in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company”
under the Directors’ Report of this annual report.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr Fong Chung, Mark, aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member
of both the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
on 5 June 2013. Mr Fong obtained a bachelor's degree in science from
the University College, London in August 1972 and a master’s degree
in science from the University of Surrey in December 1973. Mr Fong has
over 40 years of experience in professional accountancy. He has been a
fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
since January 1983 and a fellow of HKICPA since March 1986. He was the
president of HKICPA in 2007. Mr Fong served as the executive director of
China Development of Grant Thornton International Ltd. between 2009
and 2013. He has been appointed as a consulting specialist in accountancy
of The Ministry of Finance of the PRC since June 2016. He has been
appointed as the Chairman of the Audit Committee of HKICPA from 2016
to February 2019, and has also served on the Council of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales from 2016 to 2018.

Mr Fongis actively involved in community services. He was a director
of Po Leung Kuk, a charity organisation in Hong Kong, between
1993 and 1996, and was elected as a member of the Legislative
Council Election Committee of Hong Kong for Accountancy
Subsector in 2000. He was a member of the Small and Medium
Enterprises Development Fund Vetting Committee of the Trade
and Industry Department of Hong Kong between 2008 and 2013.

Mr Fong has been an independent non-executive director of
Sinopec Kantons Holdings Limited (SEHK: 0934) since 2004 and
China Oilfield Services Limited (SEHK:2883) since 2015. He is also a
non-executive director of Worldsec Limited (LON: WSL). He was an
independent non-executive director of New China Life Insurance
Company Ltd. (SEHK: 1336) between 2011 and 2017.
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Mr Xie Min, aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of both the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee on 5 June 2013. Mr Xie obtained a master’s degree
in economics from the University of International Business and
Economics of the PRC in 1987. In 1993, he was awarded a master’s
degree in business administration by New York University. Between
1993 and 1994, he completed the International Tax Program at
Harvard Law School and the Investment Appraisal and Management
Program at the Harvard Institute for International Development,
and obtained a master's degree in public administration from
Harvard Kennedy School of Government. Mr Xie has over 20
years of experience in private equity investment and mergers and
acquisitions. He has extensive experience in deal structuring, post-
deal business integration and cross-border transactions. He held
senior positions at various listed enterprises and international private
equity funds and institutions. He served as the chief investment
officer of TOM.COM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of TOM Group Limited (SEHK: 2383) between 2001 and
2004. He was the managing director and head of private equity
division at BOCI Asia Limited between 2004 and 2006. He became
the managing director of Avenue Asia HK, Limited — Hong Kong
Representative Office between 2008 and 2011. He was a China
senior advisor of Apax Partners, the largest private equity investment
group in Europe, between 2012 and 2015. He served as Head of the
Investment Review Committee of Chinastone Energy Fund between
2012 and 2016. Mr Xie is currently a director and the chief operating
officer of Asia Investment Fund Management Limited.

Mr Xie is a visiting professor and a member of the board of University
of International Business and Economics. Mr Xie has been a member
of the Henan Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of the PRC since 2009 and is now a member
of the 12th Henan Provincial Committee of CPPCC.

Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria, aged 73, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of both the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee on 5 June 2013. Madam Tam
obtained an Honorary Doctor in Laws from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong in 1989. She has over 40 years of experience practicing
as a barrister. She has been a member of The Honourable Society
of Gray’s Inn, a professional association for barristers and judges
in England, since 1973, and was admitted to the bar in the United
Kingdom and Hong Kong in 1972 and 1974, respectively. She has
been the honorary advisor of the Hong Kong Mediation Centre
since 2006.
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Madam Tam has been actively involved in the public administrative
service. She served as a member of the Legislative Council of Hong
Kong between 1981 and 1991 and a non-official member of the
Executive Council of Hong Kong from 1983 to 1991. She was a
member of the HKSAR Basic Law Drafting Committee from 1985 to
1990 and a member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of the PRC between 1993 and 1998. Madam Tam has
been serving as a deputy in the National People’s Congress of the
PRC from 1998 to February 2018 and a member of the HKSAR Basic
Law Committee from 1997 to June 2018. She has been the deputy
director of the HKSAR Basic Law Committee of Standing Committee
of NPC since July 2018. Madam Tam is the founding president, and
has been serving as the president and legal advisor, of the Junior
Police Officers’ Association of the Hong Kong Police Force since
1977. Her contribution to the society of Hong Kong was recognised
by the British Monarchy when she was appointed Justice of the Peace
and awarded Order of the British Empire (O.B.E.) and Commander
of the Order of British Empire (C.B.E.) in 1982, 1984 and 1988,
respectively. She was awarded Gold Bauhinia Star in 1998 and the
Grand Bauhinia Medal on 1 July 2013 by the government of the
HKSAR. In addition, she was appointed as a director of Love, Family
Foundation Limited (& ¢ RES&®AFMRAF]), a non-profit making
company, on 25 July 2013. She was also appointed as a director of
Love Foundation Limited (X&), a charitable organisation, since
11 October 2016. She was a member of the Operations Review
Committee of the Independent Commission Against Corruption (the
“ICAC") from January 2010 to December 2014. She was the chairman
of the Operations Review Committee of the ICAC and a member of
Advisory Committee on Corruption of the ICAC from January 2015
to December 2017, a member of the Witness Protection Review
Board of the ICAC from January 2010 to December 2017. She has
been appointed as a director of Joint Committee for the Promotion
of the Basic Law of Hong Kong on 26 November 2018.

Madam Tam has been an independent non-executive director
of Wing On Company International Limited (SEHK: 0289) since
1994, Minmetals Land Limited (SEHK: 0230) between 1997 and
2018, Sinopec Kantons Holdings Limited (SEHK: 0934) since 1998,
Guangnan (Holdings) Limited (SEHK: 1203) between 1999 and 2017,
Tong Ren Tang Technologies Co. Ltd. (SEHK: 1666) between 2000
and 2018, Sa Sa International Holdings Limited (SEHK: 0178) since
2004, Nine Dragons Paper (Holdings) Limited (SEHK: 2689) since
2006, Titan Petrochemicals Group Limited (SEHK: 1192) between
2004 and 2012, and China Shenhua Energy Company Limited (a
company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange and Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (stock code: 601088 and 1088 respectively) since 2017.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive vice president, chief financial officer,
company secretary

Mr Wong Man Cheung, aged 47, was awarded a bachelor’s
degree of arts in accountancy in 1996, and a master's degree of
business administration (financial services) in 2004 by The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. He is an associate of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and he was also a fellow of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr Wong has
over 23 years of work experience mainly in accounting, auditing,
corporate finance, treasury, business and financial controlling,
business development, strategic planning, corporate restructuring,
project management, risk management, investor relations,
financial advisory and corporate governance. He was involved in
a wide range of business including, but not limited to, property
development and investment, construction, engineering, hotel and
hospitality, gaming, trading, manufacturing, telecommunication,
mining, distribution and retailing. Before 2010, he worked with an
international accounting firm and also held various senior finance
and business positions in Hong Kong & Singapore listed and non-
listed groups. He acted as the finance and commercial director of
Kerry Mining (HK) Limited, a subsidiary of Kerry Group, between
2010 and 2014. Before joining the Company, Mr Wong was the
senior business planning manager of Sun Hung Kai Properties
Limited (SEHK:0016) and the head of finance, company secretary
and authorised representative of Sunevision Holdings Ltd.
(SEHK: 1686) between 2015 and 2016 which is a subsidiary of Sun
Hung Kai Properties Limited .

President of MFW Investment

Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda, aged 53, was appointed as the
president of Macau Fisherman’s Wharf since October 2017. She has
had more than 30 year of work experience in gaming promotion,
retail, tourism, hospitality industries, and project management
in Macau, China and Philippines. Ms Chan has also overseen the
conversion of The Landmark Building into The Landmark Macau
and Pharaoh’s Palace Casino. She is also a member of Guangdong
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Committee, vice chairman
of Guangdong General Chamber of Commerce. Ms Chan started
her career in STDM's casino and managed casino cages and public
relations division in Macau and Manila, Philippines for over 14
years. Apart from the extensive gaming experience, Ms Chan is
also a member of the executive board of CITIC Geyi Biorefineries
Co. Ltd., producing environmental friendly industrial products,
and managing directors in Beijing Hua Hai Jin Bao Real Estate
Development Co. Ltd. (It REEFESEFMAEREARAF) and Li
leng Investment Co. Ltd., owner of a European-themed shopping
mall. She is one of the founders of these three companies during
2007, 2012 and 2013.
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Ms Chan also committed in improving social welfare of Macau. She
is chairman of the 3,000-strong members of Macau Sin Meng Charity
Association, chairman of the Macau Creche Sin Meng Management
Committee (a day care infant nursery), and vice chairman of the
Macau Pou Tai Elder Service Centre Committee (elderly care
nursing home). She also served the Legislative Assembly of Macau
Special Administrative Region as a directly-elected member for 2
terms from 2009 to 2017.

Ms Melinda Chan is the wife of Mr David Chow, an executive
Director, a co-chairman, the chief executive officer and a
controlling shareholder of the Company; daughter-in-law of
Madam Lam, an executive Director, the vice chairman and a
controlling shareholder of the Company; and the mother of Mr
Donald Chow, an executive Director, the vice president, corporate
business development of the Company. The discloseable interest
of Ms Melinda Chan in the Shares and underlying Shares under
the provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out in the section
headed "Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short
Position in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company” under
the Directors’ Report of this annual report.

Executive vice president, head of casino operations

Mr Yip Wing Fat, Frederick, aged 63, has been as the executive
vice president, head of Casino Operations of the Company on 5 July
2013 up to present. Mr Yip was awarded a diploma in accounting
by Lingnan College in Hong Kong in November 1979. He also
obtained a master’'s degree in Business Administration from the
Macau University of Science and Technology in June 2005. Mr Yip
has over 30 years of work experience in the Macau Gaming Industry.
Prior to joining the Group, he worked as an assistant shift pit boss
at STDM between 1979 and 1982. He later served as accounting
manager at Macau Trotting Club from 1983 to 1987, Macau Horse
Racing Co. Ltd. in 1988. Mr Yip founded Tak Tai Fomento Predial
(ERMEE FHIREBR AT, a real estate agency, in 1991, and is
currently its managing director. Mr Yip joined the Group in 1997 as
Security Controller of the security department, and became senior
vice president of Administration & Corporate Communications in
2007. Between 2010 and 2013, Mr Yip served as general manager
for mass market and slot machine gaming at Pharaoh’s Palace
Casino and Babylon Casino. Mr Yip has obtained the gaming
promoter licenses of New Legend VIP Club Limited since 2013.
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Mr Yip is active in community service in Macau. He is, among
other things, a member of the Macau Chief Executive Election
Committee in 2004, 2009 and 2014, a representative of the Macau
Tourism Development Committee since 2012, a representative of
the Transport Advisory Committee since 2017 and a member of
the representative election conference of the National People's
Congress of the PRC since 2012. Mr Yip has been a member of
the Hubei Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of the PRC since 2009 until now.

Hotel Manager of Harbourview Hotel and the Rocks Hotel

Mr Adrian Pinto-Marques, aged 30, was appointed as the hotel
manager of Harbourview Hotel and the Rocks Hotel in September
2017. He obtained a higher diploma in International Hospitality
Management from Swiss Hotel Management School, BBA Dual
Degree in Business Management and Hotel, Resort & Restaurant
Management from Hotel Institute Montreux and Masters of Business
Administration from Northwood University DeVos Graduate School.
Mr Pinto-Marques has 10 years’ work experience that includes a
5-star resort in Las Vegas, Front Office, Procurement & Outsourcing
Services, Operations & Development, and was in charge of opening
both Harbourview Hotel and Legend Palace Hotel.

Hotel Manager of Legend Palace Hotel

Ms Didi Leong, aged 51, was appointed as the hotel manager
of Legend Palace Hotel on 18 July 2018. Ms Leong was awarded
an honorary master degree in International Tourism Management
from Macau University of Science and Technology in 2013. She
has over 30 years of work experience in the hospitality industry in
Macau. Ms Leong is currently being the director of the board of
directors of Macau Hotel Association of the year 2019 & 2020.

Ms Leong previously served the Group during 2011 to 2018 for
various positions including the Assistant General Manager of The
Landmark Macau and the Hotel Manager of Rocks Hotel.
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LEEREE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company believes that good corporate governance practices
are very important for maintaining and promoting investor
confidence and for the sustainable growth of the Group. The Board
sets appropriate policies and implements corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of the Group’s
business. The Board is committed to strengthening the Group’s
corporate governance practices and ensuring transparency and
accountability of the Company’s operations.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has
complied with the CG Code, except for code provision A.2.1 which
requires that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Key
corporate governance principles and practices of the Company as
well as the details of the foregoing deviation are summarised below.

A. The Board
A1. Responsibilities and Delegation

The overall management and control of the Company’s
business are vested in the Board, whose main roles are
to provide leadership and to approve strategic policies
and plans with a view to enhancing shareholder value.
All Directors take decisions objectively in the interests
of the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of
the Company, including the approval and monitoring
of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets,
risk management and internal control systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors
and other significant financial and operational matters.

All  Directors have timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of the
company secretary and senior management, with a view
to ensuring compliance with Board procedures and
all applicable laws and regulations. Any Director may
request independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company's expense, upon
reasonable request made to the Board.
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BEEROMASENERERRE The senior management are delegated the authority
B EURREREBRIREBE - and responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-
RAREERRNEZRATHR day management and operation of the Group. The
BRI billeMBERI T delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
MEBEBARZH - WAELEEERE reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board
HE - BEFEG2NIHSREEE prior to any significant transactions entered into by
BITHRE - the above-mentioned officers. The Board has the

full support of the senior management to discharge
its responsibilities.

A2. EFEHAHA A2. Board Composition
RAFHRAH  E=FSHUTKE The composition of the Board as at the date of this
4K annual report is as follows:
HITES .
Executive Directors:
JE & pEB o A (M) (BEESHBEE  /THES MLt BT EERTNEZSSRIEEZEEHKE)
Mr David ChowNete) (Co-chairman of the Board, chief executive officer, alternate director to

Madam Lam and a member of both the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee)

AL BlFEHFTNESSKE)

Madam Lam®ete) (Vice chairman and a member of the Remuneration Committee)
Sheldon Trainor-DeGirolamo & 4 (lEEZEE8KE)

Mr Sheldon Trainor-DeGirolamo (A member of the Nomination Committee)

JE 5= A o A (i)
Mr Chow Wan Hok, Donald®Mete)

FYTES !
Non-executive Directors:
FERERE (BEFRHEFRERERLZEENME)
Mr Tong Ka Wing, Carl (Co-chairman of the Board and a member of the Audit Committee)
el fBE 2+ (BRZESEHKE)
Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda (A member of the Audit Committee)
BYFHTES:
Independent Non-executive Directors:
kbt (BRZESTEFTNEEGRIEEZEGHKE)
Mr Fong Chung, Mark (Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
both the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee)
Eilliptas (N ESeFEREREZEERIEEEZEEKE)
Mr Xie Min (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of
both the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee)
EEZ T (IREZESFEREREZEERTNESESKE)
Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria (Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of
both the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee)
sk MatARABBAE 2B REARS Note: Madam Lam is the mother of Mr David Chow and the
2R o grandmother of Mr Donald Chow.

B 40  =rmmaszsmas 20185%



BEENERFRBERESEKELZ
RHBERAFERA [EFRSRE
EE| B mE -

EFEeC 8T LEMRAUEIIOR
BI0AKRKBTE BRI =EE
VIERATEE(EESSRI=H2
—) MEARL—BEIIERITE
FABABEEEER T RIEE
MISEBEENE -

E=ZeRBABARERBRER
BIRFTERNRITELER - FWT
EERBHERAEAEETRE
BRBEERF - FMTTEERE
FERHTANEBEMBEXEM
o BB MKRESE
BRARREZREEERER - BB
SLHEEETIRNEBRTE Y LE
ENZERZME  FATESE
HBARRFT LB SHERER
TiRHEEMRE RHE - UREAR
SERBROME o

RARERIBZBLIINTERR
B T AR I B AR TE B LB L1 AT B
HHEEERE - ARARR/ &
RETRAUBABILIMENES > 2
BEFNTEEHRBILAL -

TERERBE (F)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The biographical details of the Directors and the
relationships among the members of the Board are
disclosed under the section headed "Directors and
Senior Management” in this annual report.

The Board has met the requirements of Rules 3.10 and
3.10A of the Listing Rules of having a minimum of three
independent non-executive directors (representing at
least one-third of the Board) with one of them possessing
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting
and related financial management expertise.

The members of the Board have skills and experience
appropriate for the business requirements and objectives
of the Group. Each executive Director is responsible for
different business and functional division of the Group
in accordance with his/her expertise. The non-executive
Director brings different business and financial expertise,
experiences and independent judgement to the Board
and they are invited to serve on the Board committees of
the Company. Through participation in Board meetings,
taking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflicts of interests, the non-executive Director had
made contributions to the effective direction of the
Company and provided adequate checks and balances
to safeguard the interests of both the Group and
the shareholders.

The Company has received written annual confirmation
from each independent non-executive Director of his/
her independence pursuant to the requirements of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent
non-executive Directors to be independent in light of
the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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A3.

A4.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual.

Currently, Mr David Chow and Mr Tong Ka Wing, Carl
are co-chairmen of the Board and responsible for the
management of the Board and ensuring that all major and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
and constructive manner. In addition, Mr David Chow is
the chief executive officer of the Company, taking care
of the day-to-day management of the Group’s business
and implementing the Group's policies, strategic plans
and business goals formulated by the Board.

Although Mr David Chow is both a co-chairman and
the chief executive officer of the Company, the powers
and authorities of the co-chairman have not been
concentrated as the responsibilities have been shared
between the co-chairmen. The Board believes that
the balance of power and authority for the present
arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately
ensured by the current Board which comprises
experienced and high calibre individuals with sufficient
number of Directors being non-executive Directors.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Articles of Association contain provisions on the
procedures and process of appointment and removal
of Directors.

According to the Articles of Association, one-third
of the Directors for the time being (if their number is
not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
at each annual general meeting provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years. In
addition, any new Director appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy in the Board shall hold office only
until the first general meeting after appointment, and
any new Director appointed by the Board as an addition
to the Board shall hold office until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company. The retiring
Directors are eligible for re-election by the shareholders
at the respective general meetings.
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Each Director, including the independent non-executive
Directors, is engaged for a term of two/three years.
They are also subject to re-election in accordance
with the provisions of the Articles of Association as
mentioned above.

At the 2019 AGM, Madam Lam, Mr Donald Chow and
Mr Fong Chung, Mark shall retire and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the meeting. The
Board and the Nomination Committee recommended
their re-appointment. The Company'’s circular in relation
to the 2019 AGM, sent together with this annual report,
contains detailed information of the above Directors as
required by the Listing Rules.

Training and Continuing Development of Directors

Each newly appointed Director will receive induction on
the first occasion of his/her appointment so as to ensure
he/she has appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Group and that he/she is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under
the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

The existing Directors should participate in appropriate
continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors will be arranged
and reading materials on relevant topics will be issued to
Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to
attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Directors
complied with the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code and
all Directors received regular briefings and updates from
the professional firm/company secretary on the Group's
business/operations/corporate governance matters which
are relevant to their duties and responsibilities.
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Aé.

A7.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its
code of conduct governing directors’ dealings in the
Company'’s securities. Specific enquiry has been made
of all the Directors and they have confirmed their
compliance with the Model Code during the year ended
31 December 2018.

The Company also has established written guidelines
on no less exacting terms than the Model Code (the
"Employees Written Guidelines”), governing securities
transactions by relevant employees who are likely
to possess inside information of the Company and/
or its securities. No incident of non-compliance of
the Employees Written Guidelines by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

In case when the Company is aware of any restricted
period for dealings in the Company's securities, the
Company will notify its Directors and relevant employees
in advance.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions
set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board has
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.
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A8. Directors’ Attendance Records

The attendance records of each Director at the Board
meetings, Board committees meetings and general
meetings of the Company held during the year ended

31 December 2018 are set out below:

HEERBTRE
Attendance/Number of Meetings
ERERE FMEEE REEEY

EERS EEZEER 23 23 22 BRRAFKE
Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual

Board Committee  Committee = Committee General

Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

JE 8RR S A 4/4 - 171 1/1 1/1

Mr David Chow

Mt 2/4 - 171 - 171

Madam Lam

Sheldon Trainor-DeGirolamo 5 4 4/4 - - 171 1/1

Mr Sheldon Trainor-DeGirolamo

SNV 4/4 - - - 1/1

Mr Donald Chow

EREKE 4/4 3/3 - - 1/1

Mr Tong Ka Wing, Carl

AR 2+ 4/4 3/3 - - 1/1

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda

Paleibis 3/4 3/3 11 171 0/1

Mr Fong Chung, Mark

Fillibitad 4/4 1/3 171 171 171

Mr Xie Min

wmERL L 4/4 3/3 11 171 171

Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria
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Board Committees

The Board has established three Board committees, namely,
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's
affairs. All Board committees of the Company have been
established with defined written terms of reference which are
posted on the Company’s website “www.macaulegend.com”
and on the Stock Exchange's website “www.hkexnews.hk"”.
All the Board committees should report to the Board on their
decisions or recommendations made.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company's expenses.

B1. Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises a total of five members,
being three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr Fong Chung, Mark (Chairman), Mr Xie Min
and Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria; and two non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr Tong Ka Wing, Carl and Ms Ho
Chiulin, Laurinda. Mr Fong Chung, Mark possesses
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting
and financial management expertise as required
under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. None of the
members of the Audit Committee is a former partner
of the Company’s existing external auditors. All of the
members are non-executive Directors and the majority of
the members are independent non-executive Directors.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are reviewing
the financial information and reports of the Group and
considering any significant or unusual items raised by the
financial officers of the Group or external auditors before
submission to the Board; reviewing the relationship with
and the terms of appointment of the external auditors
and making the relevant recommendation to the Board,;
and reviewing the Company'’s financial reporting system,
risk management system and internal control system.
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Audit
Committee has performed the following major tasks:

- Review and discussion of the annual financial
statements, results announcement and report for
the year ended 31 December 2017, the related
accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and the relevant audit findings, the
report from the management on the Company'’s
risk management and internal control review
and processes and recommendation of the re-
appointment of the external auditor;

- Review and report on continuing connected
transactions carried out during the year ended 31
December 2017;

- Review and discussion of the interim financial
statements, results announcement and report for the six
months ended 30 June 2018 and the related accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group;

- Review and approval of the engagement letters
of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the
Company, the nature and scope of the audit for
the year ended 31 December 2018, their reporting
obligations and their work plan; and

-  Consideration of the internal audit plan and report.

The external auditors were invited to attend the
meetings to discuss with the Audit Committee on issues
arising from the audit and financial reporting matters.
Besides, there is no disagreement between the Board
and the Audit Committee regarding the re-appointment
of external auditor.
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B2.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises a total of
five members, being three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr Xie Min (Chairman), Mr Fong Chung,
Mark, and Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria; and two executive
Directors, namely, Mr David Chow and Madam Lam.
Accordingly, the majority of the members are independent
non-executive Directors.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee include making recommendations to the
Board on the Company’s remuneration policy and
structure and the remuneration packages of Directors
and members of senior management (that is, the model
described in the code provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG
Code is adopted). The Remuneration Committee is also
responsible for establishing transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure to
ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will
participate in deciding his/her own remuneration, which
remuneration will be determined by reference to the
performance of the individual and the Company as well
as market practice and conditions.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Remuneration Committee has performed the following
major tasks:

- Assessment of the performance of executive
Directors; and

- Review of remuneration packages of Directors and
senior management and to make any appropriate
adjustments, approve the terms of service
agreements/appointment letters as appropriate.
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Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the
annual remuneration of the members of the senior
management (other than Directors) by bands for the
year ended 31 December 2018 is set out below:

A¥

Number of individuals

18722 1,000,0008 7T

HK$1 to HK$1,000,000

1,000,001 7% 2,000,000 7T
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000
2,000,001 7t £ 3,000,000/ 7T
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000
3,000,001 7T 4,000,000 7T
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000

BHE_Z-N\F+-A=+—HIt
FE JZEEFNHFHFABHINAE
KBRS M MARMEE0 -

BEZEE B3.

REZBEXEREKE 1=
BRI ITESTEERL LT (X
&)~ FREERHIRSEE  AKRM
BMITE B FIFIB 4 & Sheldon
Trainor-DeGirolamo 7t 4 » Ett; -
ABAKBREIIERITES ©

REZEENIZETEBEESR
NEEENRE  ABRMAK (B
EE - MR RER)  TRBEFESF
HHERNESREES  WERE
BRERBEREITETEEXRENAL
THERREEBALHEEZESER
BUAMEBESSFHEBER  ¥ix
BMYIFRITEENE LML RE
EREAENERENREEF(LER
RRBERERITHRAR) BEEN
HHEEERNESSFLERER -

Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for
the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 10
to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises a total of five
members, being three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria
(Chairman), Mr Fong Chung, Mark and Mr Xie Min; and
two executive Directors, namely, Mr David Chow and Mr
Sheldon Trainor-DeGirolamo. Accordingly, the majority of
the members are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal responsibilities ofthe Nomination Committee
include reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of
the Board on a regular basis and recommending any
changes to the Board; identifying qualified and suitable
individuals to become Board members and selecting and
making recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships; assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and making recommendations to the Board on relevant
matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors in
particular, the chairman and the chief executive of
the Company.
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The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of
having a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at
the Board level as an essential element in maintaining
the Company's competitive advantage. A new Board
Diversity Policy was adopted by the Company during the
year under review, pursuant to which the Nomination
Committee will review annually the structure, size and
composition of the Board and where appropriate,
make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy and
to ensure that the Board maintains a balanced diverse
profile. In relation to reviewing and assessing the Board
composition, the Nomination Committee is committed
to diversity at all levels and will consider a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and regional and industry experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance
of diversity perspectives that are relevant to the
Company’s business growth and is also committed to
ensuring that recruitment and selection practices at all
levels (from the Board downwards) are appropriately
structured so that a diverse range of candidates are
considered. The Board will consider setting measurable
objectives to implement the Board Diversity Policy and
review such objectives from time to time to ensure
their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made
towards achieving those objectives.

During the year under review, in response to the
amendment to the CG Code effective on 1 January
2019, the Company has also adopted the Director
Nomination Policy. Such policy sets out the selection
criteria and process and the Board succession planning
considerationsin relation to nomination and appointment
of directors of the Company and aims to ensure that the
Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the Company and the
continuity of the Board and appropriate leadership at
Board level.
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The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the factors
for assessing the suitability and the potential contribution
to the Board of a proposed candidate, including but
not limited to the following: character and integrity;
qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy; diversity in
all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18
years or above), cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service; requirements of independent non-
executive directors on the Board and independence
of the proposed Independent Non-executive Directors
in accordance with the Listing Rules; and commitment
in respect of available time and relevant interest to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Nomination Committee has performed the following
major tasks:

- Review of the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board to ensure that it has a balance
of expertise, skills and experience and diversity of
perspective appropriate to the requirements for
the business of the Group;

- Recommendation of the re-election of the retiring
Directors standing for re-election at the Company’s
2018 annual general meeting; and

—  Assessment of the independence of all the
independent non-executive Directors.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2018.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment of annual and interim
reports, quarterly financial information, inside information
announcements and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements. The senior
management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to
carry out an informed assessment of the financial information
and position of the Company, which are put to the Board
for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board acknowledge its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to
take in achieving the Company’'s strategic objectives, and
establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. The
Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems.
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The Group has developed and adopted different risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined
authority for implementation by key business processes
and office functions, including gaming operations, hotel
operations, food & beverage, construction, finance, human
resources, information technology.

The internal audit team is responsible for performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group. The internal audit team identifies and examines key
issues in relation to the hotel/casino management, strategic
management, key operational and financial processes,
human resources management, regulatory compliance
and information security and provides its findings and
recommendations for improvement to the Audit Committee.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee, has
performed annual review on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2018 by reviewing the management
report and the internal audit findings, the actions taken and
the plans formulated to remedy the deficiencies. The Board is
not aware of any material defect or weakness of the internal
systems and controls in relation to anti-money laundering
and counter-terrorist financing which would have an adverse
impact on the operations of the Group; and considered that
the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group are effective and adequate.

The Group has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company's directors, officers,
senior management and relevant employees in handling
confidential information, monitoring information disclosure
and responding to enquiries.
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External Auditor and Auditor’'s Remuneration

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities for the Company’s financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out
in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this
annual report.

Thefeespaid/payable tothe Group's external auditorin respect
of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended
31 December 2018 are analysed below:

B EBEEA
Fees paid/payable
(&)
(HK$)
ZBURT
Audit services
-HECZ-N\FT A=t BLFENZHER 3,580,000
- Audit fee for the year ended 31 December 2018
FERBRT
Non-audit services:
-HE_Z-N\FRA=THIENEANTEER 550,000
— Interim review for the six months ended 30 June 2018
- %6 R IRES 265,250
— Tax compliance services
BEt 4,395,250
Total
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Company Secretary

During the year under review, Mr Wong Man Cheung, the
company secretary, has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional trainings. Biographical details of Mr
Wong are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.
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Communications with Shareholders and Investors

The Company believes that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group's business performance and
strategies. The Group also recognises the importance of transparent
and timely disclosure of corporate information, which enables
shareholders and investors to make the best investment decision.

The Company maintains a website at “www.macaulegend.
com” as a communication platform with shareholders and
investors, where information and updates on the Company'’s
business developments and operations and other information
are available for public access. Shareholders and investors
may send written enquiries or requests to the Company
as follows:

Address: Palace Building, Macau Fisherman’s Wharf, Avenida
da Amizade e Avenida da, Dr. Sun Yat Sen, Macau

Fax No.: (853) 2822 2266
Email: ir@macaulegend.com

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its shareholders and investors. Designated
senior management maintains regular dialogue with
institutional investors and analysts to keep them posted of the
Company’s developments. Enquiries from shareholders and
investors are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

Besides, shareholders’ meetings provide an opportunity for
communication between the Board and the shareholders.
Board members and appropriate senior staff of the Group
are available at the meeting to answer any questions raised
by shareholders.
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Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors,
for shareholders’ consideration and voting. The Company'’s
shareholders may convene an extraordinary general meeting
or put forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings as follows:

(1

Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company may request the Board to
convene an extraordinary general meeting pursuant
to Article 58 of the Articles of Association by sending
a written requisition to the Board or the company
secretary. The objects of the meeting must be stated
in the written requisition.

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other
than a retiring Director for election as a Director at a
general meeting, pursuant to Article 85 of the Articles
of Association, the shareholder (other than the person
to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the
general meeting shall send a written notice, duly signed
by the shareholder, of his/her intention to propose
such person for election and also a notice signed by
the person to be proposed of his/her willingness to
be elected. These notices should be lodged at the
Company'’s head office or the office of the Company’s
branch share registrar. The period for lodgement of such
notices shall commence on the day after the despatch
of the notice of such general meeting and end no later
than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting.
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For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement (as the case may be) to the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong and provide their full name,
contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has
not made any changes to the Articles of Association. An up-to-
date version of the Articles of Association is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Shareholders
may refer to the Articles of Association for further details of the
rights of shareholders.

All resolutions proposed at shareholder meetings will be
voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange “www.
hkexnews.hk” and the Company “www.macaulegend.com”,
respectively, immediately after the relevant general meetings.
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#ilE Aspects

This report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance (“ESG") Reporting Guide under Appendix 27 of the
Main Board Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
"Group”, "We", "Our”) acknowledge the significance of effective ESG
initiatives at different levels of our operation, so we will continue to invest
more resources in the ESG initiatives to achieve the mission of the Group.

This ESG report covers the policies, initiatives and performance of
the gaming and non-gaming businesses operated by the Group's
major property in Macau, namely Macau Fisherman’s Wharf, unless
specified, in relation to these issues, for the period from 1 January
to 31 December 2018 (Reporting Period”):

EARERE - £t REAEHE Material ESG issues

A. ZRIE Environmental
A1. BEFRY) Emissions

A2. BREF Use of resources

A3. RERBAEIR
The environment and natural resources

B. #®& Social

B1. {&1% Employment

B2. fiZFE Rk & % Health & safety

B3. #/& &% 7I Development and training
B4. 4 Ti%% Labour standards

B5. H/EH#E I Supply chain management

B6. Em & fE Product responsibility

B7. R&E’5 Anti-corruption
B8. #[@1% & Community investment

EEY)E 12 Waste management
e TixHER Carbon emissions

e BLIRER Use of energy

o HLSRIHFE Paper consumption
e F’K Use of water

e PHMEN External lighting

o {E{E%RIRIEF Employment practices and welfare
o  T{EMEERE N %2 Workplace health and safety
o B T#RERIET Employee development and training
e FET N3%IBAT Child and forced labor
o MERBRHERERERER
Green procurement and supply chain risk management
e B EBEIE¥ Responsible gambling
o  BEXAR REERIRZE Customer services and quality assurance
e BMEZ% Food safety
o ERMRFE Information security
e [REJS Anti-corruption

o ftEErEl Community programs
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND
MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Board is responsible for our ESG strategy and reporting, in this
regard, we have established an ESG working team to engage our
management and employees across levels and functions in order
to identify relevant ESG issues and to assess their materiality to our
business as well as our key stakeholders. Senior management has
collaborated with various departments to drive implementation and
monitoring the reporting progress in conjunction with the legal and
compliance departments with the relevant laws and regulations,
and compliance with company policy as is relevant to their area of
responsibility. The ESG issues considered to be material are listed
below and will be described in detail in this report:

A. Environment
A1. Emissions
o Waste Management

With the positive results by installed food
composting machine converts food waste into
water at Harbourview Hotel, we also aim to
install more food composting machines in other
hotels of our property. We are concerned about
the environment and composting food prevents
creation of methane than contributes to global
warming. It also decreases the number of truck
deliveries to the landfill and thus reduction in
carbon footprint.

Insupportofthelocalandregional carbon-reduction
policies, we have installed charging stations in our
car parking areas for electric vehicles which have no
carbon emissions, replacing conventional vehicles
with electric vehicles can help improve roadside air
quality and reduce greenhouse gas emissions and
a wider use of electric vehicles also contributes to
the development of environmental industries.
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During the Reporting Period, waste generated from
our business activities mainly consists of paper
(e.g. office paper and marketing materials) and
plastic bottles for water provided to our customers
in Legend Palace Casino and Babylon Casino:

—e-/\FME -—TLFHE
Amount of 2018 Amount of 2017

iR (A7) Paper (Kg)

YBRBIR (B ) Plastic bottles (Tonnes)

15,605 24,395
8.17 12.88

R TIEAR —E— N\FmH
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The decrease of the waste was due to the disposal
of Landmark Hotel from the Group since 27 April
2018 and changed to provide “Lightweight
Bottle” water to our customers, it also help to
reduce the recycling space. No substantial
hazardous waste was produced by the Group
during the Reporting Period.

A2. Use of Resources

Energy Efficiency

Due to our Green Building and sustainability
program, Harbourview Hotel and Rocks Hotel were
awarded the Macao Green Hotel Award by the
Environmental Protection Bureau (DSPA). Legend
Palace Hotel and Rocks Hotel are equipped with
energy (smart) valves that help to reduce operating
costs and CO2 emissions. We will continue to install
these smart valves throughout our properties for
more energy savings. We are also replacing large
AC motors to a more energy efficient DC motors
which will result at around 30% energy savings.

Paper Consumption

We actively promote the reduction of paper
consumption within the Group, and expect to
reduce around 20% overall paper consumption
within next three years. We also actively reduce the
paper consumption by streamlining the format and
length of the external publications (including the
adoption of the bilingual design). We expect the
above measure will help us to reduce around 30%
paper consumption in relevant exercises.
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BEMER

Type of waste Amount

—E-N\EYE Tt FYE
Amount of 2018 Amount of 2017

B (FEF) Electricity (Kwh)

- ixHER( — & biRE 2) Carbon emission (KgCOze)

LPG(3Z /5 2K) LPG (m3)
- IREERR(=

K(3ZFK) Water (m?3)

AtlixE &) Carbon emission (KgCOse)

51,745,932 75,457,051
38,240,244 47,810,885
17,382 21,732
123,623 211,154
668,306 1,005,008
304 480
525,962 849,444

BfEE - baigest Er e E B A
SEEEREEERNTZ
BERBIE - DA AR RS
B BREERGT EE BB BR
SREF QM BERER
BmRNRERRMETE -

B R R B RRE S MR AR
W BREBOR D TIEAR = F
—N\FHAZ+LAEREEH

SRPIEMEIGAE - WX
Keh BT E T ABUE

e E -

BEADEENEZRIR - AR
/J\%ﬁiﬁim*mﬂéﬂﬂaﬁﬁﬁ
FIEEME S - AEBR
&H%i\aﬂ;ﬂmkﬁ%?@ﬁ LED
B WABAL Y R R BS PR AR B
HE

HMABRAZERALAT 2018F kK

Note: The above statistics represent the major direct
and indirect amounts of energy consumed by the
Group, and the corresponding carbon emissions
during the Reporting Period. Carbon emissions are
calculated with reference to the Greenhouse Gas
Protocol using carbon conversion factors published
by the Environment Protection Department of
Hong Kong.

Similar to the waste generated from paper and
plastic bottles, the decrease of carbon emissions
was due to the disposal of Landmark Hotel from
the Group since 27 April 2018, but little bit
affected the results by the increasing number of
visitors to our property.

Lightingisamajorsource on electricity consumption.
To reduce the electricity consumption in delivering
sufficient indoor lighting intensity, the Group aims
to convert all non-LED lights to LED and optimize
the properties’ entire lighting schedule.
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Type of waste Amount

Water Efficiency

The water usage in our properties comprises the water
used in washrooms, plant irrigation, and floor cleansing.

“E-NFEHE —tFHE
Amount of 2017 Amount of 2017

K(3ZFK) Water (m?3)

525,962 849,444
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We regularly inspect the chiller and carry out
effective maintenance. We have a chiller plant water
treatment program that optimizes the operations
and prolongs the life span of the equipment. This
program also reduces the number of cooling tower
blowdowns and water valves failures that prevent
water loss. We also emphasize the influence
our customers and employees by making small
behavioral changes for implementation of the
water efficiency, including fixing leaking taps,
taking showers rather than baths and ask hotel
guests to consider using towels more than once to
reduce water wastage, but also save on towel and
the use of detergent.

The decrease of water consumption was also similar
to the reason of the decrease of carbon emissions,
but the result was also affected by the increasing
the events held at our property.

A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

External Lighting

With reduce the light nuisance to the environment
and minimize the energy wastage, we are continuing
the conversion of all internal and external lighting
to highly efficient LED lights, optimizing on our
lighting schedule and also conducting ‘Earth
Hour’ once a month every month to promote
public awareness. Apart from the environmental
angle, the social and economic implications of
different approaches in implementing various
initiatives across the properties also as a symbol of
commitment to the planet.
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Social

B1.

Employment

To ensure that the Group is able to operate according
to professional and ethical labour practices, we have
developed clear work processes with robust control
mechanisms, which have been clearly communicated
to all employees. Employee handbooks have been
established with sets of policies to govern employees’
affairs such as payroll, attendance, termination,
transfer and promotion and rules of conduct. We are in
compliance with the relevant labour laws and regulations
in Hong Kong and Macau respectively. We also aim
to promote the diversity of our workforce, including
in terms of age, gender and nationality, as well as a
culture of equal opportunity. Our management regularly
reviews the Company’s remuneration policy in relation
to relevant market standards.

The total workforce of the Group as at 31 December
2017 and 31 December 2018 are summarized as follows:

5] Gender €& AZ No. of employees
—E-N\F —F—+F
2018 2017
B4 Male 1,359 1,710
2% Female 1,209 1,485
45T Total 2,568 3,195

F# D4 Age distribution

{E& AZ No. of employees

—E-N\F —E—+tF

2018 2017

18-30 593 703
31-40 855 1,050
41-50 578 727
51-60 469 613
>=61 73 102
#5t Total 2,568 3,195

HMABRAZERALAT 2018F kK
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# & Geographical Region

{E & AZ No. of employees

—E-N\FE —E—+tF

2018 2017

BP9 Macau 2,560 3,188

#&7% Hong Kong 5 5

HAth Others 3 2

48zt Total 2,568 3,195

RERZZE B2. Health and Safety

TESHRRERLE Workplace health and safety
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It is our duty as a responsible employer to protect our
employeesfromall physical dangersatthe workplace. The
Group has established a set of policies which is focused
on maintaining a healthy and safe working environment;
we aim to control and resolve occupational health risks
at our properties to the best of our capabilities.

Our care and attention to health and safety is embedded
in our daily operations. Our equipment, first-aid boxes,
fire safety system and CCTV system are maintained
and checked regularly to ensure their safety conditions
and functionalities.

In addition, safety drills are conducted regularly to
enhance our employees’ awareness and familiarize them
with relevant procedures to react to accidents. During
the Reporting Period, our hotels arranged fire safety drills
that explain evacuation procedures and proper usage of
fire extinguishers.

Regular inspections and management review of
health and safety have been performed to ensure the
effectiveness of the policies and measures.
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B3.

B4.

Development and Training
Employee development and training

The Group cares the development of our employees,
and we believe the growth of our employees will leads
to the success of the company. In 2018, we deepen
our training and development in order to broaden
the knowledge and skills of the employees. We offer
professional training courses in the area of finance,
occupational health & safety, facilities management,
food & beverage, supervisory and management skills.
We also enforce the hospitality frontline skills training
by offering recognized training system - Macao
Occupational Skills Recognition System and implement
in-house training program to our employees for their
career development. And a continuous of departmental
on-job trainings are systematically started to implement
into our hospitality divisions.

In 2018, approximately 809 hours services improvement
training sessions were organized and more than 13,364
hours of skill training were provided to our employees.
We also keep provides on-boarding training for each
employee, covering various topics to familiarize new
join to faster get involved in the culture and as well as
corporate compliance and responsible gambling.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly complies with relevant laws and
regulations, child labour & forced labour is abandoned in
the Group. All applicants will go through the background
check and medical check for employment verification,
Human Resources personnel will ensure all employees in
a fair employment condition. In the recruitment process,
we implements appropriate interview procedures and
applicant also accepts the employment based on their
own will.

No material non-compliance case relating to labor
standards was noted by the Group during the
report period.
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B5. HEH#HEE B5. Supply Chain Management

AR EIRE Green procurement
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To ensure our products and services provide to our
customers that cause minimal adverse environmental
impacts, we incorporate human health and environmental
concerns into the search for high quality products and
services. We encourage our hotels, casinos and offices
to adopt environmental protection measures such as
reducing their carbon footprint and complying with
the Regime of Tobacco Prevention and Control. With
preference given to suppliers who demonstrate their
environment commitment will be considered for our
future purchase.

BAIEEE D MR AT HE

The geographical distribution of our suppliers is as follows:

# & Geographical Region HEREEE No. of suppliers

—E-N\F —F—+F

2018 2017

BP9 Macau 500 481
A% Hong Kong 65 59
E Aty Others 106 62
st Total 671 602
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Note: The above statistics cover our suppliers of goods and
services in MLD and certain subsidiaries in Macau during
the Reporting Period.

B6. EMREF
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B6. Product Responsibility
Responsible Gambling

“E-N\F AEEERS A
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In 2018, the Group actively participated in different
responsible  gambling  categories, including
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responsible gambling activities held by the
Macau Government authority, so that employees
in different departments can also know what is
responsible gambling. In addition, some of our
manager-level employees were also participated
in the professional certificate course of responsible
gambling. However, with the development of
the gaming industry in Macau and the increasing
number of gaming facilities, the Group has adhered
to the concept and committed to supporting
the Macau government’s responsible gambling
initiatives. We promote responsible gambling in a
variety of ways, including:
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New posters with the information of
“Gambling is not business, Stay in
Control” are posted in different areas
of our properties, including the casinos,
back of house areas, dining areas and
offices, we hope to remind our customers
as well as our employees the positive
concert of entertainment. In addition, we
also have various types of promotional
materials to promote responsible gambling.
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In 2018, the Gaming Inspection and
Coordination Bureau (“DICJ"”) launched a
new poster featuring “There is a way out of
gambling disorders, self-isolation is easy to

do” and a new promotional video
is issued to assist people how to
submit the self-isolation application
to DICJ. The posters were posted in
the employees’ rest areas and dining
areas and the relevant videos will
also broadcast through the TVs in the
dining areas as well.
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. In 2018, DICJ also held a series of activities at our
casinos to enable our employees to know more
about responsible gambling through some games
and discussions. Many of our employees were
participated the related activities and the results
are very positive. Our employees are deepening
understand about responsible gambling, so that
they can promote to friends around.
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o We will also conduct responsible gambling
test for our employees on a regular basis and
more than 80% of our gaming employees

have completed the test so far. 2 " .‘
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o DICJ and relevant responsible gambling
institutions will conduct some professional
certificate courses for the gaming industry.
We also arranged several manager-level
employees to participate in and complete
the professional certificate course in 2018.
We will continue to commit and support the
responsible gambling initiatives.
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Anti-corruption

The Group values and upholds integrity, fairness,
transparency and accountability. Anti-bribery and anti-
corruption standards are important parts of the Group's
policies and operating practices which are reinforced
by our employees and communicated to relevant
stakeholders with dealings with the Group. Whistle-
blowing policies apply to all stakeholders including
employees, shareholders, customers and suppliers.
The whistle-blowing mechanisms allow stakeholders to
report suspected misconduct, malpractices or fraudulent
activities with confidence. Cases reported are followed
up independently and the Audit Committee (comprising
independent non-executive Directors of the Group) is
responsible for the investigation and subsequent actions.

No material non-compliance case relating to corporate
fraud and corruption was noted by the Group during the
reporting period.

Community Investment

The Group is deeply committed to giving back and caring
the community together with our employees. We involve in
the career fairs of the local academic institutes to provide
career development advises to the students; participating
and organizing various volunteering events at work and
during leisure to provide our employees the opportunities
to devote themselves to the community. We strive to create
a green working environment together with our employees
through promoting environmental protection at workplace
and also formed a basketball team for the 2018 Macau
Special Olympics for supporting people with intellectual
disabilities to get involved in the community. Some of our
community programs and efforts are descried below.
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. Lai Si Envelope Recycle Activity

During the Chinese New Year 2018, we
participated into the Lai Si (Red Pocket)
Envelope Recycle activity of the Direccdo dos
Servicos de Protecgdo Ambiental of Macau
S.A.R., collection boxes were located around g
the company to encourage our employees to
participate in the event.
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e 2018 Caring Macau Special Olympics Inter-hotel
3-on-3 Basketball Competition

The Group continued to support the meaningful
event organized by Macau Special Olympics, 4
teams in total 14 employees were participated in
the event. It was a great way to encourage work
life balance and at the meantime promote social
responsibilities among the company.
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2018 Green Week and Tree Planting

In March 2018, our team members joined the
Green Walk and Planting Activity organized by
Instituto Para Os Assuntos Civicos e Municipais
of Macau S.A.R., after which around 1,100 trees
was planted during this activity for recovering the
damages caused by the typhoon Hato.
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Blood Donation

The Group continued to organize blood donation
activity in 2018, we encourage our employees to
devote themselves to the community and make
them feel pride for helping others. In total of 46
employees were successfully donated.
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o 2018 Macau Eco TrailHiker Activity

In November, the group has joined the
environmental protection activities, 20 staff
from different departments was joined for
the 10km competition so as to get a better
work life balance. Staffs are encouraged to
face with the nature environment during
this event.
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. Walk for a Million 2018

The group always shows the support in charity
event, and will also encourage our staff to
participate with us. In December 2018, around
hundred of the staff in our group joined Walk for a
Million 2018 with competition in the whole route.
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ESHE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Board is pleased to present this annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2018.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year, which
includes an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial
key performance indicators, a discussion on the Group's future
business development and principal risks and uncertainties that
the Group may be facing, discussion on the relationships with
its key stakeholders and particulars of important events affecting
the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial year
ended 31 December 2018 are provided in the sections headed
“Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis”,
“Corporate Governance Report” and “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” of this annual report. The Group has always
been committed to establish and improve the relationship with
customers to gain and maintain customers. The review forms part
of the directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 118 of this annual report.

A special dividend of HK8 cents per Share, amounted to
approximately HK$501.4 million, was paid on 12 July 2018.

No interim dividend was paid during the year.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited consolidated results and the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 235 of this annual report.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY
AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year in the investment
properties and property and equipment of the Group are
set out in notes 17 and 18, respectively, to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital
of the Company are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of (i) the share options of the Company are disclosed under
the below section headed “Share Options” and in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements; and (ii) the Directors’ reward
shares of the Company are disclosed in note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of its listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2018.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2018, the Company's reserves available
for distribution to shareholders amounted to approximately
HK$4,952.8 million comprising share premium of approximately
HK$4,233.2 million and other reserve of approximately HK$202.3
million which are offset by debit balance of accumulated profits of
approximately HK$517.3 million.

Under the Cayman Islands Companies Law, subject to the provisions
of memorandum of association of the Company or the Articles
of Association, the Company’s share premium account may be
applied to pay distributions or dividends to shareholders, provided
that immediately following the date the distribution or dividend is
proposed to be paid, the Company is able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr David Chow (Co-chairman and chief executive officer)
Madam Lam (Vice chairman) (Mr David Chow as her alternate)
Mr Sheldon Trainor-DeGirolamo

Mr Donald Chow

Non-executive Directors

Mr Tong Ka Wing, Carl (Co-chairman)
Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr Fong Chung, Mark
Mr Xie Min
Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles of Association,
Madam Lam, Mr Donald Chow and Mr Fong Chung, Mark will
retire from office and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at the 2019 AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
2019 AGM has a service contract with the Company that is not
determinable within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as referred to the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the directors of the
Company is currently in force throughout the year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of
dividends. Depending on the financial conditions of the Company
and the Group and the conditions and factors as set out in the
Dividend Policy, dividends may be proposed and/or declared
by the Board during a financial year and any final dividend for a
financial year will be subject to the shareholders’ approval.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short position of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the Shares and
underlying Shares, as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code were as follows:

(1) Long Position in Shares of the Company

*EERITRG

=27 ROEE BENBNEDI
*Approximate

percentage of total

Name of Directors Capacity Number of Shares issued Shares
BRI ESHEAA 1,386,524,826 22.12%
Mr David Chow Beneficial owner

HiEEE 319,696,000M 5.10%

Controlled corporation

iRt 129,690,066 2.07%

Mzt

Madam Lam

Sheldon Trainor-DeGirolamo %c4

Mr Sheldon Trainor-DeGirolamo

BREEE
Mr Donald Chow

ERERE
Mr Tong Ka Wing, Carl

AR+
Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda

Interest of spouse

1,835,910,892 29.29%
S EE 100,504,500 1.60%
Controlled corporation
BEnEBA 2,518,504 0.04%
Beneficial owner
S EE 82,813,000® 1.32%
Controlled corporation
85,331,504 1.36%
BnEBA 600,000 0.01%
Beneficial owner
BEnlEBA 8,120,579 0.13%
Beneficial owner
BEREX@mA 934,269,609 14.91%

Beneficiary of a trust
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Notes:

These Shares were held by All Landmark Properties Limited
("All Landmark”), a controlled corporation of Mr David Chow.

Mr David Chow was deemed to be interested in these Shares
through the interest of his spouse, Ms Melinda Chan.

These Shares were held by Grand Bright Holdings Limited
(“Grand Bright”), a controlled corporation of Madam Lam.

These Shares were held by PacBridge Capital Partners (HK) Limited,
a controlled corporation of Mr Sheldon Trainor-DeGirolamo.

These Shares were held directly by UBS Nominees Limited,
which is a nominee holding the Shares for Earth Group
Ventures Ltd., a company wholly owned by UBS TC (Jersey)
Ltd. as trustee of the Earth Settlement. Earth Settlement is a
discretionary trust set up by Ms Chan Un Chan as founder for
her assets planning purposes. Ms Ho Chiulin, is a daughter of
Ms Chan Un Chan, a substantial shareholder of the Company.

The percentage represents the number of Shares interested
divided by the number of the issued Shares as at 31
December 2018.

Short Position in Shares of the Company

B BRITRE
HEHBABE D

*Approximate

RHEE

percentage of total

Number of Shares issued Shares

AR
Mr David Chow

XEE

Controlled corporation

319,696,000
(K15F) (Note)

5.10%

GEE

R BA R B All Landmark$$ A ©

BOWER-Z-N\F+-_A=+—RB%
FoRRZ M BB RARBETROEE -

Note: The short position in the Shares was held by All Landmark.

The percentage represents the number of Shares involved in the
short position divided by the number of the issued Shares as at
31 December 2018.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of
the Company, as at 31 December 2018, had registered an interest
or a short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTIONS

Share Option Scheme

On 5 June 2013, the Company adopted the Share Option Scheme
for the purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible
participants for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Group. Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include,
among others, the Directors, including non-executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors, full-time or part-
time employees, executives or officers of the Group, advisors,
consultants, suppliers, customers and agents. The Share Option
Scheme became effective on 5 July 2013 upon the Listing and shall
be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in
issue from time to time. The maximum number of Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be
granted to each eligible participant in any 12-month period must
not exceed 1% of the Company’s issued share capital from time to
time. Any grant or further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting of
the Company.

Each grant of share options to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates,
is subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
Directors. In addition, any grant of share options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or to any
of their associates, resulting in the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person, in a 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue and with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the Shares at the date of the
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, is subject to shareholders’ approval
in advance in a general meeting of the Company.
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An option shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted
by the grantee and to have taken effect when the duplicate offer
document constituting acceptance of the option duly signed by
the grantee, together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1 by way of consideration for the grant of the option, is
received by the Company within 30 days after the date of offer.

The exercise price of share options is determined by the Directors,
but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of
the Shares; (ii) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of the
share options; and (iii) the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of offer.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the Share
Option Scheme.

The total number of Shares currently available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme is 623,217,787 Shares, representing
approximately 9.9% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of this annual report.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the below section headed
“Connected Transactions” and in notes 10 and 43 to the
consolidated financial statements, no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding
company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Otherthanasdisclosed underthe below sectionheaded “Connected
Transactions” and in notes 10 and 43 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contract of significance had been entered into
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the
year under review.

Other than as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions” in this annual report and in notes 10 and 43 to
the consolidated financial statements, there is no contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of
its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract for the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered
into or existed during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2018, so far as the Directors are aware, the
following parties (other than the Directors and chief executives of
the Company) had interests or short position in the Shares and
underlying Shares as recorded in the register of interests required

KA to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:
(1) RAEQATARGBFHFHEE (1) Long position in Shares of the Company
*LERITRG
FERRER g4 BRoEE HENBAF I
*Approximate
percentage of total
Name of substantial shareholders Capacity Number of Shares issued Shares
All Landmark ERBEEA 319,696,000 5.10%
All Landmark Beneficial owner
PREEL L BERBEBEA 129,690,066 2.07%
Ms Melinda Chan Beneficial owner
i 1,706,220,826? 27.22%
Interest of spouse
1,835,910,892 29.29%
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*EERTRG

TERRER 37 ROBE  HABEOHBNEIHL
*Approximate

percentage of total

Name of substantial shareholders Capacity Number of Shares issued Shares
Elite Success BEnEBA 1,012,599,750 16.16%
Elite Success Beneficial owner
FEBALE BEREAA 96,390,429 1.54%
Mr Li Chi Keung Beneficial owner

ZiEEE 1,012,599,7509 16.16%

Controlled corporation

1,108,990,179 17.70%
FESEL L RiEE 1,012,599,7500 16.16%
Ms Wong Hoi Ping Controlled corporation
iRt 96,390,429 1.54%
Interest of spouse
1,108,990,179 17.70%
BRI 2+ BERBEBEA 75,664,000 1.21%
Ms Chan Un Chan Beneficial owner
ZREIEFERVEAIZA 934,269,609% 14.91%
Founder of discretionary trust
SEEE 2,835,000© 0.05%
Controlled corporation
1,012,768,609 16.17%
Earth Group Ventures Ltd. BEmiEA A 934,269,609 14.91%
Earth Group Ventures Ltd. Beneficial owner
UBS TC (Jersey) Ltd. SN ZEEE 934,269,609¢ 14.91%
UBS TC (Jersey) Ltd. Trustee/controlled corporation
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3. ZE W1 R Elite Success(ZE o fp £
ERBESYRtoRlEae8TRA%
RE51% KX 39% B ARIFE o

4. EENLIERABBERBFERLE
MESNZER DT REER -

5. UBS Nominees Limited AR A F N
Earth Group Ventures Ltd. B A%
LWl - %A RIHUBS TC (Jersey) Ltd.
NEarthEit 2 RRXEAFHL2EHE -
Earth S5ET5RITE 2+ 3t H & B 4R &1 A
BINZ A SR IHTREREET ©
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(BE)ERBERRARNE -

* BAOLER T N\F+_A=1+—H#%
BB ZRMNBBBRACZETRHEE -
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Notes:

The interest of All Landmark was disclosed as the interest of
Mr David Chow in the above section headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Position in Shares and
Underlying Shares of the Company”.

Ms Melinda Chan was deemed to be interested in these Shares
through the interest of her spouse, Mr David Chow.

These Shares were held by Elite Success (a company in
which Mr Li Chi Keung and Ms Wong Hoi Ping, spouse of
Mr Li Chi Keung, held 51% and 39% of the total issued capital,
respectively).

Ms Wong Hoi Ping was deemed to be interested in these Shares
through the interest of her spouse, Mr Li Chi Keung.

These Shares were held directly by UBS Nominees Limited,
which is a nominee holding the Shares for Earth Group
Ventures Ltd., a company wholly-owned by UBS TC (Jersey)
Ltd. as trustee of the Earth Settlement. Earth Settlement is a
discretionary trust set up by Ms Chan Un Chan as founder for
her assets planning purposes.

These Shares were held by UNIR (HK) Management Limited,
a controlled corporation of Ms Chan Un Chan.

The percentage represents the number of Shares interested divided
by the number of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2018.
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(2) Short Position in Shares of the Company

*EEBITRAD
RENBANE DL
*Approximate
percentage of total
issued Shares

RHEE

Number of Shares

BREEL L 319,696,000 5.10%
Ms Melinda Chan Interest of spouse
All Landmark ERBEEA 319,696,000@ 5.10%
All Landmark Beneficial owner

B3 - Notes:

1. PREBEZ T WA ASBERBEARELE 1 Ms Melinda Chan was deemed to have a short position in

ERBERZERD P EAXE - B Lt
REEOFEABRNFREEREXESER
TETBABRARRZ B RAEBERN
PR R R | —E R IREE o

2. All Landmark BUABER EX [EERE
BITHRABRARRZ KM RAEARKRG
MiERRAR ] — SR BB ARRELE
KRB ©

* BALER T N\F+_A=+—H0%
RREZBHEBBADBITRHEE -

Br EXXFriEREESN EREW N ABEAE
A EAA(RRAREEREBITHA
BBRIMNRZZE-NF+ZA=+—HE
BRRRGSRABMERG PR LR IR IE
BHEMEEGPIEIIKRBATENERE
SR ERSIAR -

BAUMBRAE

ARBIERBFEBLIFATEFRE LTARA
EINGEFEERAERBEBIUME - NARR
R FMEEMIFRTEFTHRBEIL

these Shares through the short position of her spouse, Mr
David Chow. Details of the above short position in Shares have
been disclosed in the above section headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Position in Shares and
Underlying Shares of the Company”.

2 The short position of All Landmark was disclosed as the short
position of Mr David Chow in the above section headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Position
in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company”.

The percentage represents the number of Shares involved in the
short position divided by the number of the issued Shares as at
31 December 2018.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any
other corporation or individual (other than a Director or the
chief executive of the Company) who, as at 31 December
2018, had registered an interest or a short position in the
Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register
of interests required to be kept pursuant to section 336 of
the SFO.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/herindependence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all the independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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LOAN AGREEMENTS WITH COVENANTS RELATING
TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Pursuant to the Facility Agreement, the following specific
performance obligations have been imposed on the controlling
shareholders of the Company unless consented by the Lender:

(i) Mr David Chow, All Landmark, Madam Lam, Grand Bright and
certain substantial shareholders of the Company are required
to hold directly or indirectly in aggregate not less than 51% of
the issued share capital of the Company; and

(i)  the majority of the Board, being Mr David Chow, Madam
Lam, Mr Sheldon Trainor-DeGirolamo and Mr Tong Ka Wing,
Carl, shall remain the same during the life of the Facility.

Such requirements as to the maintenance of the level of ownership
and composition of the members of the Board result in the
disclosure obligation under Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules.

TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS AMONG CERTAIN
SHAREHOLDERS

On 28 December 2012, an agreement (the “Transfer Restrictions
Agreement”), which was subsequently amended and restated
on 5 June 2013, was entered into among Mr David Chow, All
Landmark, Madam Lam, Grand Bright, Mr Li Chi Keung, Elite
Success and Ms Chan Un Chan (together the “Covenantors”).
Pursuant to the Transfer Restrictions Agreement, the Covenantors
agreed not to transfer, whether directly or indirectly, any Shares
registered in their respective names, or any right, title or interest
therein or thereto such that, among others, the total number of
Shares held by the Covenantors should not be less than 51% of
the total issued capital of the Company. Further details of the
Transfer Restrictions Agreement are set out in the Prospectus and
the Supplemental Prospectus.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly
corporation that pays close attention to conserving natural
resources. The Group strives to minimize the environmental impact
by saving electricity and encouraging recycle of office supplies and
other materials. Details of the environmental policies of the Group
are set out in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
of this annual report.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into certain continuing connected
transactions, details of which are set out below:

Continuing connected transactions which are subject to the
reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement

(1

Legendale Beijing Hotel Service Agreement

On 5 June 2013, the Company and Beijing Hua Hai Jin Bao
Real Estate Development Co. Ltd. (It REBFEEFMEREHE
FR 2 &) ("Beijing Hua Hai Jin Bao") entered into a framework
agreement (the “Legendale Beijing Hotel Service Agreement”)
for the renting of hotel rooms and convention venues and
the procurement of event management services to the Group
for an initial term commencing from the Listing Date to 31
December 2015, which is renewable for periods of three
years subject to price review. On 24 April 2014, the Company
and Beijing Hua Hai Jin Bao entered into a supplemental
agreement (the “Supplemental Legendale Beijing Hotel
Service Agreement”, together with the Legendale Beijing
Hotel Service Agreement referred to as the “Legendale
Agreements”) to amend the term of the Legendale Beijing
Hotel Service Agreement to a period from 24 April 2014 to
31 December 2016, and to specify the pricing policy. On 7
November 2016, the Company and Beijing Hua Hai Jin Bao
renewed the Legendale Agreements for a term of three years
from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019, and to adjust the
corresponding annual caps. The other terms of the Legendale
Beijing Hotel Service Agreement remain unchanged.

Beijing Hua Hai Jin Bao is an associate of Mr David Chow, a
co-chairman, an executive Director, the chief executive officer
and one of the controlling shareholders of the Company and
is therefore a connected person of the Company.
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Pursuant to the Legendale Agreements, the Group shall rent
hotel rooms and meeting convention venues and procure
event management services from Beijing Hua Hai Jin Bao
for organising corporate and industry events in Beijing at
prices determined on an arm’s length basis and the prevailing
market price for comparable types of services in the same
industry based on the market research conducted by the
parties to the Legendale Agreements from time to time.
The new annual cap for total rental and service fees paid or
payable by the Group to Beijing Hua Hai Jin Bao for each
of the three financial years ending 31 December 2017, 2018
and 2019 shall not exceed HK$2.2 million, HK$2.2 million and
HK$2.7 million, respectively.

The amount paid/payable by the Group to Beijing Hua Hai Jin
Bao for the provision of hotel rooms and meeting convention
venues and event management services under the Legendale
Agreements for the year ended 31 December 2018 was
approximately HK$0.4 million.

Amigo Travel Service Agreement

On 5 June 2013, the Company and Amigo Travel (Macau)
Limited (“Amigo Travel”) entered into a framework agreement
(the "Amigo Travel Service Agreement”) for the procurement
of travelling, ticketing and transportation services to the
Group for an initial term commencing from the Listing Date
to 31 December 2015, which is renewable for periods of three
years subject to price review. On 24 April 2014, the Company
and Amigo Travel entered into a supplemental agreement
(the “Supplemental Amigo Travel Service Agreement”,
together with the Amigo Travel Service Agreement referred
to as the “Amigo Agreements”) to amend the term of the
Amigo Travel Service Agreement to a period from 24 April
2014 to 31 December 2016, and to specify the pricing policy.
On 7 November 2016, the Company and Amigo Travel
renewed the Amigo Agreements for a term of three years
from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019, and to adjust
the corresponding annual caps. The other terms of the Amigo
Travel Service Agreement remain unchanged.
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Amigo Travel is an associate of Mr David Chow as the
shareholders of Amigo Travel are Ms Emiko Mito Pinto-
Marques and Mr Adriano Dillon Guerrero Pinto-Marques,
the parents of Mr Adrian Pinto-Marques, the son-in-law
of Mr David Chow and is therefore a connected person of
the Company.

Pursuant to the Amigo Agreements, the Group shall procure
travelling, ticketing and transportation services from Amigo
Travel to support the business travelling needs of the Group
at the service fees as determined on an arm’s length basis and
by reference to the prevailing market price for comparable
types of services in the same industry based on the market
research conducted by the parties to the Amigo Agreements
from time to time. In addition, the Group shall lease the
hotel rooms to Amigo Travel from time to time upon the
terms and conditions contained in the Amigo Agreements.
The new annual cap for total service fees paid or payable
by the Group to Amigo Travel in relation to the traveling,
ticketing and transportation services for each of the three
financial years ending 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019
shall not exceed HK$3.6 million, HK$4.5 million and HK$6.5
million, respectively. The new annual cap for total service fees
received or receivable by the Group from Amigo Travel in
relation to the leasing of hotel rooms for each of the three
financial years ending 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019
shall not exceed HK$9.8 million, HK$10.3 million and HK$12.4
million, respectively.

The amount paid/payable by the Group to Amigo Travel
for the provision of travelling, ticketing and transportation
services under the Amigo Agreements for the year ended 31
December 2018 was approximately HK$2.0 million.

The amount received/receivable by the Group from Amigo
Travel for the leasing of hotel rooms under the Amigo
Agreements for the year ended 31 December 2018 was
approximately HK$2.1 million.
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Macau Landmark Office Rental Agreement

On 5 June 2013, the Company entered into a framework
agreement (the “Macau Landmark Office Rental Agreement”)
with Macau Landmark Management Limited (“MLML") for
the leasing of certain office premises at the Macau Landmark
Building by the Group for an initial term commencing from
the Listing Date to 31 December 2015, which is renewable
for periods of three years subject to price review. On 24 April
2014, the Company and MLML entered into a supplemental
agreement (the “Supplemental Macau Landmark Office
Rental Agreement”, together with the Macau Landmark
Office Rental Agreement referred to as the “Macau Landmark
Agreements”) to amend the term of the Macau Landmark
Office Rental Agreement to a period from 24 April 2014 to
31 December 2016, and to specify the pricing policy. On 7
November 2016, the Company and MLML renewed the Macau
Landmark Agreements for a term of three years from 1 January
2017 to 31 December 2019, and to adjust the corresponding
annual caps. The other terms of the Macau Landmark Office
Rental Agreement remain unchanged.

MLML is a company owned by Mr David Chow, an executive
Director and the controlling shareholder of the Company,
Madam Lam, an executive director of the Company, and Mr Li
Chi Keung, a substantial shareholder of the Company, and is
therefore a connected person of the Company.

Pursuant to the Macau Landmark Agreements, the Group
shall lease from MLML office premises of the Macau Landmark
Building as headquarters and offices of the Group at the
rental rates as determined on an arm’s length negotiation
and by reference to prevailing market rates. The Company
has checked rentals for similar premises in the vicinity from
independent third parties in the market to determine if the
rentals and terms offered are comparable to those offered by
such third parties. The Company will check rentals for similar
premises in the vicinity from two independent third parties on
a yearly basis in the market in order to assess and review the
fairness and reasonableness of the rentals under the Macau
Landmark Agreements. The new annual cap for total rental
fees paid or payable by the Group to MLML for each of the
three financial years ending 31 December 2017, 2018 and
2019 shall not exceed HK$2.6 million, HK$3.2 million and
HK$3.2 million, respectively.

No leasing expenses was paid/payable by the Group to
MLML for the provision of office premises under the Macau
Landmark Agreements for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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Sheng Li Cooperation Agreement and SLL License to
Use Agreement

On 6 October 2017 and 20 August 2017, the Company,
Sheng Li V Limited (“Sheng Li V") and Mr Frank Wong entered
into a confirmatory agreement and cooperation agreement,
respectively to grant the license to use three (3) gambling
tables in the designated VIP room under these agreements.

Sheng Li V is a company incorporated in Macau and its entire
issued capital is owned by Frank Wong, who is the father- in-
law of Mr Sheldon Trainor-DeGirolamo, an executive director
of the Company, and is therefore a connected person of
the Company.

Pursuant to the cooperation agreement and confirmatory
agreement, Hong Hock shall provide manpower, equipment,
electricityand managementforthe operation and management
of the designated VIP room. In addition, pursuant to the licence
to use agreement signed between MFW Investment and Seng
Lei Loi Jewelry and Watches Company Limited (“SLL") on 21
April 2017, SLL agreed to lease form MFW Investment a shop
in Legend Palace Hotel. As disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 6 October 2017, the annual cap for
the aggregate amount paid or payable by Frank Wong and
his associates to the Group pursuant to the confirmatory
agreement in respect of the cooperation agreement and the
license to use agreement for each of the three financial years
ending 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 shall not exceed
HK$6.0 million, HK$22.0 million and HK$16.5 million.

The aggregate amount of the transactions attributable
to the above-mentioned agreements for the year ended
31 December 2018 was approximately HK$7.5 million.

The confirmatory agreement and cooperation agreement
were terminated in writing on 30 April 2018.
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Lai Ou Service Agreement

On 26 April 2018, the Company and Lai Ou Industrial Limited
("Lai Ou"), entered into a service agreement in relation to the
provision of the laundry management service to the Group.

Lai Ou is a company incorporated in Macau and is ultimately
owned by Mr David Chow and Ms Melinda Chan. Lai Ou is
an associate of Mr David Chow and is therefore a connected
person of the Company.

Pursuant to the service agreement, Lai Ou shall provide (i) the
exclusive area; (i) the management service for the laundry
service centre in such exclusive area, and (iii) the management,
maintenance and security service for such exlcusive area. As
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 26 April
2018, the annual cap for the aggregate amount payable by the
Group to Lai Ou pursuant to the service agreement for the two
financial years ending 31 December 2018 and 2019 shall not
exceed HK$14.0 million and HK$20.0 million.

The aggregate amount of the transactions attributable to the
above-mentioned agreement for the year ended 31 December
2018 was approximately HK$12.8 million.
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Continuing connected transactions which are subject to the
reporting, announcement, annual review and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements

(1) NLC Laundry Service Agreement

On 5 June 2013, the Company entered into the framework
agreement (the “NLC Laundry Service Agreement”) with
New Legend Club Laundry Company Ltd. (“NLC Laundry”)
for the procurement of laundry and cleaning services for the
Group for an initial term commencing from the Listing Date to
31 December 2015. On 24 April 2014, the Company entered
into the supplemental agreement to amend the terms to
a period from 24 April 2014 to 31 December 2016, and to
specify the pricing policy. On 7 November 2016, the Company
renewed the supplemental agreement (“the Supplemental
NLC Laundry Service Agreement”) to amend the terms to a
period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019 and to
adjust the corresponding annual caps. The other terms of the
NLC Laundry Service Agreement remain unchanged.

As NLC Laundry is ultimately owned by Ms Melinda Chan
and Mr David Chow, NLC Laundry is an associate of Mr David
Chow and is therefore a connected person of the Company.

Pursuant to the NLC Laundry Service Agreement and
Supplemental NLC Laundry Service Agreement, the Group
shall procure the laundry and cleaning services at the service
fees or purchase prices as shall be determined based on an
arm’s length negotiation and by reference to prevailing market
rates for comparable types of services as Supplemental NLC
Laundry Service Agreement in the same industry based on the
market research conducted by parties thereto from time to
time. The transactions contemplated under the Supplemental
NLC Laundry Service Agreement are subject to the new
annual caps of HK$26.2 million, HK$28.0 million and HK$36.1
million for each of the financial years ending 31 December
2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively.

The amounts paid/payable by the Group to the NLC Laundry
under the Supplemental NLC Laundry Service Agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2018 was approximately
HK$6.1 million.
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Chong Son Construction Services Agreement

On 5 June 2013, the Company entered into a framework
agreement (the “Chong Son Construction Services Agreement”)
with Chong Son Construction Company Ltd. (“Chong Son") for the
procurement of construction and renovation work of The Landmark
Macau and MFW for an initial term commencing from the Listing
Date to 31 December 2015. On 24 April 2014, the Company
and Chong Son entered into a supplemental agreement (the
“Supplemental Chong Son Construction Services Agreement”,
together with the Chong Son Construction Services Agreement
referred to as the “Chong Son Agreements”) to amend the term to
a period from 24 April 2014 to 31 December 2016, and to specify
the pricing policy. On 7 November 2016, the Company and Chong
Son renewed the Chong Son Agreements for a term of three
years from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019, and to adjust
the corresponding annual caps. The other terms of the Chong Son
Construction Services Agreement remain unchanged.

As Chong Son is owned by Mr Tang Mun Kong and Madam
Tang Lai Ngo, each of whom is an associate of Mr David
Chow, Chong Son is an associate of Mr David Chow and is
therefore a connected person of the Company.

Pursuant to the Chong Son Agreements, the Group shall
procure construction and renovation for the Group at the fees
as determined based on an arm’s length negotiation and by
reference to the prevailing market price for comparable types
of services in the same industry based on the market research
conducted by the parties to the Chong Son Agreements from
time to time. The new annual cap for total construction and
renovation fees paid or payable by the Group to Chong Son
for each of the three financial years ending 31 December
2017, 2018 and 2019 shall not exceed HK$55.5 million,
HK$61.0 million and HK$77.0 million, respectively.
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The amount of construction and renovation fees paid/payable
by the Group to Chong Son for the provision of construction
services under the Chong Son Agreements for the year ended
31 December 2018 was approximately HK$0.7 million.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions for the year ended
31 December 2018 and have confirmed that the transactions
have been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or
better; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board
engaged the auditor of the Company to report on the
continuing connected transactions of the Group. The auditor
was engaged in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”
and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the HKICPA. The auditor has reported
to the Board and issued an unqualified letter containing
their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group above in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS — INDIRECT
PARTICIPATION IN THE GAMING PROMOTION
BUSINESS THROUGH NEW LEGEND

Reference is made to pages 225 to 230 of the Prospectus and the
announcement published by the Company on 31 December 2013.
The Company intends to participate in the gaming promotion
business indirectly through the VIE Structure in order to diversify
its business and increase the revenue contribution from the VIP
tables. However, the Company is not allowed under Macau laws
to participate directly in the gaming promotion business through
a subsidiary. Shareholders of any corporate gaming promoter
must be natural persons. As a result, the Group adopted the VIE
Structure by entering into the VIE Agreements among Hong Hock,
New Legend and Mr Frederick Yip, where appropriate, which would
allow the Group to indirectly participate in the gaming promotion
business and have a greater control over the management and
marketing of the VIP rooms operated by New Legend in the casinos
located in its properties, as well as enhance its market footprint and
receive a higher percentage of gross gaming revenue generated
by the gaming tables in these VIP rooms.

Information of New Legend

New Legend is a company incorporated in Macau by Mr Frederick
Yip, as the sole shareholder and sole director, which engages in the
gaming promotion business in Macau. New Legend first obtained
a gaming promoter licence from the DICJ on 10 June 2013, which
was subsequently renewed by the DICJ on 12 December 2013. The
current gaming promoter licence of New Legend is valid until 31
December 2019 and has to be renewed upon submission of an
application to the DICJ each year.

Mr Frederick Yip is the sole shareholder and sole director of New
Legend. He was appointed as the executive vice president, head
of casino operations of the Company on 5 June 2013. For further
information of his background, please refer to the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
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Revenue and assets subject to the VIE Agreements

The amount of revenue and assets subject to the VIE Agreements
attributable to the Group accounted for approximately 7.8% and
approximately 1.4% of the consolidated revenue and consolidated
total assets, respectively, of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2018.

Summary of the major terms of the VIE Agreements

The VIE Agreements currently in effect comprise (i) the Exclusive
Management and Consultancy Services Agreement; (ii) the
Exclusive Undertaking to Sell Agreement; (iii) the Transfer of Profit
and Loan Agreement; (iv) the Share and Equity Pledge Agreement;
and (v) the Power of Attorney entered into among Hong Hock, New
Legend and Mr Frederick Yip, where appropriate.

A summary of the major terms of the VIE Agreements are set
out below:

(i)  Exclusive Management and Consultancy Services Agreement

Date: 16 April 2014
Parties: (a) Hong Hock; and (b) New Legend

Term: Effective upon the satisfaction of the conditions
precedent under the VIE Agreements (the
“Conditions”)andshallterminate uponthetermination
of the Service Agreement. Hong Hock may terminate
the Exclusive Management and Consultancy Services
Agreement at any time by delivering a written notice
to New Legend. In no circumstances shall New
Legend have any right to terminate the Exclusive
Management and Consultancy Services Agreement
other than as required by applicable law.
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Subject: New Legend shall engage Hong Hock on an exclusive

basis to provide comprehensive management and
consultancy services in relation to the VIP room(s)
promoted by New Legend for SIM from time to time
(the "Consultancy Services”).

In consideration of the provision of the Consultancy
Services, New Legend agrees to pay the fees due from
SJM to Hong Hock, which will be equivalent to 100%
of the total before-income-tax consolidated profits
of New Legend (such profits to be calculated after
deducting all reasonably incurred costs, expenses
and taxes (except income taxes) in connection with
the business operation of New Legend).

In the event of a gross gaming loss incurred in the VIP
room(s) promoted by New Legend for any given month,
Hong Hock agrees that New Legend shall not be required
to reimburse and indemnify Hong Hock any amount as
New Legend's pro-rata share in the losses and expenses
of such VIP room(s) promoted by New Legend pursuant
to the cooperation agreement entered into between
Hong Hock and New Legend dated 3 July 2013. As a
result, in the event of a gross gaming loss incurred in the
VIP room(s) promoted by New Legend, Hong Hock shall
bear 57% (that is, including the share of gross gaming loss
of New Legend prior to the VIE Structure) of the gross
gaming loss incurred in such VIP room(s).
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(i) Exclusive Undertaking to Sell Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Subject:

16 April 2014

(a) Hong Hock; (b) New Legend; and
(c) Mr Frederick Yip

Effective upon the satisfaction of the Conditions and
shall terminate upon the termination of the Service
Agreement. Hong Hock may, at its discretion,
terminate the Exclusive Undertaking to Sell
Agreement by written notice to Mr Frederick Yip and
New Legend. In no circumstances shall Mr Frederick
Yip and/ or New Legend have any right to terminate
the Exclusive Undertaking to Sell Agreement other
than as required by applicable law.

Mr Frederick Yip shall irrevocably and unconditionally
undertake to sell to Hong Hock or any person or
persons designated by Hong Hock (the “Designated
Persons”) at its option at any time and from time to
time, to the extent permitted under the laws and
regulations of Macau and subject to the consent
from the DICJ, all or a portion of Mr Frederick Yip's
share and equity interests in New Legend (including
all present and future rights and benefits based on
the current share and equity interests in New Legend
held by Mr Frederick Yip and any additional interests
in New Legend acquired by Mr Frederick Yip
subsequent to the date of the Exclusive Undertaking
to Sell Agreement).

New Legend shall irrevocably and unconditionally
undertake to sell to Hong Hock or the Designated
Persons at its option at any time and from time to
time, to the extent permitted under the laws and
regulation of Macau and subject to the consent from
the DICJ, all or a portion of the assets of New Legend
(including all existing assets and any additional assets
of New Legend acquired subsequent to the date of
the Exclusive Undertaking to Sell Agreement).

Hong Hock may exercise its rights under the Exclusive
Undertaking to Sell Agreement at any time and in
any manner at its sole discretion, and the exercise
price of each of the rights would be one hundred
thousand Patacas (MOP100,000).

Mr Frederick Yip shall undertake that, among other
things, he shall not sell, transfer, mortgage, create
any security interest in, or dispose of in any other
form, any legal or beneficial interest in his share and
equity interest in New Legend, and that, among other
things, he shall not alter, amend or revise the articles
of association of New Legend in any way, increase or
decrease the registered capital of New Legend, or
change the structure of the registered capital of New
Legend, in any form.
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(iii) Transfer of Profit and Loan Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Subject:

16 April 2014

(a) Hong Hock; (b) New Legend; and
(c) Mr Frederick Yip

Effective upon the satisfaction of the Conditions and
shall terminate upon repayment in full of the loan
by New Legend and the performance and discharge
of all of its obligations under the Transfer of Profit
and Loan Agreement. In no circumstances shall New
Legend or Mr Frederick Yip be entitled to cancel or
terminate the Transfer of Profit and Loan Agreement.

New Legend agrees to transfer and pay to Hong
Hock all profits (if any) accrued by New Legend from
3 July 2013 until the commencement of the VIE
Structure within five days following the satisfaction
of the Conditions.

In support of the day-to-day operations of New Legend,
Hong Hock agrees to, at its discretion, make available
an interest-free revolving loan to New Legend from
time to time (the “Loan”) as working capital for the
operation of the gaming promotion business of New
Legend, including, but not limited to, for the purposes of
extending credits to its VIP patrons and paying its share
of gross gaming loss suffered by New Legend (if any) in
conducting its gaming promotion business in VIP room(s)
promoted by New Legend for SJM from time to time.

The Loan shall be repayable upon the occurrence of
an accelerating event, for example, Mr Frederick Yip's
employment with the Group is terminated or otherwise
ceases, Mr Frederick Yip or New Legend becomes
bankrupt or insolvent, or bankruptcy or insolvency
proceedings are initiated with respect to Mr Frederick Yip
or New Legend, or in the sole opinion of Hong Hock, the
Loan should be immediately repayable by New Legend.

In the event that the Loan becomes repayable and
New Legend fails to repay all or part of the Loan and
such failure continues for a period of 10 days after
a written notice from Hong Hock to New Legend
specifying such failure is served on Hong Hock,
Hong Hock shall be entitled to enforce the share and
equity pledge under the Share and Equity Pledge
Agreement, and a default interest rate of 2% per
annum shall be applied to the outstanding Loan.



(iv) ROREZZFiGE

SEi

koY

B

o}

—ZE-MENA+RA

(2)%61E : (b)FEE : &
(EHRHLE

B 3 B IR 1 AR A S R TR BE AR B
TERBRAEBEREENFK
RS W% - MBS I B AR
& BEas RERBELR
B (B %S &L EMZ
FipE (B INRIER] - (B2
FRINBEREAEHLEH)
ETHEE([BERET])E
EEER N BRREER o ME
BB RENHETER
BEMREML  ABERERERE
Pt B e 2 10 o e 2 MR R Y

HRBEENTER -

HRERLEARBREESR

BB E MR ERBE R ERH
BRAEFHEN BN KR
fErEm (B E RN RIERE
SELNMAERE RARE R
KHE) - AR ks E
HipE AR ERELLERE
B R B LR (E AR SME
& MMEREITEENEMEN
HEBRERER Z2BD
FLERD B MBS R R
ERHEA -

EEHE(R)
DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

(iv) Share and Equity Pledge Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Subject:

16 April 2014

(a) Hong Hock; (b) New Legend; and
(c) Mr Frederick Yip

Effective upon the satisfaction of the Conditions and
shall remain in effect until all of the obligations of Mr
Frederick Yip and New Legend under the Exclusive
Management and Consultancy Services Agreement,
the Exclusive Undertaking to Sell Agreement, the
Transfer of Profit and Loan Agreement and the
Power of Attorney (including each and every renewal
or replacement of such agreements or any such
agreements as amended, modified or supplemented
from time to time) (the “Secured Obligations”) are
satisfied and discharged in full. Hong Hock shall be
entitled to enforce the pledge against Mr Frederick
Yip in accordance with the terms of the Share and
Equity Pledge Agreement in the event that Mr
Frederick Yip fails to pay or perform any of the
Secured Obligations.

Mr Frederick Yip shall agree to pledge all share
and equity interests in New Legend legally held by
Mr Frederick Yip (including all present and future
rights and benefits derived from such share and
equity interests), and any additional interests in
New Legend acquired or held by Mr Frederick Yip
subsequent to the date of the Share and Equity
Pledge Agreement to Hong Hock, as continuing first
priority collateral security for the performance of the
Secured Obligations at a fixed sum, which the amount
is set in the Share and Equity Pledge Agreement for
registration purposes.
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(v)

Power of Attorney

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Subject:

16 April 2014
(a) Mr Frederick Yip; and (b) Hong Hock

Effective upon execution and shall continue to be
valid during the period Mr Frederick Yip remains a
shareholder of New Legend.

Mr Frederick Yip shall, among other things,
irrevocably and unconditionally undertake to
authorise Hong Hock or any members of the board of
directors of Hong Hock and their respective estates,
successors, assignees or liquidators to exercise on
his behalf the full shareholder's rights under the
articles of association of New Legend and applicable
Macau laws and regulations in respect of his share
and equity interest in New Legend, including but
not limited to (i) the right to request for, convene
and attend shareholder’s meetings, and pass and
execute shareholder’s resolutions of New Legend,
(ii) the right to vote in a shareholder’'s meeting,
sign minutes, and file documents with the relevant
companies registry, and (i) all shareholder’s rights
prescribed by applicable laws and regulations and
the articles of association of New Legend, including,
without limitation to, the right to appoint and remove
directors and senior management, voting rights, the
rights to sell, transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose
of all or part of the rights relating to his share and
equity interest in New Legend and/or assets of New
Legend, the right to receive surplus assets (if any)
after settlement of all outstanding liabilities upon
liquidation of New Legend and the right to demand
payment of, and receive dividends declared by,
New Legend.
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As indicated on page 230 of the Prospectus, the Company
would treat Mr Frederick Yip as a connected person and will
comply with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of
any transactions between the Group, Mr Frederick Yip and
New Legend upon commencement of the VIE Structure.
Accordingly, the entering into of the VIE Agreements also
constitutes a connected transaction and the transactions
contemplated under the VIE Structure constitute continuing
connected transactions for the Company. The entering into of
the VIE Agreements is subject to the reporting, announcement,
annual review and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

A wavier has been granted by the Stock Exchange regarding
strict compliance with the requirements of setting (i) a
fixed term for the VIE Agreements of no more than three
years pursuant to Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules; and (ii)
a maximum aggregate annual value (that is, an annual cap)
for the fees payable by New Legend to Hong Hock and the
amount of loan to be made available by Hong Hock to New
Legend under the VIE Structure pursuant to Rule 14A.53 of
the Listing Rules, subject to certain conditions. Further details
of the VIE Structure are set out in the Company’s circular
dated 9 June 2014.

The independent non-executive Directors reviewed the VIE
Structure annually and confirmed that: (i) the transactions
carried out during the year ended 31 December 2018 have been
entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the
VIE Structure, so that the revenue generated by New Legend
(after deducting all reasonably incurred costs, expenses, taxes
and working capital) has been substantially retained by Hong
Hock, (ii) no dividends or other distributions have been made
by New Legend to the holder(s) of its share and equity interests
which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred
to the Group; and (iii) no new contracts have been entered
into, renewed and/or cloned between the Group and New
Legend during the year ended 31 December 2018.

The auditor of the Company was engaged to report on the
transactions under the VIE Structure in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the HKICPA.
The auditor has reported to the Board and issued an
unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in
respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed
by the Group above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules.
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Risks associated with the VIE Structure

The risks associated with the VIE Structure were set out on pages
21 to 23 of the Company’s circular dated 9 June 2014 and are set
out below:

(1

(2)

Risks relating to the exposure to potentially higher gross
gaming loss

Under the current profit and loss sharing arrangements with
the designated gaming promoters, including New Legend
prior to the VIE Structure, the Group receives only 2% of
the gross gaming revenue generated from the VIP rooms
operated by such gaming promoters who receive 40%
of the gross gaming revenue and up to 15% of the gross
gaming revenue for expense reimbursement. In the event of
a gross gaming loss incurred in the VIP rooms, the Group
is responsible for only 2% and the gaming promoters are
responsible for 55% of the gross gaming loss incurred in such
VIP rooms promoted by them. While the indirect participation
in the gaming promotion business would allow the Group to
increase its share of the gross gaming revenue generated
from the VIP room(s) operated by New Legend to 42% and
receive expense reimbursement of up to 15% of the gross
gaming revenue, in the event of a gross gaming loss incurred
in the VIP room(s) operated by New Legend for any given
month, the Group shall bear 57% of the gross gaming loss
incurred in such VIP room(s).

Risks relating to the potential conflict of interests of
Mr Frederick Yip

Under the VIE Structure, the Group relies on New Legend and
Mr Frederick Yip's performance of their contractual obligations
to exercise effective control. However, Mr Frederick Yip may
not act in the best interests of the Group or may not perform
his obligations under the VIE Agreements. Such risks exist
and are expected to continue to exist throughout the period
in which the Company intends to indirectly participate in the
gaming promotion business through the VIE Structure. In
addition, as the Company is advised by its insurance brokers
that the enforcement of the VIE Agreement is considered as a
business or trade risk, which is generally not a subject which
is capable to be insured, the Company has not purchased any
insurance to cover the risks relating to the enforcement of the
VIE Agreements. Therefore, the VIE Structure may not be as
effective as direct ownership in providing the Company with
control over New Legend.
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Mr Frederick Yip is the sole shareholder and sole director
of New Legend. The Company provides no incentives to
Mr Frederick Yip for the purpose of encouraging him to act
in the Company’s best interests in his capacity as the sole
shareholder and sole director of New Legend. Although
the Company may, upon approval from the DICJ, replace
the shareholder of New Legend pursuant to the Exclusive
Undertaking to Sell Agreement, and Mr Frederick Yip has
executed the Power of Attorney to authorise Hong Hock or
members of the board of directors of Hong Hock and their
respective estates, successors, assignees or liquidators to
exercise on his behalf the full shareholder’s rights in respect
of his share and equity interests in New Legend, the Company
cannot assure that when conflicts arise, Mr Frederick Yip will
act in the best interests of the Company or that the conflicts
will be resolved in favour of the Company.

Risks relating to the obtaining of DICJ approval

The Company adopts the VIE Structure in order to indirectly
participate in the gaming promotion business and will unwind
the VIE Structure as soon as the law allows the gaming
promotion business in Macau to be operated without the
VIE Structure. However, the Company’s acquisition of Mr
Frederick Yip's share and equity interest in New Legend and/
or assets of New Legend may only be conducted to the extent
as permitted by applicable Macau laws and will be subject
to the required approvals and procedures under applicable
Macau laws and may also be subject to substantial costs.

Risks relating to the loss of gaming promoter licence

The current gaming promoter licence of New Legend is
valid until 31 December 2019 and has to be renewed upon
submission of an application to the DICJ each year. The
renewal application must include a declaration duly signed by
the legal representative of SUM stating an interest in working
with New Legend in the year after the renewal application.
The DICJ may, at its discretion, set conditions for renewal of
the gaming promoter licence. The gaming promoter licence
of New Legend may or may not be successfully renewed each
year. If New Legend fails to renew its gaming promoter licence,
it will be prohibited from conducting gaming promotion
activities, which will affect the implementation of the VIE
Structure. In this event, the business, financial condition and
results of operations of the Group may be materially and
adversely affected.
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(5)

(6)

Risks relating to the termination of the gaming
promotion agreement

Pursuant to the gaming promotion agreement entered into
between New Legend and SJM dated 20 June 2013, the
agreement may be terminated (i) by mutual agreement, or (ii)
if any party to the agreement cannot carry out its obligations
under the agreement and this results in a material breach of
the terms of the agreement. If New Legend fails to carry out
its obligations under the gaming promotion agreement and
this results in a material breach of the terms of the agreement,
SJM may terminate the gaming promotion agreement. If the
gaming promotion agreement is terminated, New Legend
may not be able to conduct its gaming promotion business
until a new gaming promotion agreement is entered into
with SJM, which will affect the implementation of the VIE
Structure. In this event, the business, financial condition and
results of operations of the Group may be materially and
adversely affected.

Risks relating to the VIE Agreements

The Company is not allowed under Macau laws to participate
directly in the gaming promotion business through a
subsidiary. According to Article 4.1 of Macau Administration
Regulation No. 6/2002 (as amended by Macau Administration
Regulation No. 27/2009), shareholders of any corporate
gaming promoter must be natural persons. Given the legal
restrictions and after having considered the business potential
of gaming promotion, the Company intends to participate
in the gaming promotion business indirectly through the
VIE Structure in order to diversify its business and increase
the revenue contribution from the VIP tables. The Group
obtained the requisite approval from the DICJ on 6 February
2014. Notwithstanding that the Group has obtained approval
from the DICJ, the DICJ may withdraw or revoke the approval
at their discretion if they consider that the VIE Structure does
not comply with applicable laws and regulations which are
in force in Macau from time to time, and the Company may
be prohibited from indirectly participating in the gaming
promotion business through the VIE Structure. In this event,
the business, financial condition and results of operations of
the Group may be materially and adversely affected.



(7)

(8)

HEFARBEEF BB ER

MBS KEEEAENA EARENRE
NEHEEEBRESIEEREF - B1EAT
EBERPINEAFEIEL PN AGLE
BTAREAEABIT S BMBHROTFY
FAE MABRARITREREEAEA
IR - MBS HFHFEEAREAR
EA > B R AEBHER - MR
REBEBEMRERIERTHNTE -

AEBE BB EEE P A AL T 8l 2 )
BEENEEENREERRABIETR
BR1T R AF SR AIE NG RR o RBE MBS B3R
ZEAENCAHTRREENEEERT
1B o I BRZSTENAEmBRER
HAEBWMBBERBEANNEZE - K
HAEBEWER  RERE - BHKIOR -
BERADASERTHE

HENBROEEEFREAEERHBLY
= E B

ER—AFBRELHNA - FEKATRE
EEFFPRHAGE - AWM - HBK AR
(B FZrikE (BT E) A
FEI NTTA BEREFHEORMEEA
B EIER - B HAlgeEAEH MR
FREBEEENBEBEETNEE - [
BREF KO EEES XA RNEHX
REBEIZETEFPAEENEINEXN
EHMAEPE -  KREZEREZARK
SHARKENER - MR EERE
ERERNTHMEZE -

(7)

(8

EEHE(R)
DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Risks relating to collaborators and VIP patrons

New Legend relies on the services of the collaborators which
work with it to market its business and attract VIP patrons.
The collaborators may choose to work with any licensed
gaming promoters in Macau. There is no assurance that the
collaborators will not work with competitors of New Legend
and New Legend may lose the services of its collaborators
in the future. If New Legend loses a significant number of
its collaborators to its competitors, the business, financial
condition and results of operations of New Legend and the
Group may be materially and adversely affected.

The Group recognises the possibility that VIP patrons may
attempt or commit fraud or cheat in order to increase
winnings, at times in collusion with the employees in the
VIP room(s) promoted by New Legend. Failure to discover
such schemes in a timely manner could result in losses in the
VIP room(s) promoted by New Legend. In addition, negative
publicity related to such schemes could have a material and
adverse effect on the Group’s reputation, thereby adversely
affecting the business, cash flow, financial condition, results
of operations and prospects of the Group.

Risks relating to the exposure to credit risk on credit
extended to VIP patrons by New Legend

As a licensed gaming promoter, New Legend may extend
credits to its VIP patrons. However, New Legend may not
have access to a forum in which it will be able to collect
gaming debts because, among other reasons, courts of
many jurisdictions, including China, do not enforce gaming
debts. Further, it may be unable to locate assets in other
jurisdictions against which to seek recovery of gaming
debts. The collectability of gaming debts from international
customers could be negatively affected by future business
or economic trends or by significant events in the countries
in which these customers reside. Failure to minimize such
risk exposure may materially and adversely affect the
business, financial condition and results of operations of
the Group.
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Actions taken to mitigate the above risks

The Group has adopted the following measures to mitigate the
above risks:

(a)

(9)

the Board has reviewed on a regular basis major issues arising
from implementation of the VIE Agreements as part of the
internal control measures;

the Board has discussed and reviewed regularly to ensure that
the operations of the VIE Structure comply with the applicable
laws and regulations;

the Group has adopted internal control and anti-money
laundering policies and related procedures in relation to the
gaming promotion business which are currently adopted by
New Legend since the commencement of the VIE Structure;

the independent non-executive Directors had conducted and
will continue to conduct annual reviews on the VIE Agreements
to ensure that they are fair and reasonable and in the best
interests of the Group and its Shareholders as a whole;

the auditor of the Company had been engaged to provide
an independent assurance report on continuing connected
transactions contemplated under the VIE Agreements as
disclosed in this annual report;

the Group has retained legal adviserand/or other professionals
to assist the Group in dealing with specific issues arising from
the continuing connected transactions in accordance with VIE
Agreements; and

the senior management of the Company has regularly
reported to the Board on the operations of New Legend.

Change of circumstances

As at the date of this annual report, there has been no material
change in the VIE Agreements and/or the circumstances under
which they were adopted. The restriction under Macau laws for
participation directly in the gaming promotion business through a
subsidiary of the Company is still in existence.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are reviewed and determined by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to, inter alia, the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company's securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As stated in the Supplemental Prospectus, the Company has
applied for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from
strict compliance with the minimum public float requirement of
25% and the Stock Exchange accepted a lower percentage of
19.04% (the “Public Float Waiver”). Based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of
the Directors, as at the date of this annual report, the Company
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules and
as required by the Public Float Waiver.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In 2018, the five largest customers of the Group accounted for
approximately 64.8% of the Group's revenue with the largest
customer, SJM, accounted for approximately 59.1% of the
Group's revenue.

In 2018, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for
approximately 44.7% of the Group's total purchases with the
largest supplier accounted for approximately 22.4% of the Group's
total purchases.

At no time during the year did a Director, a close associate of a
Director or a shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge
of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company's share
capital) have an interest in any of the Group'’s five largest customers
or suppliers.
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DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year under review, save as disclosed in the section
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the
Prospectus, none of the Directors is considered to have interests in
a business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, as defined in the
Listing Rules.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Mr David Chow, Madam Lam, All Landmark and Grand Bright, being
controlling shareholders of the Company, entered into a deed of
non-competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) dated 5 June
2013, details of which have been set out in the paragraph headed
“Deed of Non-Competition” in the section headed “Relationship
with Controlling Shareholders” of the Prospectus.

The Company has received the annual declaration from each of
its controlling shareholders on compliance with their undertakings
under the Deed of Non-Competition. The independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the status of compliance
and confirmed that all the undertakings under the Deed of
Non-Competition have been complied with by the controlling
shareholders of the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

SJM has provided with the Group a confirmation dated 8 March
2019 that its anti-money laundering policies and procedures
implemented in the casinos and gaming premises at The Landmark
Macau and MFW were in full compliance with the applicable legal
and regulatory requirements of the Macau government for the
financial year ended 31 December 2018.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the 2019 AGM to re-appoint
Messrs Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Chow Kam Fai, David
Co-chairman, executive Director and chief executive officer
28 March 2019
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MACAU LEGEND
DEVELOPMENT LIMITED

BABRAZRERAR

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Macau
Legend Development Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 118 to 232,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

Impairment of goodwill in relation to Macau Fisherman’s Wharf
Group ("MFW Group”)

We identified impairment of goodwill in relation to MFW Group
as a key audit matter due to significant management judgement
involved in determining the recoverable amount of the goodwill for
impairment assessment.

As set out in notes 4 and 22 to the consolidated financial
statements, impairment of goodwill in relation to MFW Group is
assessed by comparing the recoverable amount of MFW Group,
being a single cash-generating unit (the “CGU") for the purpose of
impairment testing of the goodwill, to its carrying values at the end
of each reporting period. Significant judgements and assumptions
are required by the management in assessing the impairment of
goodwill, which are determined with reference to the present value
of the estimated future cash flows arising from MFW Group with
key assumptions including expected changes to revenue and direct
costs, suitable discount rates and growth rates in order to calculate
the recoverable amount of the CGU.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, goodwill of HK$681,986,000 relating to
MFW Group is fully impaired.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to evaluating the
appropriateness of the management’s impairment assessment of
goodwill included:

. Obtaining an understanding on the Group's cash flow forecast
preparation process and impairment assessment process;

. Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions made
by the management in determining the recoverable amount of
the CGU, including discount rates, growth rates and expected
changes to revenue and direct costs, with the involvement of
our valuation expert; and

. Evaluating the key inputs adopted in the cash flow forecast
by comparing to the historical performance, the most recent
actual performance and the existing extension of properties
under construction of MFW Group.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

Recoverability of refundable deposit for a potential long-term
investment project

We identified the recoverability of the refundable deposit for a
potential long-term investment project (the “Deposit”) in respect
of the Group'’s proposed development project in Cambodia (the
“Transaction”) as a key audit matter due to the uncertainty of
the timing on when the Transaction can be completed and the
recoverability of the Deposit thereon if the Transaction is not
going to proceed further.

As disclosed in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Deposit of HK$697,824,000 was paid as at 31 December 2018
and as set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
the management of the Group considered that the Deposit shall
be used to settle the consideration in full for the Transaction, and
that such deposit could be fully refunded from the vendor in the
event that it fails to complete the Transaction within 12 months
from the signing of the sale and purchase deed or any agreed
extension.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to recoverability of the Depositincluded:

. Obtaining an understanding from the management of the
details of the proposed development project in Cambodia,
and status and progress of the Transaction;

. Obtaining confirmation with respect to the deposit amount
and refundable clause of the Deposit as at 31 December
2018;

. Reviewing the relevant correspondences and documents

provided by the management and to evaluate the status and
progress of the Transaction; and

. Discussing with management on the likelihood of completion
of the Transaction.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does notinclude the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.



REMRET FEMBRREAENER

BN ER  REGEMBREAEEES A
BRI ERMERN BB REULISAE
REE - WIRBEMBENEBETERDRER
HABBREMEENZBENRSE  RILAS - &
PR E TR AERMAE - AL THRARS
ZAREERE A A LA ER B E IR IR
£% - SEREESKENRE - BTRERER
RCEBBITERD)ETHER - BREBEREK
SEERBROM (8 EF7ERF ) o 8RR PR 7T DA iy BRFE
HEEREIE - MRAEBRHEMEFHERLK
AR B A M BRI EAE KBRS MHRE
FYEH B EDRTE » BIA B A £8 AR BRI AT 4 AR 4
BX-

ERB(EBEFER) ETEANBRED
BRIERTEXHAE RS TEXREEE -
HAITR

o BAIMFHEBRRFFRERMEBERA M
BHERFEERERBANRR - RET R
MITEAREAAEY LR - A RER
FRMEENETRE  ERAEMERD
Eif o AREFFAIRES R BR - B - &
BER  ERRM - SORBERAREREL
- EREEHIREA MM RO E A
ARER ALY R S AR BE B IR R ER AR T E B
HBE AR R -

o  ERERFTHEMNAIEE  URFTEE
MEFERF - BEEMNLIFYE BSEERI
EERNBRERERER -

BYZBERE ()

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

] Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Au Mei Yin.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE-F-N\FT-A=+-ALEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018

—EB-N\F —E—+F
2018 2017
FEE FET FET
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Wz Revenue 5 1,865,383 1,836,057
$HE R BRIGA AR Cost of sales and services (1,346,618) (1,341,174)
518,765 494,883
B - Was M EE Other income, gains and losses 7 133,011 (65,442)
HE—REfRB AR Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 33 3,430,078 -
TRUEE 2 REEE Impairment losses on financial assets 9 (108,573) -
8 REEE Impairment loss on goodwill (681,986) -
EMEEEE CRERIE Impairment losses on other intangible assets (97,377) -
MEHEEREERE Marketing and promotional expenses (194,000) (183,791)
28 TTE N EAMRE Operating, administrative and other expenses (439,393) (576,138)
BhE A Finance costs 8 (109,344) (103,751)
BRI AT & A (E18) Profit (loss) before taxation 12 2,451,181 (434,239)
RS i it Income tax expenses 13 (485,075) (73,102)
FRAEF(EIE) Profit (loss) for the year 1,966,106 (507,341)
Hitp 2 (B WA - Other comprehensive (expense) income:
HigngEfsriziens Item that may be reclassified subsequently
HA - to profit or loss:
MEBINER 2 EH Z5R Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations (9,063) 51,222
FR2EWBA(FAX)E5E Total comprehensive income (expense) for
the year 1,957,043 (456,119)
SRAEF(EE) Earnings (loss) per share 15
- EARGEW) — Basic (HK cents) 31.4 (8.1)
M8 =mrmmazarazs 2085%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZZE-NF+ZA=+—H
At 31 December 2018

—EB-N\F —TE—+F
2018 2017
MI5E FH&x BT
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
IEREEE Non-current assets
REME Investment properties 17 328,870 340,133
I EISE Property and equipment 18 6,454,850 6,428,651
JENEEFRE Prepaid lease payments 19 1,256,559 1,299,223
B Goodwill 20 - 681,986
Hfipmp EE Other intangible assets 21 156,387 288,412
[EANEIZE Deposits paid 23 751,112 750,360
BAREFERBERIIKRZ Financial assets at fair value through
TS EE profit or loss 26 200,000 -
9,147,778 9,788,765
MENEE Current assets
FE Inventories 24 30,680 39,959
e EEHIE Prepaid lease payments 19 42,728 42,723
B 5 Rk E A R R IE Trade and other receivables 25 317,528 402,554
BRI TR Pledged bank deposits 27 6,525 8,086
REHIRTTIF R Short-term bank deposits 27 2,077 -
RITHEBRIRS Bank balances and cash 27 1,445,855 235,625
1,845,393 728,947
PEERFELENEE Assets classified as held for sale 16 = 1,159,112
1,845,393 1,888,059
mEaE Current liabilities
B 5 R H M ERRIE Trade and other payables 28 673,028 1,308,058
e TR Taxation payable 415,925 1,650
BITREMER —R—FRWEIE  Bank and other borrowings — due within
one year 29 231,542 1,447,447
1,320,495 2,757,155
HABARIELENEER AN Liabilities associated with assets classified
afE as held for sale 16 = 727,230
1,320,495 3,484,385
RENEE(AE)FE Net current assets (liabilities) 524,898 (1,596,326)
BEERRSEE Total assets less current liabilities 9,672,676 8,192,439
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

RZZE—-NF+ZA=+—H
At 31 December 2018

—EB-N\F i
2018 2017
kg FHET TET
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FERBEE Non-current liabilities
RITRER — R —F1&5H Bank borrowings — due after one year 29 1,822,170 1,019,830
ERE R Loans from a shareholder 30 - 771,234
EEHIRAE Deferred tax liabilities 31 158,564 165,070
1,980,734 1,956,134
BEFE Net assets 7,691,942 6,236,305
PR R frE Capital and reserves
[N Share capital 32 626,758 626,758
s Reserves 7,065,184 5,609,547
R iATE Total equity 7,691,942 6,236,305
HERENBE2NENGEUBRRN N The consolidated financial statements on pages 118 to 232 were
FZA-TN\AREESHEREETIE X H approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
NTEREREXEE 28 March 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:
ARiE Sheldon Trainor-DeGirolamo
EF EF
Chow Kam Fai, David Sheldon Trainor-DeGirolamo
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

B2 \F+=-ZA=+—HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

&N RARE Hitn it SEERE BERE REBF ko)
Share Share Other Legal Translation Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(BEE () (B3E (i)
(Note (i) (Note (ii)
R=F—tF—HA—H At 1 January 2017 626,758 4,233,248 (323,835) - (18,162) 2,174,415 6,692,424
FREE Loss for the year - - - - - (507,341) (507,341)
FREMEEKE Other comprehensive income
for the year - - - - 51,222 - 51,222
FREERA(FRR) 25 Total comprehensive income
(expense) for the year - - - - 51,222 (507,341) (456,119)
RZZE—t+=ZA=+—H  At31December 2017 626,758 4,233,248 (323,835) - 33,060 1,667,074 6,236,305
FEREF Profit for the year - - - - - 1,966,106 1,966,106
FREMEBEFX Other comprehensive expense
for the year - - - - (9,063) - (9,063)
FR2EE(AS)WALE Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year - - - - (9,063) 1,966,106 1,957,043
ERERERE Transfer to legal reserve - - - 3,990 - (3,990) -
BERZEFRIRE Special dividend declared
(HMtzE14) (note 14) - - - - - (501,406) (501,406)
RZZ—\F+ZA=1+—H At31 December 2018 626,758 4,233,248 (323,835) 3,990 23,997 3,127,784 7,691,942
5T Notes:
(i) AN B H At R AN A B UE R B R AR (i) The other reserve of the Group represents the difference between the

BOHEERARARAR _ZERF+ _AKEHSE
AR SB EITN AR RO EENZHE -

RREBARREIHMBE([ZBWEHEE B
EMAMOMBARAKSESFMETLR
10% M EY BANEBRELEHEE  BEESHE
MEREMB AR Z —=

[

nominal value of the shares of subsidiaries acquired by the Company and
the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued for acquisition at
the time of group reorganisation in December 2006.

In accordance with the Enterprise Law of Lao People’s Democratic
Republic (“Lao PDR"), the subsidiary registered in Lao PDR is required to
transfer part of its profits of each accounting period of not less than 10%
to its legal reserve, until the amount reaches an amount equal to half of
the share capital of the respective subsidiary.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

st 3

2—\E+=A=+—AILERE

For the year ended 31 December 2018

—EB-N\F —E—+F
2018 2017
s FHBT TET
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
LERE) Operating activities
AT EF(EE) Profit (loss) before taxation 2,451,181 (434,239)
ERTIEELRE . Adjustments for:
FEWA Interest income (25,401) (84)
FEMZ Interest expenses 109,344 103,751
REIRNE HE1E (W ) /F 58 Unrealised exchange loss (gain), net 1,323 (381)
FERE Allowance for inventories 5,502 291
REYEITE Depreciation of investment properties 11,263 14,295
M RBINE Depreciation of property and equipment 344,907 390,825
HEMENRENER Loss on disposal of property and
equipment 841 427
ikt E JVE T Write-off of property and equipment 5,455 121,118
HAbh & E g Amortisation of other intangible assets 34,901 34,861
REREBHEFHE Allowance for bad and doubtful debts, net = 11,996
B 5 W IR E &1 Impairment losses on trade receivables 50,570 -
Hoqth FECRIB R (B B 18 Impairment losses on other receivables 58,003 -
HE—HEB AR Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (3,430,078) -
Hit B\ EE 2 RERE Impairment losses on other intangible
assets 97,377 -
&2 R EFE Impairment loss on goodwill 681,986 -
fRER TR E IR Release of prepaid lease payments 42,720 54,443
EEESEHRMNEERSME  Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital 439,894 297,303
FaR Decrease in inventories 3,876 1,386
B 5 REMBUGRIEEM)MKL  (Increase) decrease in trade and other
receivables (33,768) 23,507
B S REAENFIACR )0 (Decrease) increase in trade and other payables (91,122) 106,741
RESRE Cash generated from operations 318,880 428,937
[=ANIZIECT Income tax paid (77,306) (79,608)
EEEPMEREFR Net cash from operating activities 241,574 349,329
HEEH Investing activities
HE—HMBRRIZRER Net cash inflows from disposal of
RER a subsidiary 33 3,933,002 -
[SEERSN Interest received 19,332 84
RS EMRITFR Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 6,652 19,417
BEMERER Purchase of property and equipment (946,445) (470,395)
BEERANEFERBER Purchases of financial assets at fair
YR 2 B B E value through profit or loss (200,000) -
Bffee Deposits paid (31,149) (150,547)
FREERIRITER Placement of pledged bank deposits (5,091) (6,415)
TG HIRT TR X Placement of short-term bank deposits (2,077) -
HFEHEEEERIRS Deposits received in respect of assets held
for sale - 660,000
RERESMBIRE FE Net cash from investing activities 2,774,224 52,144
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

—EB-N\F —E—+F
2018 2017
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
L EE ) Financing activities
EERRER Repayments of loans from a shareholder (771,234) (238,766)
ERRE Dividend paid (501,406) -
ERIRIT R EMER Repayment of bank and other borrowings (465,600) (1,001,000)
ERFE Interest paid (130,991) (122,097)
EEEMER Other borrowings raised 40,000 -
ERER Loans from a shareholder - 1,010,000
BB EBFT AR FE Net cash used in financing activities (1,829,231) (351,863)
Re MRS EYEINFRE Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,186,567 49,610
RENER & RIRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
the year 262,260 207,878
HNEETE R F B R E Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (2,972) 4,772
RELNRE MRS EEY Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 1,445,855 262,260
ReRFFBMH Analysis of the cash and cash equivalents:
RITEB IR S Bank balances and cash 1,445,855 235,625
RITEHR AR (BREENEAR Bank balances and cash included in assets
BIEHEMNEENRN) classified as held for sale = 26,635
1,445,855 262,260
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Macau Legend Development Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands on 5 October 2006
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office
of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and the
principal place of business of the Company in Macau is Palace
Building, Macau Fisherman’s Wharf, Avenida da Amizade e
Avenida da Dr. Sun Yat Sen, Macau.

The Company is an investment holding company. Details of
the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out
in note 44. The Company and its subsidiaries are hereafter
collectively referred to as the "Group”. On 9 November 2017,
the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
independent third parties for the disposal of entire issued
share capital in New Macau Landmark Management Limited
("New Macau Landmark”) and all obligations, liabilities and
debts owing or incurred by New Macau Landmark to Hong
Hock Development Company Limited (“Hong Hock”). The
disposal was completed on 27 April 2018. As at 31 December
2018, the Group owned Macau Fisherman’s Wharf (“MFW")
in Macau and Savan Legend Resorts Hotel and Entertainment
Complex (“Savan Legend Resorts”) in Lao PDR. MFW s
a waterfront integrated gaming, hotel, convention and
entertainment complex located on the outer harbour of the
Macau Peninsula. Savan Legend Resorts is an integrated
resort which is engaged in casino and hotel business in
Lao PDR.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.
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TR REEE 9

HKFRS 9
AR ISImEZERIE 1557
HKFRS 15

FE(ERYBHRERERRS) —2BF 2%

HK(IFRIC) — Int 22
BB BRELERNE 25 (BETA)
Amendments to HKFRS 2

FRMBREENE 4R (EFTA)

Amendments to HKFRS 4

BRGHERE 285 (BRI AK)

Amendments to HKAS 28
BEGFHERIFE 405 (BT A)
Amendments to HKAS 40
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

TRIA
Financial Instruments
BRE Rz Y RABRIEET
Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the
related Amendments
HNERZ 5 RIENRE
Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
NG RERONRR S 2 D BENRTE
Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions
BEBN B WEERF 4R RO —HERANE BV BRELL
FoRemIE
Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts
ERBENBREL(ZE—NFE 2 REEM) 2 FEHEH
B—&n
As part of the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014 — 2016 Cycle
REMEEE

Transfers of Investment Property

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial performance and positions for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out
in these consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in the current
year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11
“Construction Contracts” and the related interpretations.

Information about the Group’s performance obligations and
the accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS
15 are disclosed in note 5 and 3.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initially applying this standard recognised
at the date of initial application, 1 January 2018. Any
difference at the date of initial application is recognised in
the opening retained earnings and comparative information
has not been restated. Furthermore, in accordance with the
transition provisions in HKFRS 15, the Group has elected
to apply the standard retrospectively only to contracts
that are not completed at 1 January 2018. Accordingly,
certain comparative information may not be comparable as
comparative information was prepared under HKAS 18 and
HKAS 11 and the related interpretations.

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 15

The directors of the Company have assessed the impact on
application of HKFRS 15 and concluded that the application
of HKFRS 15 had impact on presentation in the following area:

For the operation of a casino, in respect of goods and
services provided to customers on a complimentary basis
or related to the customer relationship programs, related
costs on providing the goods and services to customers
were previously included in marketing and promotional
expenses, prior to 1 January 2018. Upon the application of
HKFRS 15, these goods and services provided to customers
are accounted for as a separate performance obligation.
Transaction price is allocated to performance obligations for
providing gaming and hotel operation related services under
the relative stand-alone selling prices. When the goods and
services are provided to customers, revenue is recognised in
the respective category. Related costs on providing the goods
and services are recognised in cost of sales and services.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
(Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 15 (Continued)

The directors of the Company concluded there is no material
impact on the Group’s opening retained earnings at the date
of initial application, 1 January 2018.

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” and the related consequential amendments to
other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for 1)
the classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities, 2) expected credit losses (“ECL") for
financial assets and 3) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9. i.e. applied the
classification and measurement requirements (including
impairment) retrospectively to instruments that have not been
derecognised as at 1 January 2018 (date of initial application)
and has not applied the requirements to instruments that
have already been derecognised as at 1 January 2018. The
difference between carrying amounts as at 31 December 2017
and the carrying amounts as at 1 January 2018 are recognised
in the opening retained profits and other components of
equity, without restating comparative information.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared
under HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”.

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9 are
disclosed in note 3.

Summary of effect arising from initial application of
HKFRS 9

(i)  Classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities

The directors of the Company reviewed and assessed
the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities as at
1 January 2018 and concluded that there is no change in
classification and measurement on the Group’s financial
assets and financial liabilities.

(i) Impairment under ECL model

The Group applies HKFRS 9 simplified approach for
trade receivables to measure ECL which uses a lifetime
ECL. To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics.

ECL for other financial assets at amortised cost, including
other receivables, pledged bank deposits, short-term
bank deposits and bank balances are assessed on 12
months expected credit loss (“12m ECL") basis as there
had been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

As at 1 January 2018, no additional credit loss allowance
has recognised against retained profits.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HE!

Leases'

R B[R

Insurance Contracts?

RSBt IE Ry TNEE 1

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments'

(X5 HER?

Definition of a Business*

BB AMEZIRAETFIE

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation’

REEEAEBENARAECEZHNEEHERIIES

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?

HBER]IOEES

Definition of Material®

FTEMER - RS E

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement’

REFE R ARG ERENREER

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures'
BAMBHRELEN FERE(CE—AFEF—FHEH)
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015 - 2017 Cycle'

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

4 Effective for business combination for which the acquisition

date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis
of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer. In
addition, HKFRS 16 requires sales and leaseback transactions
to be determined based on the requirements of HKFRS 15
as to whether the transfer of the relevant asset should be
accounted as a sale. HKFRS 16 also includes requirements
relating to subleases and lease modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are
removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model
where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have
to be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-
term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease
liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the
lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as
well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others. For
the classification of cash flows, the Group currently presents
upfront prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows in
relation to leasehold lands for own use and those classified as
investment properties while other operating lease payments
are presented as operating cash flows. Under HKFRS 16, lease
payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a
principal and an interest portion which will be presented as
financing cash flows, and upfront prepaid lease payments will
continue to be presented as investing or operating cash flows
in accordance to the nature, as appropriate.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 "Leases” (Continued)

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised an asset
for prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands where the
Group is a lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may result in
potential changes in classification of these assets depending
on whether the Group presents right-of-use assets separately
or within the same line item at which the corresponding
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable
to lessor, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to
require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease
or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$35,948,000 as disclosed
in note 36. The Group’s assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these
leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of HK$868,000 and refundable rental deposits
received of HK$27,679,000 as rights and obligations under
leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition
of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not
payments relating to the right to use the underlying assets,
accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits may
be adjusted to amortised cost and such adjustments are
considered as additional lease payments. Adjustments to
refundable rental deposits paid would be considered as
additional lease payments and included in the carrying
amount of right-of-use assets. Adjustments to refundable
rental deposits received would be considered as advance
lease payments.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 "Leases” (Continued)

The application of new requirements may result in changes
in measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated
above. The Group will elect the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) — Int 4 “Determining
Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease” and not apply
this standard to contracts that were not previously identified
as containing a lease applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) — Int 4.
Therefore, the Group will not reassess whether the contracts
are, or contain a lease which already existed prior to the date
of initial application. Furthermore, the Group will elect the
modified retrospective approach for the application of HKFRS
16 as lessee and will recognise the cumulative effect of initial
application to opening retained earnings without restating
comparative information.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.



mE MR M ()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FTREFHBEER(E)

RABERNFFEZAMSE2EBEREKT
REPHEEEMWRKERBEASN
BB - Tz B2 A A E M
BEERABREXM - RETEENK
BENAAER  WHiE2EERTER
ETEERABEERBEEEENAGR
o AKEEERZERH NUFHE
BHmERPIEAER S FRERENRA
BENREEEEE  EBEEVBREE
BIZE 25% [ AR ) 2R AR 38 | SEE A IA
B BERNONRRS  BEESEL
F17TRBEEANEER S UREETT
HEAABEBRUELFEIAENTEA
FEGERE 2SR [FH] HAZRFE
BB ENE 36T [EERE] WE
FREEBRIN

FERMEENRAEFEFETZLEE
BRAGESLREERARERAEENE
BRELETHAESMREREERE
ENS —EM52EENEEKLBERRN

ak,
Be °

o - LM BREBTME - AR EFERE
RAEFENBABBNIERIEE LA
REFENBABBEEEBNERED
BRE— FRE=F  SHlwT -

s FERBABBRAAKERENGE
AEGSHHARNEEXBENER
ISR RE CRERE)

s FE_RBWABBRATERBEEXA
BEERREE -RANBRBHEEL
RZATBREARE &

s FEZHBABBREEXRAFBMNT
AERRARE -

TESHBEHEARTX °

BE_Z-\F+-_A=1t—HLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 "Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment
of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the
fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described
as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group
can access at the measurement date;

U Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2018 Annual Report 133



m RERHERRME(R)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BE-T—\F+-_A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

134

FTREFHBEER(E)
REEE

FAMBHRRESA AR EARRE REH
BRAMEGHNER(BEREBLEER)W
FHmE - AR TR TERER B
S :

o RIEMIRESTTEREN

o HMESEFRENMSHAEER
AEZERKZHEN R

o BRITEHEHENNUFERRR -

HMEEMBERLBR L =RE 6 AENE
fA—Rsk A EHIREE  AEEGHER
BHISH TR E T I Bl EE# A

HARBRPIRETT 2R EEREIERS
2o ERERENE T ANEEEREN A
BREESERET ZHBERER - A%
BEANSIRIRE T AN - A AEE
MEREN 2R ERERT R AR TEED
- AEBESERMEHEEEERBR -
BIEATRE

s AEEFARFEIARBHENE
MRERBEARBRERZIARRK
DR

s XEBZEMBRESBAIHEME
TERENBEERERE

o HitARTHELZEN Rk
o MFEEFEHRAE(BRERZABRAE
ZREBEN)BRAAKEBAEA

KW EIEGHBESD <N 2 EM
BINEERIBM

HPMBRARERLT 2018F K

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including structured
entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other
vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group’s other vote
holders or other parties;

o right arising from other contractual arrangements; and

o any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets, liabilities, income, equity, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9/HKAS
39 or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units (“CGUs") (or
groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently whenever
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
the carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit
or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent period.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the asset (or
disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed
sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss
of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of
that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group
will retain a non-controlling interest in the relevant subsidiary
after the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Non-current assets held for sale (Continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application
of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in note 2)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application
of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(Continued)

Contracts with multiple performance obligations
(including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations including obligation to provide goods or services
to customers on complementary basis or related to customer
relationship programs, the Group allocates the transaction
price to each performance obligation on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price at which the Group
wouldsell a promised good or service separately to a customer.
If a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable, the
Group estimates it using appropriate techniques such that
the transaction price ultimately allocated to any performance
obligation reflects the amount of consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the
promised goods or services to the customer.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the
other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to
a customer.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application
of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to
be provided by the other party.

Information about the Group’s performance obligations
resulting from application of HKFRS 15 are disclosed in note 5.

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for discounts.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured; when it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when specific
criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as
described below.

Revenue from operation of casino is measured by the
aggregate net difference between gaming wins and losses
less accruals for the estimated payouts of progressive slot
jackpots, with liabilities recognised for funds deposited
by players before gaming play occurs and for chips in the
players’ possession.

Revenue from operation of casino is recognised net of sales
incentives to players, including discounts, commissions
and points earned in customer loyalty programs, which are
required to be recorded as a reduction of revenue.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Revenue from hotel operations, food and beverage, sales
of merchandise and building management services are
recognised when the services are rendered and goods are
sold and it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the transaction will flow to the Group.

Revenue arising from provision of gaming related facilities,
gaming related general management services and indirect
participation in gaming promotion business is recognised
when the gaming facilities are provided and relevant services
have been rendered and the Group is entitled to the share of
net gaming wins of the casinos.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably.
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to
the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

The Group's accounting policy for recognition of licensing
income from investment properties under operating leases is
described under the accounting policy for leasing below.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation (including property under
construction for such purposes).

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of investment properties over their estimated useful lives
using the straight-line method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property
is derecognised.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment (other than construction in progress)
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such
properties are classified to the appropriate categories of
property and equipment when completed and ready for
intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than construction in progress) less their residual
values over (i) in the case of gaming machinery, the shorter
of their estimated useful lives and the remaining term of the
service agreement dated 25 September 2006 and its related
amendments (the “Service Agreement”); and (ii) in the case
of other property and equipment, their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property
and equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Licensing income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of each element have been transferred to the
Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating
leases in which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception of
the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments” in the consolidated statement of financial position
and is released over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as
property and equipment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise, except for exchange differences on monetary items
receivables from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore
forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation),
which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income
and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group's interests.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interestin a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation), all of exchange differences accumulatedin
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners
of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit (loss) before taxation”
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Inventories

Inventories consist of food and beverage, retail merchandise
and operating supplies and are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined
on a first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all costs necessary
to make the sale.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment of tangible assets and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of tangible assets and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

The recoverable amount of tangible and intangible assets
are estimated individually, when it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual CGUs, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

Ifthe recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instruments. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 since 1 January 2018. Transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions
in note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL").

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in
note 2) (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. For financial
instruments other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “other income” line item.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9
(including trade and other receivables, pledged bank
deposits, short-term bank deposits and bank balances). The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

The ECL on trade and other receivables are assessed
individually for significant balances and/or collectively using
a provision matrix with appropriate groupings.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information thatis reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the ability of
gaming promoter or service provider to meet its
debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the gaming promoter or
service provider; and

] an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the gaming promoter or service
provider that results in a significant decrease in the
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers
a debt instrument to have low credit risk when it has an
internal or external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as
per globally understood definitions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(i)  Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(¢) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater
for cases where evidence at the individual instrument
level may not yet be available, the financial instruments
are grouped on the past-due status and repayment
history basis.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of advances
to gaming promoters and other receivables from
gaming promoters and service providers where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

The Group’s financial assets are classified as loans and
receivables.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Loans and receivables (including trade
and other receivables, pledged bank deposits, short-term
bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment. The accounting policy on impairment loss of
loans and receivables is set out below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporting period. Loans and
receivables are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the loans and
receivables, the estimated future cash flows of the loans
and receivables have been affected. Objective evidence of
impairment could include:

o significantfinancial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or
. breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in

interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For trade and other receivables, assets are assessed for
impairment on a collective basis even if they were assessed not
to be impaired individually. Objective evidence of impairment
for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group's past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period and observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of a financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with
the exception of trade and other receivables, where the
carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. When trade and other receivables are considered
uncollectible, they are written off against the allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of loans and receivables (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirely, the
difference between the financial asset's carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, bank
and other borrowings and loans from a shareholder, are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition/substantial modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group accounts for an exchange with a lender of a financial
liability with substantially different terms as an extinguishment
of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new
financial liability. A substantial modification of the terms
of an existing financial liability or a part of it (whether or
not attributable to the financial difficulty of the Group) is
accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial
liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.

The Group considers that the terms are substantially different
if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the
new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received
and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is
at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial
liability. Accordingly, such exchange of debt instruments or
modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment,
any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain
or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange or modification
is considered as non-substantial modification when such
difference is less than 10 per cent.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities (under
HKFRS 9 since 1 January 2018)

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the present
value of the modified contractual cash flows discounted at the
financial liabilities’ original effective interest rate. Transaction
costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of
the modified financial liabilities and are amortised over the
remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of
the financial liability is recognised in profit or loss at the date
of modification.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of goodwill

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group's
goodwill in relation to Macau Fisherman’'s Wharf
International Investment Limited (“MFW Investment”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “MFW Group”)
of HK$681,986,000 is fully impaired (2017: nil). Determining
whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of the fair value less
costs to sell and value in use of the CGU to which goodwill
has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate present value. In view of the recoverable amount of
the CGU is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss
of HK$681,986,000 is recognised during the year. Details of
the value in use calculation are set out in note 22.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Recoverability of refundable deposit for a potential
long-term investment project

The management of the Group takes into consideration
the likelihood of utilisation of such deposit based on the
potential long-term investment project status. Meanwhile,
the management of the Group considered that the deposit
shall be used to settle the consideration in full for the
proposed acquisition of certain land use rights in connection
with a proposed development project in Cambodia, and
that such deposit could be fully refunded from the vendor in
the event that it fails to complete the transaction within 12
months from the signing of the sale and purchase deed or
any agreed extension.

There is uncertainty on the timing on when such transaction
can be finalised and the recoverability of the deposit thereon
if such transaction is not going to proceed further. Where the
expectation on the recoverability of the deposit is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying amount of the deposit and loss allowance in the
periods in which such estimate has been changed. As at
31 December 2018, the carrying amount of the deposit is
HK$697,824,000 (2017: HK$697,824,000).

Impairment of other intangible assets

The measurement of impairment of other intangible assets
requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the
individual asset, which is the higher of the value in use and
fair value less costs to sell. Where the actual future cash
flows or fair value less cost to sell are less than expected,
a material impairment loss may arise. During the year
ended 31 December 2018, the management performed
an impairment assessment on other intangible assets
arising from consolidation of New Legend VIP Club Limited
(“New Legend”) with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$72,162,000, net of impairment of HK$97,377,000 (2017:
HK$202,707,000, net of nil impairment).
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5. k= 5. REVENUE
REBOWEAFTOT - An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows:
—EBE-NF —EF—+F
2018 2017
FET FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000
KA ER AR S E RIS Revenue from gaming related operations:
MNERRREAT AR Recognised over time:
()  BUTEERERIERBEW () from provision of gaming related facilities and
EIRHIER AR R R b R gaming related general management services
TR —RRE TR AR A AR IR under the Service Agreement and indirect
AEESEEREB(ERR participation in the gaming promotion
Misk o) MELEER AN business under the VIE Structure (as defined
E A in note 6) in respect of:
- iSRG — Mass market tables 958,037 795,232
- BEEMR* ~ VIP tables* 161,565 156,366
. — Slot machines 7.176 12,037
1,126,778 963,635
NE—FRBIA T AR Recognised at a point in time:
(i) BATHEKAEEH (i) from operation of a casino in respect of:
IRELIS
- IS EER — Mass market tables 109,205 106,237
- BEEMR — VIP tables 40,059 41,962
- BT — Slot machines 81,898 98,266
231,162 246,465
1,357,940 1,210,100
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(&) 5. REVENUE (Continued)
—E-N\F —E—+F
2018 2017
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
KA FFER AR S E M Revenue from non-gaming related operations:
MNERRREAT AR Recognised over time:
KEETFEERBHBA Income from building management services 21,528 48,442
REBEEENHAS KA Rental income from hotel rooms 234,458 283,682
255,986 332,124
ME—FBIA T AR Recognised at a point in time:
B Food and beverage 157,831 169,388
SHEXN M Sales of merchandise 7.394 13,092
Hitp Others 13,392 8,232
178,617 190,712
RERE W ENFFERA Licensing income from investment properties 72,840 103,121
507,443 625,957
1,865,383 1,836,057
* ZEHEAEIDEEHENRIRE AT F R * The amounts include outsourced VIP tables and indirect
EREBABFTEHRNRPHE2EEY participation in the gaming promotion business in Macau
R ET - through New Legend under the VIE Structure.
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5.

164

W2k (&) REVENUE (Continued)
—EB-N\F —E—+F
2018 2017
FHET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
REBF &Rz W= iER Timing of revenue recognition for revenue
Frh - from contracts with customers:
- RAEERMEA — over time 1,382,764 1,295,759
- MR — at a point in time 409,779 437,177
1,792,543 1,732,936
RERE YT ERA Licencing income from investment properties 72,840 103,121
1,865,383 1,836,057
EFARZBHNER Performance obligations for contracts with customers
BEEEEE Gaming related operations

TEHRESEEIRE R IEZ I EF

K ERBEEARRE SRR —RE
BRS 2 Wb E s RENEG (BIEE
7N &2 B B 40 B 1 52 & 0B 7 (R B MR KO
REAKEBEAOMERZ A E)OERAE
R AREHENEH T E/RERS
FRM— 2B ERRTRESEE
R% - AEEBRERERESRESA
RS 2 FRmBRBYEERHEDRS
WA -

KEHZZ2EBYPNEH 2 WEHEE T
REXNZES(AEZAEEBOREYE
B R WA MOBREAR BB AR 2
MEWEBRAER - AEENEOED
FTERRBUEREERBEBMRMN -2
BREEEBRERIERRY - AREHERE
RERBERESAEERERZFHRANL
R L EMERURSEA -

HPMBRARERLT 2018F K

Provision of casino management services and gaming
promotion business

Revenue from the provision of gaming related facilities and
gaming related general management services are recognised
over time when performance obligations satisfied while the
gaming operator simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the Group
performs. The Group’s performance obligation is primarily
the provision of casino management services to a gaming
operator in Macau under the Service Agreement. The Group
has the right to receive its service income, based on net
gaming wins of the casinos of each month, from the gaming
operator when the service is rendered.

Revenue from indirect participation in the gaming promotion
business are recognised over time when performance
obligation satisfied while the gaming operator simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs. The Group's performance
obligation is primarily the provision of promotion service to
a gaming operator in Macau under the VIE Structure. The
Group has the right to receive its service income, based on
net gaming wins of the VIP tables of each month, from the
gaming operator when the service is rendered.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

REVENUE (Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers
(Continued)

Gaming related operations (Continued)

Provision of casino management services and gaming
promotion business (Continued)

The directors of the Company considered that the Group act
as a principal for casino management services and gaming
promotion business provided to gaming operator as the
Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to
provide the specified service to customers and controls the
specified service to be provided by the Group before service
transferred to a customer.

Casino operation

Gaming revenue from casino operation is the aggregate
net difference between gaming wins and losses. The Group
accounts for gaming revenue from casino operation on a
portfolio basis given the similar characteristics of wagers by
recognising net win per gaming day.

For casino transactions that include complimentary goods
and services or loyalty points under customer relationship
program provided by the Group to gaming customers to
incentivise gaming, the Group allocates the transaction price
to performance obligations for providing gaming and hotel
operation related services under the relative stand-alone
selling prices.
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REVENUE (Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers
(Continued)

Non-gaming related operations

The transaction price of hotel rooms, food and beverage,
and retail transactions is the net amount collected from the
customer for such goods and services. The transaction price
for such transactions is recorded as revenue when the good or
service is transferred or rendered to the customer during their
stay at the hotel or when the delivery is made for the food and
beverage, retail and other services.

Income from building management services are recognised
as a performance obligation satisfied over time when the
Group provide building management services to tenants of
the Group's properties in Macau. The Group has the right to
receive its service income, based on agreed monthly building
management service fee, from the tenants when the service
is rendered.

The Group has other contracts that include multiple goods
and services, such as packages that bundle food and beverage
and other services with hotel stays. For such arrangements,
the Group allocates revenue to each good or service based
on its relative stand-alone selling price. The Group primarily
determines the stand-alone selling price of hotel rooms, food
and beverage, and retail goods and services based on the
amount that the Group charges when each is sold separately
in similar circumstances to similar customers.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company (the "Executive
Directors”) have been identified as the chief operating
decision maker (the “"CODM"). The Executive Directors review
the Group's internal reports in order to assess performance
and allocate resources.

For the provision of gaming related facilities and gaming
related general management services, and the indirect
participation in the gaming promotion business, the Executive
Directors regularly analyse gaming related revenue in terms
of service income from mass market tables, VIP tables and
slot machines. For the operation of casinos, the Executive
Directors regularly analyse gaming related revenue in terms
of net difference between gaming wins and losses from mass
market tables, VIP tables and slot machines. The Executive
Directors review separately the entire revenues and operating
results attributable to gaming related services and non-
gaming operations. As such, the Executive Directors have
identified the operating and reportable segments under
HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” as gaming and non-gaming
operations.

The segment information is consistent with the internal
information thatisregularly reviewed by the Executive Directors
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
performance. This is also the basis of organisation in the
Group, whereby the management has determined to organise
the Group around differences in products and services. The
principal activities of the operating and reportable segments
are as follows:

Gaming - 1) Gaming related services for mass market tables,
VIP tables and slot machines under the Service Agreement
entered into between Hong Hock, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and gaming operator, Sociedade de Jogos
de Macau, S.A. (“SIJM"), whereby the revenue is derived
based on net gaming wins. Revenue from the indirect
participation in the gaming promotion business represents
the sharing of gross gaming revenue generated by VIP gaming
tables operated by a subsidiary, New Legend, through the
structure established by entering into of the VIE Agreements
among Hong Hock, New Legend and Mr. Frederick Yip,
where appropriate, of which further details are set out in the
Company'’s circular dated 9 June 2014 (the "VIE Structure”);
and 2) Casino operation in Lao PDR.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Non-gaming — operations at The Landmark Macau (disposed
of on 27 April 2018), MFW and Savan Legend Resorts
including hotel and other operations such as licensing income
from the shops, provision of building management service,
food and beverage and others. For segment reporting under
HKFRS 8, financial information of these operations with similar
economic characteristics has been aggregated into a single
operating segment named “non-gaming”.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by operating and reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2018

¥ FHEE AEWEF Eiig RE
Gaming Non-gaming Segment total Elimination Consolidated
FHET THET TER THERT THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
SIS External revenue 1,357,940 507,443 1,865,383 - 1,865,383
o EPfE M as Inter-segment revenue - 148,609 148,609 (148,609) -
P ER Segment revenue 1,357,940 656,052 2,013,992 (148,609) 1,865,383
DEBE A (E51E) Segment profit (loss) 299,555 (237,668) 61,887 = 61,887
RO EREE  Unallocated depreciation
and amortisation (89,116)
RAOBMEERZ Unallocated corporate
expenses (62,961)
LHE—FKMB2AR  Gain on disposal of a
Yz subsidiary 3,430,078
2 2 FEEE Impairment loss on goodwill (681,986)
Hit B EEZ Impairment losses on other
REEE intangible assets (97,377)
AR AR Finance costs (109,344)
B A A& ) Profit before taxation 2,451,181
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2017

27 FEER DEEET HiH N
Gaming  Non-gaming Segment total Elimination Consolidated
FHT FHT FHET FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
MR R External revenue 1,210,100 625,957 1,836,057 - 1,836,057
DEBREUES Inter-segment revenue - 212,103 212,103 (212,103) -
IR Segment revenue 1,210,100 838,060 2,048,160 (212,103) 1,836,057
SERE A (E1E) Segment profit (loss) 138,270 (293,753) (155,483) - (155,483)

AOBEMERES  Unallocated depreciation
and amortisation (101,266)

IO ERT Unallocated corporate

expenses (73,547)
ROEMER BI85 Unallocated exchange loss, net (192)
AR Finance costs (103,751)
AL AIE 1B Loss before taxation (434,239)

DA ETIIRE T HEN AT

BEDBMOSHBRANZEIFR 2 ASE
B e ERERAR - DEEEREDBHE
BERTEREOERKEBEREMBANR
BEEEMELNAABERBAEENET
BREMEARE TYERRENITEME
BRENHEEFRREMELEERE - K
DELEMY EXEZERFHE HE—H
MEARKE  BEZRERR  HME
WEEZREBBRMEBERAE - ROBEE
ERXBRARRENRENEEHE M
ETRECERENTRAX - th 5D
RERRMERRANTESTZHRNE
JIE o

HRAREY EEREREERATZ2HRS
MEELEBEINM TRITESTEHN - 88
BRBEAROMN -

Inter-segment revenue is charged at amounts agreed by
both parties.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment results represent the results of each segment without
allocation of depreciation of certain investment properties
and certain property and equipment, release of prepaid
lease payments arising from the fair value adjustments on
acquisition of MFW Group and amortisation of other intangible
assets, unallocated corporate expenses, net exchange
difference, gain on disposal of a subsidiary, impairment loss
on goodwill, impairment losses on other intangible assets
and finance costs. Unallocated corporate expenses include
directors’ remuneration paid or payable by the Company and
certain administrative expenses for corporate use. This is the
measure reported to the Executive Directors for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment.

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating
and reportable segments is disclosed as it is not regularly
provided to the Executive Directors for review.
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6. DHERE) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Hith o BE R Other segment information
BE—S-NFE+-HA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2018
¥ FE¥ RAE RE
Gaming Non-gaming Unallocated Consolidated
THET TERT THERT THET

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

MERRBITE Depreciation of property and equipment 51,820 275,660 17,427 344,907
REMENE Depreciation of investment properties - 9,670 1,593 11,263
HibER & EE Amortisation of other intangible assets - - 34,901 34,901
RRENEEA Release of prepaid lease payments - 7,525 35,195 42,720
GFEEE Allowance for inventories 143 5,359 = 5,502
LEMEREBHENEIE  Loss on disposal of property and
equipment - 841 - 841
SEEAE IE S Write-off of property and equipment 603 4,852 - 5,455
HE—Z—+tF+ZA=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017
B% FEER v R
Gaming Non-gaming  Unallocated Consolidated
TET TET TET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
MERZETE Depreciation of property and equipment 43,173 318,037 29,615 390,825
REMEITE Depreciation of investment properties - 12,702 1,593 14,295
H b & A Amortisation of other intangible assets - - 34,861 34,861
FRMTANE SR Release of prepaid lease payments - 19,246 35,197 54,443
EEXTERS Pre-opening expenses 27,634 20,507 - 48,141
FERE Allowance for inventories - 291 - 291
EEWERZENEIE  Loss on disposal of property and
equipment - 427 - 427
HsE I R Write-off of property and equipment 13,665 107,453 - 121,118
TELERRERBE DB ZEEREE The CODM makes decisions according to operating results
HRR - TEEINDBEEERNBEEBZ of each segment. No analysis of segment asset and segment
ST REARFEEERFEL RO liability is presented as the CODM does not regularly review
BRERBEFEAECHERNZEER such information for the purposes of resources allocation and
HIE2F| DM Ry EEE - performance assessment. Therefore, only segment revenue

and segment results are presented.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located on Macau, Lao PDR

and others.

Information about the Group's

is presented based on the geographical location of the assets.

REIIMBEFHBA
BZE+-A=+—HLFE
Revenue from external
customers year ended
31 December

revenue from external
customers is presented based on the location of the
operations. Information about the Group’s non-current assets

Non-current assets
as at 31 December

—EBE-N\F E—+F ZEB-NF ZT—+F
2018 2017 2018 2017
FTET FHET FHERT THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
JBRFT Macau 1,612,596 1,567,379 7,850,288 8,573,220
=B Lao PDR 252,787 268,678 337,630 333,514
Hith Others - - 959,860 882,031
1,865,383 1,836,057 9,147,778 9,788,765

FEEFHNER Information about major customer

BHE-_Z-N\FE+-_A=+—HIFE"
—ZRBBESBHES - BIF - ARE
B esE B 1,102,815,0008 (=%
—+4F 933,133,000 7T) ' IEAEEE
WE B 10% °

A customer, SUM, from gaming segment contributes revenue
to the Group amounting to HK$1,102,815,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (2017: HK$933,133,000), which

represents over 10% of the total revenue of the Group.
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7. HtWA - WERER 7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES
(a) HfrA (a) Other income
—E-NF —E—+F
2018 2017
FTHET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
K B B8R A B UIR PR TR Insurance claims received arising from typhoon 74,595 55,001
RITHBUA Bank interest income 25,401 84
Hib Others 32,635 11,386
132,631 66,471
(b) HftWzmREE (b) Other gains and losses
—E-N\E —E—+tF
2018 2017
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
PE 5 e - HEE Exchange gain, net 6,676 1,628
b6t E IS S Write-off of property and equipment (5,455) (121,118)
HEYERRENER Loss on disposal of property and equipment (841) (427)
RIBRBE T Allowance for bad and doubtful debts, net - (11,996)
380 (131,913)
133,011 (65,442)
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& A 8. FINANCE COSTS

—E-N\F —E—+F

2018 2017

FET FET

HK$'000 HK$'000

RITEFFE Interest on bank borrowings 79,886 96,923
R E T B Interest on loans from a shareholder 12,003 32,575
RITIE R BB A AN 5 Amortisation of finance costs on bank borrowings 16,015 15,110
EoAh g & A AR Other finance costs 1,440 2,708
BIEERAR Total borrowing costs 109,344 147,316

W ERIRBABRNEZEEKA  Less: Capitalised borrowing costs in construction in

GUNIENE L)) progress (included in property and equipment) = (43,565)
109,344 103,751

REBE_Z—tF+-_A=1T—BL*HF
B RERNERNMEZEERATIRE —
fERIER -  UHAEREEZMXE
ERCLHEGFLO0%(ZF—\F - &)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, borrowing costs
capitalised during the year arose from the general borrowing
pool and are calculated by applying a capitalisation rate
of 4.0% per annum to expenditure on qualifying assets

FHE - (2018: nil).
TREEZRESE 9. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

—E-N\F —T—+F
2018 2017
FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000

FUATIE B RRERE Impairment losses recognised on:
=) &N Trade receivables 50,570 -
E b FEYRIAR Other receivables 58,003 _
108,573 -

BRBE—_T-\F+-_A=+—BLLF
B 2R ERE 2 FHBEHNHTE40

Details of impairment assessment for the year ended
31 December 2018 are set out in note 40.
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BE-T—\F+-_A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

10. EENFTETHRAEMS 10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS
BERTETHAEMS Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
ENRENARRZEEREBITHAEN The emoluments paid or payable to the directors and chief
BlEmT executive of the Company was as follows:
HITES FHTES BYFGTES
Executive directors Non-executive directors  Independent non-executive directors
Sheldon
BE MBI Trainor-
(TA#®)) (#MZt)) DeGirolamo RARE BRE fEE He g EE% st
Chow
Kam Fai, Lam
David Fong Ngo Sheldon Chow Tong Ho Fong Tam
("David  (“Madam Trainor-  Wan Hok, Ka Wing, Chiulin, Chung, Xie  Wai Chuy,
Chow") Lam") DeGirolamo Donald Carl Laurinda Mark Min Maria Total
FEL TR FET FET FET TET FET TR FET TEL

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BE-2-N\E+=H For the year ended

=t+-ALEE 31 December 2018

e Fee - - - - - - 500 480 480 1,460
ek Salaries and allowances 8,000 2,500 2,000 980 2,000 380 - - - 15,860
FHREBERAR Performance related

incentive payments 4,373 208 251 123 83 32 53 53 53 5,229
RIMBFIFTEIER Contributions to retirement

benefits scheme - - 17 - - - - - - 17
[l Total emoluments 12,373 2,708 2,268 1,103 2,083 412 553 533 533 22,566

BE-Z—t&£+=H For the year ended

=t-HiLLFE 31 December 2017

fiok Fee - - - - - - 500 480 480 1,460
e koEh Salaries and allowances 8,000 2,500 2,000 380 2,000 380 - - - 15,260
FSENElE PN Performance related

incentive payments 3419 208 167 - 167 32 35 35 35 4,098
RIMBFIFTEIER Contributions to retirement

benefits scheme - - 17 - - - - - - 17
MesE Total emoluments 11,419 2,708 2,184 380 2,167 412 535 515 515 20,835
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

10. EERFETRAEME (H)

ESRTETBRAEME (H)

A 78 A ) & 5 3% R0 ) 3 AR B 22 D 1+ 3K
D2EREENKRAET  UTEEEFE
BEE

BB R AN RRITHALR - T EXHE
B T3 B EE AT IR B RS
igziE -

EXHEORTEFNFTHEZ R BRE
EREEARRRAEENEEMRRZ
AR5 -

EXFEAFATES RBLIFNTES
MFM AR ESERSRNAREFTMEHRM
AR -

RAEFEARN  AREREAARRES
XA EMFM - AESIMARNEE LR
INBARE B AV EER) - HFRBEBMEE -
BMERAAREENZMEFEREELM
#rEM -

10.

BE_Z-\F+-_A=1t—HLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)

The performance related incentive payments to the directors
of the Company are determined by reference to the Group's
performance and approved by the Board of Directors.

David Chow is also the chief executive of the Company and
his emoluments disclosed above include those for services
rendered by him as the chief executive officer.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group.

The emoluments of the non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors shown above were for
their services as directors of the Company.

During both years, no emoluments was paid by the Group
to the directors of the Company as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office. None of the directors of the Company has waived any
emoluments in both years.
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BE-T—\F+-_A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

10. EERFETRAEME (H)

176

EERETFHEREAERNRS  RHH

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Transactions, arrangements or contracts in which the

a4 Directors have material interests
b RER HEAEERE RENUERERHER REEHE
Relationship Nature of transactions
Agreement Connected party with the Group and major terms Transaction amount
—E-N\F —E—4F
2018 2017
FEx TET
HK$'000 HK$'000
IERBEEERE  IRESSEREHEME AATMEERE - BITEE TR AAKEELEEER RS 417 190
Whed BRRA* BELER—RERRERELE URRBEDHERRE
ERBEA
Legendale Beijing  Beijing Hua Hai Jin Bao  An associate of Mr. David Chow,  Renting of hotel rooms and
Hotel Service Real Estate Development a co-chairman, an executive convention venues and
Agreement Co. Ltd. director, the chief executive the procurement of event
officer and one of the controlling  management services to
shareholders of the Company the Group*
A R B3 AR FEREECEFDBRAT BERELECHEA - RER () AEERBIRE  EHRE 1,980 2,646
s (MFApREE ) PR MR 2 AR A E SRR SE A2 Y ERRY
%4 Adrian Pinto-Marques 54
Z & Emiko Mito Pinto-Marques
22+ J Adriano DillonGuerrero
Pinto-Marques 54
Amigo Travel Amigo Travel (Macau) An associate of Mr. David Chow as (i) Procurement of travelling,
Service Agreement  Limited the shareholders of Amigo Travel ticketing and transportation
("Amigo Travel")* are Ms. Emiko Mito Pinto-Marques services to the Group*
and Mr. Adriano DillonGuerrero
Pinto-Marques, the parents of Mr.
Adrian Pinto-Marques, the son-in-
law of Mr. David Chow
(i) AEERGUEEFSREAAEE 2,083 8,856

HPMBRARERLT 2018F K

SR AR RE AR ¥

(i) Provision of hotel rooms from
the Group*



10. EERFETRAEME (H)

EERETFHEREAERNRS  RHH

mE MR M ()
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BHE-_T - N\F+_A=+—HLEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Transactions, arrangements or contracts in which the

B (R Directors have material interests (Continued)
e BER HEAEERR RENMERERHER REEH
Relationship Nature of transactions
Agreement Connected party with the Group and major terms Transaction amount
—E-N\F —E—+tF
2018 2017
FERT FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
WPIBMAEE  RFIBMYEER ARARPITESRRIERLRBDHE AEEHEUNRMBHESAE - 667
Rt BRAE* T ARBRTEEMELLIRAE WETHAZWER!
RAFERRFFERG L
EFERH—EAR
Macau Landmark Macau Landmark A company owned by Mr. David  Leasing of certain office premises
Office Rental Management Limited* Chow, an executive director at the Macau Landmark Building
Agreement and the controlling shareholder by the Group*
of the Company, Madam Lam,
an executive director of the
Company, and Mr. Li Chi Keung,
a substantial shareholder of the
Company
RERE G () REFTZRBARRD () REBR TATERHEE HESEREEAESEMTEZSE - 54,872
R(DREBERD & DRR—F—EFNA+HR  BRERHER*
EEBRBERAT H ZZE—+FNAT+RER
(TZEER]) : #7E “E—tFt—-A-+WmA%K
B2 RER AT Z R RERESE 2 EEEE
(T7eR 1> BRETARETEILE =TT
WA - BULREEZ RHE
BREERD RN T —LF
NA+RB  ZE—LFNA
TRARZZ—tF+—A
Zt+mASZ AT AEREEE
ZHBA
Connected (i) Ou Kei Cleaning (i) Each of Ou Kei Cleaning, Procurement of various services
Procurement Services Limited On Kei Management and and supplies required for
Agreements ("Ou Kei Cleaning”); Royal Garden is owned operations and administration of

On Kei Management
Services Company Ltd.
(“On Kei
Management”); Royal
Garden Flower and
Fruit Company Ltd.
("Royal Garden”)*

by Madam Tang Lai long,
the mother-in law of Mr.
David Chow, and certain
independent third parties
on or before 15 September
2017, 15 September 2017
and 24 November 2017
respectively. Hence, each
of Ou Kei Cleaning, On Kei
Management and Royal
Garden is an associate Mr.
David Chow on or before
15 September 2017, 15
September 2017 and 24

November 2017, respectively

the Group*
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10. EERFETRAEME (H)
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EERETFHEREAERNRS  RHH

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Transactions, arrangements or contracts in which the

EH(4E) Directors have material interests (Continued)
e BER HEAEEBAR RENMERERHERK REEH
Relationship Nature of transactions
Agreement Connected party with the Group and major terms Transaction amount
—E-N\F T —+tF
2018 2017
FERT FHIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
(i) FERIHEZRARAR () FRIAREBLXLIRAEARE AEBERBAKNEZRSE 6,050 18,189
AR([FELD* TEREHER
(i) New Legend Club (i) NLC Laundry is ultimately Procurement of laundry and
Laundry Company Ltd. owned by Ms. Melinda Chan  cleaning services to the Group*
("NLC Laundry”)* and Mr. David Chow
PERERTS HERETRRZAR PIEREARELENBEARRE AKEETEREEE 5P ERER 664 1,984
i AEHiED* Y8 Tang Lai Ngo Z T #A = KRBT AR
Chong Son Chong Son Construction  Chong Son is owned by Mr. Tang  Procurement of construction and
Construction Company Ltd. Mun Kong and Madam Tang Lai  renovation from Chong Son for
Services Agreement (“Chong Son”)* Ngo, each of whom is an associate the Group's certain construction
of Mr. David Chow projects®
BRNEERAEDR BIRER-ABRAF Frank Wong %t 4 (BB FIERIRE REERBIETEETRORE T B 7,469 2,750
AEBRRERY  ([BRERR]) RAEGEE ARBRROERER  FRNE - YHEBM=EE—FHES
FEHNRZZE-N BHRAKRBEERERLFT RIRADFRNITES TEERRY

FOA=+BEL)

Sheng Li VIP Room
Cooperation
Agreement and
SLL License to

Use Agreement
(Agreement ceased
on 30 April 2018)

(TBsAZR D™

Sheng Li V Limited
(“Sheng Li V");

Seng Lei Loi Jewelry
and Watches Company
Limited (“SLL")*

HPMBRARERLT 2018F K

Sheldon Trainor-DeGirolamo 7t 4
ZER

Mr. Frank Wong who is ultimate
beneficial owner of Sheng Li V and
the controlling shareholder of SLL,
is the father-in-law of Mr. Sheldon
Trainor-DeGirolamo, an executive
Director of the Company

Provision of services for the
designated VIP room by the
Group to Sheng Li V and rental of
a shop in Legend Palace Hotel to
SLL*
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BHE-_T - N\F+_A=+—HLEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

10. EEREBRTHRASHE (F) 10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
EERETHEEEAERZNRS » THR Transactions, arrangements or contracts in which the
EH(E) Directors have material interests (Continued)
iE BES HEAEEBAR REHHEREEHRR RBEEH
Relationship Nature of transactions
Agreement Connected party with the Group and major terms Transaction amount
—B-N\F —E—+tF
2018 2017
FEx FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
ERIEBRAR ERIEERRAAF EURmERBLEERRERLET  RKER/ANEEREUAEEMRILL 12,755 -
REEREERRE  ([ER)* (BASRBEECRBIES - BRA KRBT L2 ERRG
ks ISR EZHEA -
Lai Ou Industrial Lai Ou Industrial Limited  Lai Ou is owned by Mr. David Procurement of laundry service to
Ltd. (“Lai Ou")* Chow and Ms. Melinda Chan, the Group*
Procurement of the spouse of Mr. David Chow.
Laundry Services Lai Ou being an associate of
Agreement Mr. David Chow.

* ZEZGHER FTRAE14AZE T Z * These transactions constitute continuing connected transactions
HEMERS - BB ETHRAE14A for the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of
ENRBMRTNETZEERRFERR certain of these continuing connected transactions recognised
WRFEEERHNFBEERNEZTERS in current year, which are subject to the reporting requirements
[BAER 5 | —ERHEE - set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, have been

disclosed under the section “Connected Transactions” in the
Directors’ Report.

# MAEER‘NBEREHDE-T-NF # The relevant services are provided to the Group until 31
TZA=1t—R ERZ2EAETLER December 2019 at prices determined based on arm’s length
HRBORITTHERRATRUERD basis and the prevailing market price for comparable types of
BE - services in the same industry.
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BE-T—\F+-_A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

1. EEHM 11. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
AEBNAZGEaFMA T (ZR(ZF The emoluments of the five individuals, three (2017: four)
—tF  WB)BARAEZT)NHE were directors of the Company, with highest emoluments in
U N the Group were as follows:
—E-N\E —T—tF
2018 2017
FTHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
H4e - EZBREH Salaries, allowances and benefits 17,315 17,090
FIRFERE SN (TR Performance related incentive payments 5,589 4,200
RURERNGTEI 3R Contributions to retirement benefits scheme 17 17
22,921 21,307
RENHESBEWNT : Their emoluments were within the following bands:
—E-N\F —T—+F
2018 2017
AE AE
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
2,000,001 #7c% 2,500,000 %7 HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2
2,500,001 7T 2 3,000,000 47T HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 1
3,000,001 # 7T % 3,500,000 47T HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 1 -
11,000,001 872 11,500,000/7c  HK$11,000,001 to HK$11,500,000 - 1
12,000,001 & 7TE 12,500,000/87c  HK$12,000,001 to HK$12,500,000 1 -
5 5
RMEFERN  AEEHFEALERSE During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
BHA T RHEMBE - UIERMBEAREE the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
FRMBAREE RN R - RIERBER upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
e -
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mE MR M ()
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BE_Z-\F+-_A=1t—HLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

12. PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION

=E-N\F b
2018 2017
FHExT FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BREADE T (E518) B Mk (BT A) Profit (loss) before taxation has been arrived at
LATRIER : after charging (crediting):
BIA Staff costs
BEHFHM(MFE10) Directors’ remuneration (note 10) 22,566 20,835
HAth B TR Other staff costs
—He NEHMEF — salaries and other benefits 440,632 452,776
— RIRAERIET B R — contributions to retirement benefits schemes 8,960 8,335
BT ABE Total staff costs 472,158 481,946
FERE(BIETNE RRIGAKZA) Allowance for inventories (included in cost of
sales and services) 5,502 291
HihEP EERE(DRIEIEEISE  Amortisation of other intangible assets

M RRFSE AN A B 38 ~ 17 (included in cost of sales and services and

HiF A - @D HIH operating, administrative and other expenses

1,733,000 87L(—F—+5: of HK$1,733,000 (2017: HK$1,693,000) and

1,693,0007%7T) & 33,168,000 HK$33,168,000 (2017: HK$33,168,000),

BIL(ZZ—+F : 33,168,000 respectively)

o) 34,901 34,861
ZEREMEN & Auditor’s remuneration 3,580 3,530
BREERA AR (BIEEHE  Cost of inventories recognised as an expense

K ARTERANA) (included in cost of sales and services) 99,907 78,775
REMERE Depreciation of investment properties 11,263 14,295
MERBBINE Depreciation of property and equipment 344,907 390,825
EEMAELHRIEFHNEERAE  Minimum lease payments under operating leases

BT 2 HIEHEERNK in respect of leasehold land and buildings 6,459 5,560
FEAHX Pre-opening expenses - 48,141
FRER TR A & FRIE Release of prepaid lease payments 42,720 54,443
REREYFEROBEFIRERA Gross licensing income from investment properties (72,840) (103,121)
W EERBIREMENRTE  Less: Direct operating expenses that generate

WA EZEERY licensing income from investment properties 11,263 14,295
REREVEN TR FE Net licensing income from investment properties (61,577) (88,826)
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BE-T—\F+-_A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

13.

182

P8 % INCOME TAX EXPENSES

—E-N\F —E—+F
2018 2017
FHExT TFHT
HK$'000 HK$'000

RIS TR Macau Complementary Tax
- REE — current year (415,935) (1,650)
- BEFEREEE — overprovision in prior year 1,262 -
(414,673) (1,650)

Lao PDR Flat Tax Lao PDR Flat Tax

- KFE — current year (76,908) (77,958)
FEREREE G (F1aE31) Deferred taxation credit (note 31) 6,506 6,506
i it Income tax expenses (485,075) (73,102)

TRPIPTIS A T TR F A 5t R ER TR
AR E12% 5 H - HREHEEER
EERBEBE  RUBERNREMBE®RE
REEMEVIELER

RIEPEARLFERFIERIITERE (R
IR DI RBN —EERE+—A++
BEEAMREBRIFREVERER -
—=F—ATHBABELMERLME - RE
BT —FE_FT-XRF+_A=+—
BIEFEHENTRNFE ARG HE
EAREEREBUR S B8RP AT
BHEAER  HIHERZZFREDRER
iRl ([#e])  mRIGEY kS
RIREE 16/2001 SRIEHI S 28 55 2 57 &Y
BCRESHE  WRE-_ZZTWNFE - A
“+=HMWE30/2004 IR —FT——
F+—AZ-+=HME378/2011 5FH#tR
MZZE-—ARFNA+ILE®E329/2017
SFHRERR G - RIBBPFIFEMEBN
TE-RE+-A- T+ BBRENERE
" ReNHREERES T —+HF—
A—BRE-_ZT-_TF=-_A=+—HIt
HiRS -

HMABRAZERALAT 2018F kK

Macau Complementary Tax is calculated at the rate of 12%
on the estimated assessable profit for the year. No provision
for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated
financial statements as the relevant group entities incurred
tax losses.

Pursuant to the Dispatch of the Financial Services Bureau
of the Macau Special Administrative Region, the People’s
Republic of China (“Macau SAR") dated 17 November 2006
and a confirmation letter issued by the Financial Services
Bureau of the Macau SAR dated 14 January 2013, gaming
related revenue generated from the Service Agreement
is not subject to Macau Complementary Tax for any of the
years ended 31 December 2012 to 2016 since it is derived
from SJM gaming revenue (the “Exemption”), for which the
gaming revenue is exempted pursuant to the terms of No. 2
of article 28 of the Law 16/2001 and the Exemption granted
by Dispatch No. 30/2004 of 23 February 2004, Dispatch No.
378/2011 of 23 November 2011 and Dispatch No. 329/2017
of 19 September 2016. Pursuant to the confirmation letter
issued by the Financial Services Bureau of the Macau SAR
dated 21 November 2016, the Exemption has been extended
for the period from 1 January 2017 to 31 March 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FrEHiZ (&)

BRERFIFRVBBEHBEHAZT—N
FH_RAMAMILEE  BEAERBRE
E-E—+HE+-_A=+—RULEEEH
EZE-NF+ZA=Z1+—HLEFESHF
B FE— R IERF400,00082P9% (47
ZA388,000 B TT)UARRBE-_T-F
F=ZA=Z+—H1E={@AZ{100,0008
FI® (FEE R 97,0008 7T) 2 ix B IEFF -
EBREBRZBEIFERRK G H
K R E M E IS OB PR AGEE 2 1R
LS ARSI 5 M 2 BB 2 R B Z BT
FIBmnd - 2EFE XTI RE
GEBREDERERBEAIEEEES
AT IREFITFBRES - BEZZT—N\F
+TZA=+—RALFE  EEIFIEE
388,000 L (= E—+4% : 1,650,000/5
TC)  WREREIBa=EER TR -

BEARNEG —HE2ENB AR Savan
Legend Resorts Sole Compay Limted
(I'Savan Legend )i BB BUEL ([ 248
BRDMAETBBRHA-ZT—X"FRA+=
B —Hm= (& mEl) - ZRBER
E Savan Legend REX M- - €%
#%10,000,000 37t (A8 E 7 47 76,908,000
B ([H—H ) - ERAREEK LT
fEf Savan Legend FT#E AR T EA)E
EERNEGESIER MARZZZT—RFN
A—RAZ=ZZ-AFENA=Z+—HHEX
=5 - KA GGt R B EAME
BIEZ %  Savan Legend BAMNE
tRIE(BIEAEH) ©

BE_Z-\F+-_A=1t—HLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

Pursuant to the approval letter issued by the Financial
Services Bureau of the Macau SAR dated 4 December
2018, Hong Hock was obligated to pay an annual lump
sum dividend withholding tax of MOP400,000 (equivalent
to HK$388,000) for each of the years ended/ending 31
December 2017 to 2019 and MOP100,000 (equivalent to
HK$97,000) for the three months ending 31 March 2020 as
payment in lieu of Macau Complementary Tax otherwise due
by the shareholders of Hong Hock on dividend distributions
from gaming profits generated in relation to the operation of
the casinos at The Landmark Macau and MFW. Such annual
lump sum tax payments were required regardless of whether
dividends were actually distributed or whether Hong Hock had
distributable profits in the relevant years. For the year ended
31 December 2018, provision for taxation of HK$388,000
(2017: HK$1,650,000) has been recognised which was charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Pursuant to the Lao PDR Flat Tax Agreement (the
“Agreement”) signed between Savan Legend Resorts
Sole Company Limited (“Savan Legend”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and the Ministry of Finance of
the Lao PDR (the "Laos Government'’) dated 13 May 2016,
the Laos Government agreed Savan Legend to pay a flat tax
in an amount of US$10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$76,908,000) per annum (the “Flat Tax”). The Flat Tax shall
be paid for the period from 1 September 2016 to 31 August
2019 with a conditional extension for a period of two years,
given that the Group commits to carry out, a hotel resort
complex project on a site owned by Savan Legend. Under
the Agreement, Savan Legend is not subject to other taxes,
including income tax.
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BE-T—\F+-_A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

13. FAEHisH ()

FARBERBATGEN (BER) YR

m

13.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit (loss)
before taxation as follows:

—E-N\E —E—+F
2018 2017
THET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000
FrA5 B ) (B18) Profit (loss) before taxation 2,451,181 (434,239)
1#212% e =32 H (% ) SR P Tax charge (credit) at Macau Complementary
PSR T Tax rate at 12% (294,142) 52,109
AN S B B 2 Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
tax purpose (250,682) (157,671)
BRERTBMANTRIEZE Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose 43,240 34,574
ER AR S R RIS ER S B Tax effect of tax exemption granted to gaming
BT E related revenue 135,213 115,636
im R R B IE SRR TS Tax effect of estimated tax losses not recognised
2 (42,670) (38,142)
EZWH— Lao PDR Flat Tax (76,908) (77,958)
— IR R B Lump sum dividend tax (388) (1,650)
BEFEBEERS Overprovision for prior years 1,262 -
REEFMBHL M Income tax expense for the year (485,075) (73,102)

184

RZE-NE+-_A=+—H ' &K
SEKXEFBLEENTEERA
1,078,592,000 8 (= —+tF :
1,007,249,00087T) + ALK B R
FEBT=FRIPORTEFR - HE=
E-N\F+-A=+—ALEE B
KT BB 1845 284,240,000 (=
—+% : 71,045,000 7T) °

R B (1) FRIB R 2 B 1 R 08 M 2R B9 T
BEM  R)HBEBEENRARKHFE
B =FRER ARrEZR/EA G
L BUS FE SR a M DA K S R B 2 R
FAKRERRE - Fit - SECHERAERLT
MIBEE °

HMABRAZERALAT 2018F kK

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has tax losses of
HK$1,078,592,000 (2017: HK$1,007,249,000) from non-
gaming operations available for offset against future profit
that will expire in three years from the year of assessment.
For the year ended 31 December 2018, approximately
HK$284,240,000 (2017: HK$71,045,000) of tax losses have
expired.

Having considered (i) the unpredictability of future profit
streams for the non-gaming operations; and (ii) the fact that
tax losses can only be utilised in three years from the year of
assessment, the directors of the Company are of the view that
it may not be probable that taxable profits will be available
against which unutilised tax losses can be utilised. As a result,
no deferred tax assets have been recognised.
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BE_Z-\F+-_A=1t—HLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

14. B2 14. DIVIDEND
—E-N\F —E—+F
2018 2017
THET TET
HK$°000 HK$'000
—E-N\FERRE RN 2018 special dividend of HK$0.08 per ordinary share 501,406 -
0.08 87T
B & 1R I B A AR 7 R RK A No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
FEBIRNEMRE - of the Company since the end of the reporting period.

15. BREFN(BR) 15. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
AKRARHEAEANEMEREREZR (EHIB)T The calculation of the basic earnings (loss) per share
BTYIBIEAE attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

following data:
BRI (EE) Earnings (loss)
—EF-N\F i
2018 2017
FET THET
HK$’000 HK$'000
STEEGREARBT(EE)PMAA  Profit (loss) for the year for the purposes of
FrmF (EE) basic earnings (loss) per share 1,966,106 (507,341)
R E Number of shares
—®-N\% —E—+E
2018 2017
TR TR
‘000 ‘000
FTEEREARRT (EE)FAR  Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
B INAE I the purpose of basic earnings (loss) per share 6,267,576 6,267,576
MR ARANMEFEARAELEEY Diluted earnings (loss) per share is not presented as the
B2LBRK HUEESERETRR Company does not have any dilutive potential ordinary share

(E#E) - for both years.
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16.

186

TERBELHENEE(EERHR
HEE)

RZZT—+tF+—AhB AEEHEE
UEZFUTEFDIAL—HEBEHH
(THEWwZED B EAREEEH
BB (ABFERMEMESNAR)
MEHEBTRARIRM S L RE
BHAMBEMT BEREHR  RekE
#4,600,000,0008 L ([HESEE]) - H
EEHEFBRANARRAHAZZ—+
FHZAZ+ZHZBR - RZT—L
F+-_A=+—H8 EHEEE(BFERM
BEHES) MR E M EEESERR
TZEARLETVESEABFELE 2
BHE  REAGVBRRABERBILZ
(RTX) - HEEEMNAMBREFEB
BEBEEERABNEEFE Rt E
BRREEE ARFEERA HEF
BEEBEER  BREHEKEMHL2HEMA
REBRHABBBEAABRYS - WiES
HEBEERMRARBKENHRMEME
LREZEEHEE(NRNBPIAATTER
—MEFEE  RZE—tF-A=++
BHBEE) HEEER-_Z—N\HF
MAZ+tHEK  REBEZE=-ZE—N\F
TZAZT " BLEFERBEZHEREE
— I B A AU %5 3,430,078,000/8 7T
(f5E33) »
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16. ASSETS (LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH ASSETS)

CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

On 9 November 2017, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement (the “Disposal Agreement”) with
independent third parties (the “Purchasers”), pursuant to
which the Purchasers agreed to buy the entire issued share
capital in New Macau Landmark which is a company holding
The Landmark Macau, and all obligations, liabilities and debts
owing or incurred by New Macau Landmark to Hong Hock at
a cash consideration of HK$4,600,000,000 (the “Disposal”).
Details of the Disposal are contained in the Company’s
circular dated 22 December 2017. As at 31 December 2017,
the assets, including The Landmark Macau, and liabilities
attributable to New Macau Landmark, which is expected
to be sold within twelve months, had been classified as a
disposal group held for sale and are presented separately in
the consolidated statement of financial position (see below).
The net proceeds of the Disposal exceed the net carrying
amount of the relevant assets and liabilities and accordingly,
no impairment loss had been recognised. The directors of
the Company are in the opinion that the Disposal is of the
purpose for streamlining its operation, inviting a new business
partner to participate in its existing gaming related services
to SJM and relocating its non-gaming operating resources
and existing service capacity from The Landmark Macau to
Legend Palace Hotel, being a new hotel located in MFW which
has commenced operation on 27 February 2017. The Disposal
was completed on 27 April 2018 and a gain on disposal of
a subsidiary of HK$3,430,078,000 (note 33) is recognised in
profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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. PEREFEEENEE(EERB 16. ASSETS (LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH ASSETS)
HEeE) (&) CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (Continued)

R EMRN —_FE—+tF+=_A=1+—H The assets and liabilities of New Macau Landmark as at
MEERABE(RAEELEATBEHREF 31 December 2017, which have been presented separately in
BEZ)HWT : the Group’s consolidated financial statements are as follows:

—E—+F

2017

FHET

HK$'000

BREME Investment properties 110,480

UEISE 3 Property and equipment 598,385

T EFIE Prepaid lease payments 388,868

WEMENEREZ EMNRE Deposits paid for acquisition of property and equipment 588

FE Inventories 4,147

Z 5 Rk HMEWGRIA Trade and other receivables 30,009

IRITEHR IR S Bank balances and cash 26,635

DEAFBIENENEELRE Total assets classified as held for sale 1,159,112

RUEEHEEWIES Deposits received from the Disposal (660,000)

B 5 NE AR FRIE Trade and other payables (67,230)

BHEARBIELENEEMRBE 2 BERE  Total liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale (727,230)
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17. REYH 17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
FHBxT
HK$'000
BN COST
RZZ2—+F—H—H At 1 January 2017 462,840
B RREER Transfer from property and equipment 106,621
EREDEAFERENEE(M:E16)  Transfer to assets classified as held for sale (note 16) (192,031)
RZEBE—+F+-_A=+—HRK At 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2018
—E-\F+ZA=+—H 377,430
e DEPRECIATION
RZZE—+F—H—H At 1 January 2017 104,553
FERNEE Provided for the year 14,295
BRESBEABELENEE(ME16)  Transfer to assets classified as held for sale (note 16) (81,551)
RZE—+F+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 2017 37,297
FRNEE Provided for the year 11,263
RZBE—N\F+_A=+—H At 31 December 2018 48,560
REE CARRYING AMOUNTS
R—_ZE—N\F+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2018 328,870
R-ZE—+F+=-_A=+—H At 31 December 2017 340,133
TR EMELHREGEIEERNREHE The above investment properties are depreciated on a
HIBR Sk 50 F T & - straight-line basis over the shorter of the term of the lease or
50 years.
REBEMEREMELIRBLLHERF All the Group's investment properties are held for leasing
HER® - WRHRFI L o purpose under operating leases and are situated on land
in Macau.
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17. REWEE)

RZE—NER_FE—+tF+-_A=+—
A AEEMEREMEHER TR
ERR TASBERITERNER - 5155
PR 5E 29 K2 34 ©

R-E—NFE+-_A=+—8 K&E@E2
WEMEEMNRBPIMEEWESMN)Z
ARE(ARERBNZE=ZR)  ERFTA
AREZEMNHAENFRZ LB ERSS
#%1,306,000,000 8L (=F—+4&F :
1,299,000,000%87L) - AR EHIREE R
AT TIMATIERK -

ANRETIALLBORBRRE A B AR &
GHEHEMERE - AL BEUDEER
HER BN ERRELE -

RBEFEERNGERMLEZES - £
A EEREERREN AR ER
MERERTHERENES MRERS
REIRE A

RER > F=RUBLEFAFEAREL -

ERASETIENEZE-FHBENA
FhITBMEFB] & -
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, all the Group's investment
properties are pledged to banks to secure the bank borrowings
granted to the Group. Details are set out in notes 29 and 34.

As at 31 December 2018, the fair values (Level 3 of fair value
hierarchy) of the Group's investment properties, representing
commercial property units located in Macau, together with
the leasehold interest in land included in the Group's prepaid
lease payments, amounted to HK$1,306,000,000 (2017:
HK$1,299,000,000) in total. The fair value has been arrived
based on an estimation carried out by management.

The fair value was determined by comparison method on the
assumption that they can be sold in their existing states and
conditions. Comparison is based on prices of actual sales
and/or offerings of similar properties.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used
in the prior year. In estimating the fair value of the properties
together with the leasehold interest in land, the highest and
best use of the properties together with the leasehold interest
in land is their current use.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

Further details of the Group’s major properties are set out in
the section headed “Particulars of Major Properties” in this
annual report.
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18. YMENZE 18. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
& BF HENE HER
¥ i RENRE &g b e B THETRE 4t
Furniture,
fixtures Machinery
and Leasehold Motor and  Construction
Buildings Aircraft  equipment  improvements vehicles Vessels  equipment  in progress Total
FHET FiET FET T FiET FHET T THET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A COST
RZZ—+F—A—H At1January 2017 2,827,431 97,500 538,066 1,091,955 32,099 5,973 336,320 2,975,794 7,905,144
RE Additions - - 107,381 22,506 1,536 - 72,455 866,944 1,070,822
el 6. Disposals/write-off (15,963) - (38,494) (24,579) (1,122) - (26,039 (39,112 (145,309)
[ 5 Transfer 2,890,398 - 80,049 131,039 - - 9,671 (3,217,778) (106,621)
BRESERFELE  Transfer to assets
AR (1 16) classified as held
for sale (note 16) (594,527) - (95,975) (495,134) - - (198,446) (495) (1,384,577)
ETE Exchange realignment 15,485 - 1,458 - 70 - 5,236 12,229 34,478
RZZE—+F+=H  At31December 2017
=t+-8 5,122,830 97,500 592,485 725,787 32,583 5973 199,197 597,582 7373937
AE Additions 39,090 - 81,455 25,327 3,083 - 5478 230,112 384,545
HE/ R Disposals/write-off (113 - (4569) (2,158) (529) - (1,395) (4,852) (13,616)
25 Transfer 14,784 - 31,062 3779 - - 3,043 (52,668) -
ELi Reclassification 40,626 - - - - - (40,626) - -
[E5 A% Exchange realignment 566 - 31 - 18 - 39 (7,482 (6,828)
RZZ—\F+=H  At31December 2018
=+—8 5,217,783 97,500 700,464 752,735 35,155 5973 165,736 762,692 7,738,038
& DEPRECIATION
RZZ—+tF—A—H At1January 2017 364,727 66,016 199,363 556,848 10,021 697 165,730 - 1,363,402
FREE Provided for the year 144,682 12,188 88,701 114,630 5412 597 24,615 - 390,825
TS RS Eliminated on
disposals/write-off (363) - (11,649) (7,459) (1122 - 3171 - (23,764)
BRENEABELE  Transfer to asset
MEE (s 16) classified as held
for sales (note 16) (179,140) - (75,105) (352,022) - - (179,925) - (786,192)
R AR Exchange realignment 674 - 230 - 10 - 101 - 1,015
RZZ—+F+=H  At31December 2017
=t+-8 330,580 78,204 201,540 311,997 14,321 1,294 7,350 - 945,286
FREE Provided for the year 139,521 12,188 91,321 75,553 7,120 597 18,607 - 344,907
EERHEE R Eliminated on
disposals/write-off (11) - (4,357) (2,130) (224) - (598) - (7,320)
Exiipa Reclassification 11,871 - - - - - (11,871) - -
B Exchange realignment 260 - 23 - 11 - 21 - 315
RZZ—\E+=A  At31December2018
=+-8 482,221 90,392 288,527 385,420 21,228 1,891 13,509 - 1,283,188
REE CARRYING AMOUNTS
RZZ—\F+=H  At31December 2018
=t—H 4,735,562 7,108 411,937 367,315 13927 4,082 152,227 762,692 6,454,850
RZE—HF+ZA  At31 December 2017
=t+-A 4,792,250 19,296 390,945 413,790 18,262 4,679 191,847 597,582 6,428,651
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18. MERFRHE(E)

RIBIRS W - RFIEREM R REGEA
(25 Rtk BRIN) AR T _FFR
B A W ERE R ERERMBUT -

M ERREERE (ERITRERING
RAEREREATFRZEEIFREER
e :

¥ TS 2% (AR &
TR 12.5%
B BEEEBER 5%-50%
B
THEMZEEE 10% - 33%
B 10% - 25%
e 10%

HERRB(BY  5%-15%
1 % 35 | BR M)

R R R 10% Z 20% 3k
—T-TEIHH
BIEHA A HH
T HA

REBMBFAUIRM BT -

R-ZE—NFE+-_A=1+—8  A£EE
(A5 4,553,782,000 8 THEF(—-F
—+%F 1 5,059,666,0008 0 0 HFaE
YRR 4,644,280,00008 TR DEA
HEH S & E 415,386,000 T) (R IK 40
RIT EARTAEERITERMER -
FEBEEHSIRMTE29 &34 -

HE-Z—+E+-"A=+—RHILFEE -
REEE TYERREARRKRSERD
ERIBERIBRMWEE - ZEWERK
EHBRAMEBERARBRE - FALSE
BARERZERESHEAT4,595,0008 T
—ZT—+% :55,001,000/87T) °
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18. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

According to the Service Agreement, gaming machinery
and equipment in Macau (included in the class “machinery
and equipment”) has to be returned to the Macau SAR
government at no cost upon the expiry of SIM concession
contract in year 2020.

The above items of property and equipment, except for
construction in progress, are depreciated on a straight-
line basis at the following rates per annum after taking into
account of the residual value:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term
of the lease or 2%
Aircraft 12.5%

Furniture, fixtures and 5% - 50%
equipment

10% - 33%
Motor vehicles 10% - 25%
Vessels 10%

5% - 15%

Leasehold improvements

Machinery and equipment
(except for “gaming
machinery and equipment”)

10% — 20% or over the
remaining term of SUM
concessionaire contract
expiring in 2020

Gaming machinery and
equipment

The Group’s buildings are situated on land in Macau and
Lao PDR.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s buildings with carrying
amount of HK$4,553,782,000 (2017: HK$5,059,666,000, of
which HK$4,644,280,000 in property and equipment included
in property and equipment and HK$415,386,000 included in
assets classified as held for sale) are pledged to banks to
secure the bank borrowings granted to the Group. Details are
set out in notes 29 and 34.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group has
certain property and equipment that has been written off due
to physical damage or loss by typhoon Hato. The losses and
damages on those property and equipment are covered by
insurance policy. Insurance claim of HK$74,595,000 (2017:
HK$55,001,000) was recognised during the year in respect of
such losses.
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19. ANHEERE

19. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

—E-N\F —T—+F
2018 2017
FHET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000

REBERTENHEERBERIE The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise:
SEPIMHEE L Leasehold land in Macau 1,279,424 1,710,603
EZIMAOFE L+ Leasehold land in Lao PDR 19,863 20,211
1,299,287 1,730,814

AMEBODNR Analysed for reporting purposes as:

I AEENEERENIERSEE Non-current assets under prepaid lease payments 1,256,559 1,299,223
5 RTENEEFENRBEE Current assets under prepaid lease payments 42,728 42,723

FADHEARBELEEENRE  Current assets under assets classified as held
BE for sale - 388,868
1,299,287 1,730,814

R-E—NFE+-A=+—8  K£EEE
mAEEE1,279,424,0008 0(—E—+
£ :1,710,603,000/% 70) WIB N HERIAE
W TIRIT - (EABR FAREBERITER
BIELR o SHIBEE SRR 29 &34 -

B 192
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As at 31 December 2018, the Group's prepaid lease payments
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$1,279,424,000
(2017: HK$1,710,603,000) are pledged to banks to secure the
bank borrowings granted to the Group. Details are set out in
notes 29 and 34.
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20. HE 20. GOODWILL
—E-N\F —T—+F
2018 2017
FHET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BAR COST
R—A—BE+ZA=+—H At 1 January and 31 December 681,986 681,986
BB IMPAIRMENT
mw—H—H8 At 1 January - -
FABHERZRERE Impairment loss recognised for the year 681,986 -
+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 681,986 -
HRmEE CARRYING AMOUNT
+=A=+—8 At 31 December - 681,986

TR (R RO S W 5 22 MR -

Details of impairment testing on goodwill is disclosed in

note 22.
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21. HEREE

21. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

¥ #EHAA
EEHR R BNEF EFRR% Mat
Gaming
Gaming promoter
operating operating Referral Customer
licence rights relationship relationship Total
FET THET FHET FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRAR COST
RZE—+F At 1 January 2017
—A—H 79,358 274,142 26,053 17,372 396,925
M 34, Exchange realignment 8,695 - - - 8,695
RZTB—+%F At 31 December 2017
+=ZA=+—H 88,053 274,142 26,053 17,372 405,620
M W AR Exchange realignment 294 - - - 294
RZZE—N\F At 31 December 2018
+=ZA=+—H 88,347 274,142 26,053 17,372 405,914
B 3H LORE AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
RZZE—+F At 1 January 2017
—H—H 529 62,812 11,327 7,553 82,221
FRERE Provided for the year 1,693 25,616 4,531 3,021 34,861
I 3 F Exchange realignment 126 - - - 126
RIE—+F At 31 December 2017
+=ZA=+—H 2,348 88,428 15,858 10,574 117,208
FRRE Provided for the year 1,733 25,616 4,531 3,021 34,901
RIE Impairment - 91,954 3,253 2,170 97,377
M 5 Exchange realignment 41 - - - 41
RZZT—N\EF At 31 December 2018
+=—A=+—H 4,122 205,998 23,642 15,765 249,527
BREE CARRYING AMOUNTS
R-ZE—)\F At 31 December 2018
+=ZA=+—H 84,225 68,144 2,411 1,607 156,387
RZE—+F At 31 December 2017
+=—RA=+—H 85,705 185,714 10,195 6,798 288,412
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21. HEREE (&)

NEBZEERARAERAES -
TREEENATHRREREERH
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I8
B
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RN ALLEE —Z-ZFIHN
SRIEHLAE A HIHY
TR Ey - ATIEE
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SRR A Y
Tk F 27

EERE T - TERIHI
SRIEHA A LM
TR 2
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ERAFERABBEUSEEZETEEE
BBFBEEESERBMEEANEL
RIRBRERGCAITBAFMGETTEERXE &
BERE ammﬁﬁmﬂRQFZﬁﬁé
ABENHRARERSR - REEZT—N\F
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. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such
intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over
the following periods:

Gaming operating license 2%

Gaming promoter operating Over the remaining term
rights of SJM concessionaire
contract expiring in 2020
with extension to 2025

Over the remaining term of
SJM concessionaire
contract expiring in 2020

Referral relationship

Over the remaining term of
SJM concessionaire
contract expiring in 2020

Customer relationship

In 2014, the Group recognised the other intangible assets
representing gaming promoter operating rights, referral
relationship and customer relationship of an aggregate amount
of HK$317,567,000, through acquisition of New Legend under
the VIE structure. In view of the performance from indirect
participation in the gaming promotion business in Macau
through New Legend under the VIE structure in the current
year is far below the budgeted result estimated in previous
forecast, the management considers there is an impairment
indicator to the CGU containing these other intangible assets.
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the management
performed an assessment of recoverable amount of the CGU
based on the calculation of value in use. The pre-tax rate used
to discount the forecast cash flows is 16.76%. Impairment loss
of HK$97,377,000 (2017: nil) has been recognised during
the year.
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22,

196

AR
WS R AAEREEEENEE

RZZE——FRAT+N\B  AEEE—F
W RERPTAATEEEIR E M A48.2% B4 - %
RAKBARRINEZENB AR - BPIA
ANGHEEEKERPTVAATE  HA— @
EAEY BE - 2B RRENETERE
=it MENKABCSREABRITA
AT SESE B R SR AR M R0 RIS % A0 R8
—REERGNES  TEERAMHET
FENRENRNE  HHE-—BRESEL
Efir -

HIReELEMOA KOS ETE2RE
VEEMEMRAENGERSRERER
SAEREEE - FTEEAEEZIERR
BREMAEX  EEXRNULBHRNHANK
mRERRAEE BEERARREE
TS EERREEN G IRASELEM
(EARBUEFHEERARKBSRE) FER
BEVERBLAT L R E R R - MEETHE
SLEFERDTSEBIEHGEE - WERE
ERARSIZBEBHIRERTSBRR
BHME °

AEEFRAEEEERBRTARAFY
BBRERRERESRTEE - AFNUEZR
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22.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING
Goodwill from the acquisition of the MFW Group

On 18 May 2012, the Group further acquired 48.2% equity
interest in MFW Investment, it then became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. The MFW Group operates MFW,
a waterfront integrated gaming, hotel, convention and
entertainment complex. The carrying amount of goodwill had
been allocated to the business relating to provision of gaming
related facilities and gaming related general management
services carried out by the MFW Group. Management
considered this as a single CGU for the purpose of impairment
testing of the goodwill.

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based
on value in use calculations by reference to valuation report
prepared by an independent professional valuer. The key
assumptions for the value in use calculations include discount
rates, growth rates and expected changes to revenue and
direct costs during the forecast period. The discount rates
are estimated by using pre-tax rates that reflect current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the CGU for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted. The growth rates are estimated
by reference to the industrial and market data. Changes in
revenue and direct costs are based on past practices and
expectations of future changes in the market.

The Group prepared cash flows forecasts derived from the
most recent financial budgets approved by management
for the next five years. Cash flows beyond five years are
extrapolated using a steady 2.0% (2017: 3.0%) growth rate
for the CGU. This growth rate does not exceed the average
long-term growth rate for the relevant industry. The pre-tax
rate used to discount the forecast cash flows for the CGU is
16.0% (2017: 15.4%). After taken into consideration of the
historical performance and most recent actual performance
of the CGU, management considers that the estimated
future growth in revenue from provision of gaming related
facilities and gaming related general management services
will be significantly slower than previously expected. In
view of the aggregate recoverable amount of the CGU is
below its aggregate carrying amount, an impairment loss
of HK$681,986,000 is recognised during the year ended
31 December 2018.
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23. EfES 23. DEPOSITS PAID
—EB-N\F —T—tF
2018 2017
THET FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
WS REE 2 ERE Deposits paid for acquisition of property
and equipment 23,597 22,724
BERIIREEB ZARORE  Refundable deposit for a potential long-term
(E20) investment project (Note (i)) 697,824 697,824
HBEAKREEE 21EE (M) Deposits for an investment project in
Cape Verde (Note (ii)) 29,691 29,812
751,112 750,360

fif s -

(in)

ZEeEERN—EBLFEF=FEFX
NWZRE  DAMRREREZEZRERE
BfEE T LinERE([Z L)
BEBERPHREBEBEAR([ZEL]) -
R-ZE—-—NFE+-_A-+N\B > EHH
A& E) B E B Howing Enterprises Co.,
Ltd.([Howing ) By 2 ZpE B1TRAR A ([ 48
ERMDIDIVEEREBIVE BRI
(T3 R#E])  Howing BBEMBEZ LT
o BEABRETZRERASRT A
A% 8 F Howing ° 5E RN K
Zti 2 R {EA90,010,000%7T - &
FEAEERZZZSHEARBEEER
B - MEHRERETZREBEASRT=
&8 A N AT 7 E REEA R AR SR B S R SH
Rpskzztit  REAIHE S ZHIRE -
EFERZE-NAF-RAZ+N\HEAE
B EIHERD ©

R-EBE-N\E+-_A=+—BHZ2BEEE
BRI FHER A 2 RIEX 12,278,000
BT (ZZ—+4%F 11,610,000 7T) *
BRLGEASEREHRBSAEBLCER
ISR E AEER A F -

Notes:

0]

The amount represents deposit paid (the “Deposit”) to an
independent third party (the “Vendor") for a potential long-term
investment project in connection with a proposed acquisition of
certain land use rights (the “Land”) in respect of a proposed
development project in Cambodia. On 28 December 2018, the
Vendor and the Group entered into a sale and purchase deed
(the "Deed”) in respect of the sale and purchase of the entire
issued share capital (“Sale Shares”) of Howing Enterprises Co.,
Ltd. ("Howing"), which in turn, will hold the Land. The Vendor
shall transfer the Land to Howing within 12 months from the
date of signing the Deed. The total consideration for the Sales
Shares and the Land is US$90,010,000. The Vendor and the
Group agreed that the Deposit shall be used to settle the
consideration in full. The Deposit could be fully refunded from
the Vendor in the event that it fails to transfer the Sales Share
and the Land to the Group within 12 months from the date
of signing the Deed or any agreed extension. On 28 January
2019, the Vendor has transferred the Sale Shares to the Group.

The amount as at 31 December 2018 included a payment of
approximately HK$12,278,000 (2017: HK$11,610,000) for a
gaming concession with a term of 25 years from the first day
of operation of the casino operated by the Group under the
project in Cape Verde.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

24. 7K 24. INVENTORIES

—E-N\F —E—+F

2018 2017

FHET FET

HK$'000 HK$'000

R Food and beverage 6,517 6,754
ZEP{L Retail merchandise 10,636 20,811
EIEME R Operating supplies 13,527 12,394
30,680 39,959

25. ESREMBEYRRKIE 25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—E-N\E —E—+tF

2018 2017

FHET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

2 5 ez Trade receivables 207,815 188,795
B ORE R Less: Impairment allowance (50,584) (14)
157,231 188,781

TR B Chips on hand 41,660 53,024
H bl sE Mind Other receivables and deposits 95,347 82,847
B ORERE Less: Impairment allowance (58,003) -
37,344 82,847

B A Prepayments 34,755 37,171

REBEH N ACKH BRI Receivables from gaming operator received

EIER IR on behalf of gaming promoters 46,538 40,731
B RHEMEWTRIBELE Total trade and other receivables 317,528 402,554
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B 5 K H b U E ()

BHRWHFBTEBERK —REYEE
B — RE - AN EEEREP RIKRITH
B FRIE

RIEHR - B HERRERIERRER
EEBEEIRIE16,866,0007% 7T (FBRIA
ERH#E 46,963,000 7TC) ( —T—+F ¢
79,458,000/ 7T) °

HtEWRBBLRIZETEBERKAMS
ERAREEETEERENEMARR
Wi °

RUCRIERIATIFE S UL - BEAF - T
AR RBRENRER -

RBERR - AEEE ZEBFBEHE
ERABAAEBEEEY LB RE T
EEMERARRESE ZREARAKE
181,943,000 T(=F —+4 : 221,000
BIL) c A ERBARRESTIARERL
o et R RRREREE -

AEBERRHBEABREE TEX

LEBHFHI0OANEEMS BRTETIKT
HFHIOAMEEMERTEERL TS
1ISANGEER - A TRARBEHRR BH
YRR ERERERERMZS 2

BRER D AT ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade receivables mainly included receivables from a gaming
operator, SJM, individual VIP gaming patrons and receivables
from travel agents.

At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables
included receivables from individual VIP gaming patrons of
HK$16,866,000 (net ofimpairment allowance of HK$46,963,000)
(2017: HK$79,458,000 (net of nil impairment allowance)).

Other receivables and deposits mainly included interest
receivables, temporary payment and other utility deposits for
the purpose of daily operation.

The receivables from SJM are non-trade in nature, unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

At the end of the reporting period, included in the Group's
trade receivables balance are aggregate carrying amount
of HK$1,943,000 (2017: HK$221,000), which are due from
directors of the Company in relation to gaming and non-
gaming services provided by the Group. Such amounts due
from directors of the Company are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.

The Group allows a credit period with an average of 30
days to the gaming operator relating to provision of gaming
related services, an average of 30 days to certain travel
agents and an average of 15 days to its tenants. The following
is an ageing analysis of trade receivables net of impairment
allowance presented based on the invoice date at the end of
the reporting period.
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25.

B 200

B2 RHEAMBWRRIEE)

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

—E-N\F T

2018 2017

THET TFHT

HK$'000 HK$'000

3AAR Within 3 months 145,926 103,290
BRIEAEREEAR Over 3 months but within 6 months 2,270 8,149
BiB6EARBREIEA Over 6 months but within 1 year 5,385 3,588
iR F Over 1 year 3,650 73,754
157,231 188,781

R-EBE-NE+-A=+—8 x&E£E2
B S WA B IEREAE 23,063,000
T2 EUERE - Rk BEAEE - 1 H
EHE R 11,306,000/8 T8 BHI90 B
NE ERREZERFZERE HBE
AERRERITERLE:  ARAEERA
EBREHRDBAI2E8RE - AEE I ER
ZEERT BT IR -

R—_ZTE—+tF+-_A=+—8 K&
EEZRERUREBLEHEEREEREAR
94,161,000 TR FEUERER - ZERIED
R SR BRR A AR - T AN 5 B 3 4 S h VR 1
BEBERE CaHERRENESRE
WHRIBEBERREHREFTHAELA
3 R R EBE A - NEEH
B2 E AR A EMAERY -

HMABRAZERALAT 2018F kK

As at 31 December 2018, included in the Group's trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$23,063,000 which are past due as at the
reporting date. Out of the past due balances, HK$11,306,000
has been past due 90 days or more and is not considered as
in default as the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the balances are still considered fully recoverable due to
long-term/on-going relationship and good repayment record
from these customers. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

As at 31 December 2017, included in the Group's trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$94,161,000, which are past due at the end of
the reporting period for which the Group has not provided for
impairment loss. The trade receivables which are past due but
not impaired were either settled subsequent to the end of the
reporting period or amounts due from debtors which do not
have historical default of payments. The Group does not hold
any collateral over these balances.
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Ageing analysis of trade receivables which are past due
but not impaired

S

2017

BT

HK$'000

BE1EAREI®ANR Over 1 month but within 3 months 8,670
HBAIEREEEANRN Over 3 months but within 6 months 8,149
BR6EABREIFRN Over 6 months but within 1 year 3,588
Bl Over 1 year 73,754
94,161

RIFRBESS Movements in the allowance for bad and doubtful debts
S

2017

FHT

HK$'000

RENRERZ 5% Balance at beginning and end of the year 14
RIZIRBEFEE Allowance for bad and doubtful debts, net 11,996
FRMEE AT ] e £ 58 Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible (11,996)
FRER Balance at end of the year 14

RZE—+tF+-A=+—80  REEREH
HEEA £46214,0008 T 2 @5 HIRR
BB SRUWE  ARKBA—FE
R EREM TG -

RI|EER - BEERTRITERETASE
ErRTEROERNE S RKGIERT
EDRIA129,973,0008 T ( —F—+4 :
164,352,00087T) © F1E 2 AIE SR
29K 34 °

BE_Z-\F+-_A=+—HLFEYH
B o REMEKFIAZREN G ZFEE
SR HEEE40

At 31 December 2017, included in the allowance for bad and
doubtful debts are individually impaired trade receivables
with an aggregate balance of HK$14,000 which are either
aged over one year or in severe financial difficulty.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of
the trade receivables, which have been pledged to banks
to secure the bank borrowings granted to the Group, is
HK$129,973,000 (2017: HK$164,352,000). Details are set out
in notes 29 and 34, respectively.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out
in note 40.
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26.

27.

B 202

BAREFABSEZSHEE

BAARBIFAEBZZ2ESREER
200,000,000 (=F—tF : T)2
KEES RBE-_ZT—-—NE+=A
T+ HBLEFE AEERBEREAR
200,000,000 B T2 K EEEFH - XEBEEFH
REERT ZEFLERSE - BITARE
PEEREAATHIRBFREEETEF
FREBEABRTZA)INFE - 2%
METERE - XKBEBEHTEBE T A
H AR ZZZ=F+ A= HEETFAS
A+ ABETARNIBER -

BEMBITERERRTER
RITEHRRS

SEMRITER

RMER  EERMBITEHIEERRT
BITIERBE=ZFRBFIAAGEE@HE
EENHRZHRPAABEEE 2 B
ZEBER - ZEBRREENEN TS
F£0.01%E0.55%(—F—+F : 0.62%)
B e

BHRITER

RIEHR - WEHRITHERANF1.00%
F230%FHEZETERE  RE
A A=@EANLE AR %TEHA A
RBEHREI12EAR - OB AERS
BE -

RITHEBRRAS

FIRFERCBEASEHENES
FREEIHHABAE=ZMAKUARNLIEN T
0.001% E2.75% (=T —+% : 0.001%)
MEBFEFEFENTERS -

HPMBRARERLT 2018F K

26.

27.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets measured at FVTPL represent perpetual bonds
amounting to HK$200,000,000 (2017: nil). During the year
ended 31 December 2018, the Group subscribed perpetual
bonds with aggregate consideration of HK$200,000,000. The
perpetual bonds are issued at par value with annual coupon
rate of 8% which the issuer is obligated to pay semi-annually
in arrears in June and December in each year only when the
issuer has distributable profit in the respective period. The
coupon payment is not cumulative. The perpetual bonds have
no fixed maturity date and are redeemable at the issuer’s
discretion in whole in December 2023 or in June or December
of any year subsequent to December 2023.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/SHORT-TERM BANK
DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Pledged bank deposits

At the end of the reporting period, pledged bank deposits
represent deposits pledged to banks as security for use of
electricity granted by a third party to the MFW Group and
for the arrangement of letter of credit of the MFW Group.
The balances carry fixed interest rates ranging from 0.01% to
0.55% (2017: 0.62%) per annum.

Short-term bank deposits

At the end of the reporting period, short-term bank deposits
carried fixed interest rates ranging from 1.00% to 2.30% per
annum with original maturity over 3 months and are classified
as current assets since their remaining maturity is within 12
months from the end of the reporting period.

Bank balances and cash

Cash at banks and on hand comprise cash held by the Group
at variable interest rates with an original maturity of three
months or less and carry interest at market rates ranging from
0.001% to 2.75% (2017: 0.001%) per annum.
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28. B R EMENKE 28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
B LEMEAREETERRERIA Trade and other payables principally comprise amounts
MFEERANERTIRERE - AEEE outstanding for ongoing costs and construction work. The
BARENTHEENE—EAZ=EA average credit period granted by the Group's creditors is one
T o month to three months.
—EBE-NF —EF—+F
2018 2017
FET THET
HK$'000 HK$'000
B S EMNTIE Trade payables 49,476 48,962
FERT R EE AR BE FUE Construction and retention payables 234,660 818,699
HAbER /IR Other payables 149,789 189,338
FERERHN ARKIE Amounts due to gaming promoters 23,518 44,272
BFFEWEHNES Deposits received from tenants 27,679 27,598
2URIEE RN AiRE Deposits received from gaming promoters 13,000 26,000
FEZT B TRk Accrued staff costs 120,896 111,180
HEM B R ROA Other sundry accruals 54,010 42,009
BN Bt pE 2R A EE Total trade and other payables 673,028 1,308,058
ERBEHRNAZTEDFES LS - B The amounts due to gaming promoters are non-trade in nature,
A RERARERER - unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
RBMEMRZEZAM2INE S ENK The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented
BERREDITIAT based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:
—EB-N\F —T—tF
2018 2017
T FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
3@AR Within 3 months 48,933 47,037
BA3IEABEELEAN Over 3 months but within 6 months 490 306
tBim 6 A A EE1FA Over 6 months but within 1 year 1 616
HBim1F Over 1 year 52 1,003
49,476 48,962
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29. RITRHMERK 29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
—E-N\F —E—+F
2018 2017
FHExT TFHT
HK$'000 HK$'000
RITIER - BEM (D Bank borrowings, secured (Note i) 1,964,812 2,409,777
H &R (=) Other borrowing (Note ii) 88,900 57,500
2,053,712 2,467,277
RBEBNIS Analysed for reporting purposes as:
MEAE Current liabilities 231,542 1,447 447
EmEBEGE Non-current liabilities 1,822,170 1,019,830
2,053,712 2,467,277
M5t - Notes:
(i) SRITIEF - HIEH (i) Bank borrowings, secured
—B-N\E ST
2018 2017
TERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000

RTIIEEEI AN B EMRITENR  Secured bank borrowings due

-—FR — within one year 142,642 1,389,947
- HE—F  BTHEBWF — more than one year, but not exceeding
two years 263,069 1,019,830
- BBME  BETBBRF — more than two years, but not exceeding
five years 643,950 -
- BBRF - more than five years 915,151 -
1,964,812 2,409,777

B BIARB B BN —F AT Less: Amount due within one year shown under
IR current liabilities (142,642) (1,389,947)

—F BB FIE Amount due after one year 1,822,170 1,019,830
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29. RITREAMERKE)
T ()

0]

RITEK - BEA(E)

RITERIABTTEHE »

RBEzEz-_FT-—WF+-_A=1+—8H
FTFEE  AEBERBIHRESER
4,221,000,000 8 LK L4 R E
THERBRET L EHE  Hb
1,324,000,000 B T AEEEE R EARE
EEERITER - M#ET 2,897,000,0005%
TLARPT R ATSSEEE2E B MR AN IR H S
DEEL NEHE-Z-—N\E+-_A=1+—
AIEFE - ANEE#E—PE—RITEIL
Btk - 1SRRI B E R 2R o 1B
BEXGZE  AEBEZERBEBAB
EXtEERE TR CEFTRE
2,100,000,000 7 - R=ZE—NF+=
A=+—H8 A£EE2EIRNEE H#
REXHEE NS -

R-Z—-NE+-A=+—8 ' HBITER
REBBRTAERE ([BBRITRER
BEDMEMNR25%(ZT—+4F : HHR
TRIZEFBINERNE2.5%)T5 - mankE
FHBEREMNEE522% (- —+4F :
3.41%) °

AEEMRITRSA THIA B R R E
R HEhaE:

(a) KEDE BFREMNHEENRE
HIEB (DRI E17 - 18 %19
Frd)

(b) RFIEATSERIRE KRR (MEM
BRRDMOMBEE

() EPTBATERERE KBRE(MEM
BRADFANMAERTRTE
o FEISHIIRHIE27

BE_Z-\F+-_A=1t—HLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(0]

Bank borrowings, secured (Continued)
The bank borrowings are denominated in HK$.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group entered
into a facility agreement with banks relating to a five-year
syndicated bank term loan facility in the amount of HK$4,221.0
million, of which HK$1,324.0 million was used to repay the then
outstanding bank borrowings and the remaining HK$2,897.0
million was to partially finance the redevelopment project costs
of MFW. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
further entered into a variation agreement with a bank to revise
the terms of the previous facility agreement. Pursuant to the
variation agreement, the Group's loan facility was revised to a
term of seven years from the date of the variation agreement
with revised limit of HK$2,100.0 million. As at 31 December
2018, the Group has fully drawn down the whole amount under
the facility agreement and variation agreement.

As at 31 December 2018, the bank borrowings bear interests
at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") plus 2.5% per
annum (2017: HIBOR plus 2.5% per annum) and the weighted
average effective interest rate was 5.22% (2017: 3.41%) per
annum.

The Group’s bank borrowings are secured and guaranteed,
inter alia, by the followings:

(@)  the mortgage over the investment properties, buildings
and prepaid lease payments as set out in notes 17, 18
and 19 respectively;

(b) all the assets of two subsidiaries, MFW Investment and
Hong Hock;

(c) all the designated bank balances held by two subsidiaries,
MFW Investment and Hong Hock. Details are set out in
note 27;
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29. RITREAMER ()

30.
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29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

30.

Notes: (Continued)

(0]

Bank borrowings, secured (Continued)

(d

(h)

corporate guarantee by Hong Hock and the Company
(2017: Hong Hock, New Macau Landmark and the
Company) to guarantee punctual payment and
performance;

all rights and interests in leases, tenancy agreements,
proceeds from hotel operation and management, rental
income and other proceeds of the pledged properties;

all receivables arising from leases, rental income,
disposal, hotel operations and other proceeds of the
pledged properties;

personal guarantee by Mr. David Chow, executive
director of the Company, Ms. Melinda Chan, the spouse
of Mr. David Chow, and Mr. Li Chi Keung, a substantial
shareholder of the Company; and

shares of MFW Investment and Hong Hock.

Other borrowing represents the amount due to a gaming
operator which is denominated in HK$ and is non-interest
bearing, unsecured and repayable within one year.

LOANS FROM A SHAREHOLDER

As at 31 December 2017, the amounts represented loans
from Mr. David Chow, a co-chairman, an executive director,

the chief executive officer and one of the controlling

shareholders of the Company, which was unsecured and

carry a fixed interest with reference to the prevailing market

rates. The amounts were fully repaid during the year ended
31 December 2018.
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DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following is the deferred tax liabilities recognised and
movements thereon during the current and prior years.

REME MERFZE BASHEHESRK

ARERE DARAERE DARERE st
Fair value Fair value
Fair value adjustment adjustment
adjustment  on property on prepaid
on investment and lease
properties equipment payments Total
THET TATT TATT THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-Z—+&F—F—H  At1January 2017 3,745 32,678 135,153 171,576
FTABR Credit to profit or loss (191) (2,091) (4,224) (6,506)
RZZE—tF+=AH At 31 December 2017
=+—H 3,554 30,587 130,929 165,070
FrABZ Credit to profit or loss (191) (2,091) (4,224) (6,506)
R-ZT—N\F+=A At 31 December 2018
=+—H 3,363 28,496 126,705 158,564
32. BR=A 32. SHARE CAPITAL
R B E x|
Number of
shares Amount
TET
HK$'000
SREEO0.10BTHNEER Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
ETE Authorised:
RZZE—+F—H—HB - At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017 and
—E—+Ft+ZA=t+—RBkK 31 December 2018
—E-NF+ZA=+—H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
BEITRAR Issued and fully paid:
RZZE—+F—HA—HB" At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017 and
—E—+tF+-A=+—HK 31 December 2018
—E-N\F+=ZA=+—H 6,267,576,120 626,758
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33.

B 208

HE—EHRB QT 33.

RZE—LF+—-ANA AEEHEE
TR B EGHE Bt BETRBEE
FORFIEM (BHRMEBESZAF])
B2 S BT RHRM B A RS
BHABERET  AERER  REKE
7%4,600,000,00087C - HEFBER_-F
—\EHEA=++HZEHK -

MBEMBEMNEERMZEERAGBON

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 9 November 2017, the Group entered into the Disposal
Agreement with the Purchasers, pursuant to which the
Purchasers agreed to buy the entire issued share capital
in New Macau Landmark, which is a company holding The
Landmark Macau, and all obligations, liabilities and debts
owing or incurred by New Macau Landmark to Hong Hock at
a cash consideration of HK$4,600,000,000. The Disposal was
completed on 27 April 2018.

An analysis of assets and liabilities of New Macau Landmark

LN as at the Disposal date was as follows:
FET
HK$'000
BREME Investment properties 110,480
YEISES Property and equipment 602,444
FANAEERR Prepaid lease payments 388,868
WEMENREZ ENRE Deposits paid for acquisition of property and equipment 4,202
FE Inventories 4,048
B 5 KA A FEURIE Trade and other receivables 23,047
FEW SR E A BIFRIE Amounts due from group companies 23,252
RITHEBR IR ® Bank balances and cash 6,998
Z 5 R HMFERFRIA Trade and other payables (55,475)
KE—HERAFTHNER Loans from a group company (1,504,854)
B —HEERQRFKIE Amount due to a group company (335)
e — IR A RIRIE Amount due to a related company (187)
FItEBEFE Net liabilities disposed of (397,512)
HE—TEMBARZMEETET © Gain on disposal of a subsidiary is calculated as follow:
BHARIE Consideration received 4,600,000
HE—RBARELAZRAY Expenses incurred on disposal of a subsidiary (62,580)
FHEaE%ER Net liabilities disposed of 397,512
HERE—MERARNER Sale of loans from a group company (1,504,854)
HERBEZ WS Gain on Disposal 3,430,078
FRALE—RNBARNRE X Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal
ReEEMRNFE of a subsidiary:
BUIRESRE Cash consideration received 4,600,000
B SMHEFIEE MRS (R ZE  Less: Deposits received from the Disposal included in liabilities
—tFF+ A=+ —HEREES associated with assets classified as held for sale as at
BARFELEEEGBNARMEN) 31 December 2017 (660,000)
BHERITEHBIRS Bank balances and cash disposed of (6,998)
3,933,002
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KHEE 34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
RIBERR  AEBESEBETREY

LM%&%$EIE!’M*,\mﬂié&Eﬁﬁfﬁﬁ
FRARETAKENENEREER -

pledged are as follows:

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has pledged
¥ -BF BABEERE - EZEKFE certain investment properties, buildings, prepaid
payments and trade receivables to secure the credit facilities
and pledged bank deposits to secure and use of electricity
ZECEREENRBENT granted to the Group. The carrying amounts of the assets

lease

—EB-N\F T —tF

2018 2017

FHET FAET

HK$'000 HK$'000

"EME Investment properties 328,870 450,613
EF Buildings 4,553,782 5,059,666
ENEERE Prepaid lease payments 1,279,424 1,710,603
& 5 RUWGRIA Trade receivables 129,973 164,352
BIRIRIRITIERK Pledged bank deposits 6,525 8,086
6,298,574 7,393,320

NEEEREE(BEESBRFELE

The carrying amounts of the above assets pledged included

BWEEN)MREBELDT in assets classified as held for sale are as follows:
—B-N\F —ZE—+F
2018 2017
FET FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
REMF Investment properties = 110,480
gF Buildings = 415,386
FENEEHIE Prepaid lease payments - 388,868
¥ 5 rEWEIE Trade receivables - 17,999
DEAFELENCIEIREESR Total pledged assets classified as held for sale = 932,733

HEEBE(FHRMFEII) R N\F
MAZ++EHZREK April 2018.

The Disposal (as set out in note 33) was completed on 27
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AEBTBE-S—"F—A—BRAME
GERIBREBETIETRNENE - 518
MEERBYSTEANESH B LE
B BAKENEESFAEE - A%EE
AASGEREBERTEEL BB SR
RH)5%(F 55 1,500 898 ) B3 -

BHE-_Z—N\E+_RA=+—BIFE -
RIBRE PR 8,977,000 T(—E—+
F : 8,352,000 ) B N ARERIZZ
LETEIMBR AT L KB ER F £
R KB R FHEI AR -
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35.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

Employees employed by the Group’s operations in Macau
and Lao PDR are members of government-managed
retirement benefits schemes operated by the Macau and
Lao PDR government, respectively. The Macau and Lao PDR
operations are required to pay a monthly fixed contribution to
the retirement benefits schemes to fund the benefits.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
("MPF Scheme”) under the rules and regulations of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all its
employees in Hong Kong. All the employees of the Group in
Hong Kong are required to join the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ salaries
and are charged to the profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution
is available to reduce the contribution payable in the future
years at the end of the reporting period.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
above retirement benefits schemes is to make the required
contributions under the schemes.

The Group also operates a defined contribution retirement
scheme for all qualifying employees since 1 January 2016.
The assets of the scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in funds under the control of independent
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll
costs to the plan (maximum MOP1,500) per month for each
qualifying employee.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the total
expense recognised in profit or loss of HK$8,977,000 (2017:
HK$8,352,000) represents contributions paid or payable to
above retirement benefits schemes by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the schemes.
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36. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

Atthe end of thereporting period, the Group had commitments
for future minimum lease payments in respect of land, office
properties, warehouse and staff quarters rented under non-
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

—B-N\E —E—+F

2018 2017

FH&xT FHT

HK$'000 HK$'000

—FR Within one year 5,923 6,430
FERE(BEEEMRE) In the second to fifth year inclusive 10,397 9,291
HBARF Over five years 19,628 20,546
35,948 36,267

KEMEREEASEREETHAE S
(RH&19)  -WAEWE - BERBEIR
EMEMES - ERMOEE AT E
MEH25F e ABTEE£%E - WARK
BAEG MEREE oﬁ#/‘*%% AR
REBIEEMNHEBERAFTHME - M
FEMFERBRNETE -

HEARELTHNBEEKRRE®ATS
F o HehFeE UESFTUR
HoOBREEVRIBNEGHAR -
It » ©%19,628,0008 (=T — L4 ¢
20,546,000 70 )5t A ERBiBAFHE
FEIEJEQ"

Operating lease payments represent rental payable by
the Group for certain of its leasehold land (note 19), office
properties, warehouse and staff quarters. Lease term of
leasehold land in Macau is negotiated for a term of 25 years
at a fixed rental and is subject for renewal in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations. Leases for office properties,
warehouse and staff quarters are negotiated for an average
term of two years and rentals are fixed for an average term
of two years.

Lease term of leasehold land in Cape Verde, which will
commence once construction of buildings completed, is
negotiated for a term of 75 years at an annual rental which
is subject to review on an annual basis, and accordingly, the
amount of HK$19,628,000 (2017: HK$20,546,000) is included
in over five years time band as above.
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36. KEMEHAE(E)
AEBEREEA
RBERR - AEER AT RERER

36.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (Continued)
The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted

ERIEEAPEITY with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:
—E-N\F —E—+5F
2018 2017
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
—FR Within one year 55,297 92,175
F_ERF(REERMF) In the second to fifth year inclusive 161,559 287,101
HBARF Over five years 12,021 54,073
228,877 433,349

REHEWAEARERESTHENE
U H) R RFRE MR © R RTRE  HE RO TR B RE
BRFORF  HirEERTFAOMFEHED
WEIE B AT ER /0 B E R R A
Sh - RIBE TRHIFBLFNGER - AKHE
LAAR S R E AR E T B O LR
FERFREUA © SR FF RFREUR A BT 2 51 /Y
ME R RN E B RO FERASEL
TERX -

37. EXRKIE

RBMER  AEERKBYERRE
UERERIRBITNERARBEENS
/322,161,000 (- — L% :
238,316,000 7T ) K) & AN A HE ©

B 212
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37.

Operating lease income represents licensing income
receivable by the Group from certain of its rented premises.
Licensing arrangements are negotiated for an average term
of five years and licensing fees are fixed for an average
term of two years. In addition to the fixed licensing income
which is disclosed above, pursuant to the terms of certain
licensing arrangements, the Group has licensing income
based on certain percentage of gross sales of relevant shop.
The contingent licensing income contributed an insignificant
amount of licensing income earned by the Group during both
years presented.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had capital
commitments in respect of the acquisition of property
and equipment and construction in progress which are
contracted for but not provided of HK$322,161,000 (2017:
HK$238,316,000).
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had the following contingent liabilities at the end
of the reporting period:

Pursuant to the amendment in the Service Agreement on
16 December 2011, in the event of any non-payment by the
gaming promoters or any failure to fulfill their obligations
relating to gaming promotion agreements as entered into
with SUM and gaming promoters, the Group undertakes to
reimburse SJM for any loss caused by such misconduct of
the gaming promoters as well as any possible legal costs
associated with litigation. There are no such claims from SJM
during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

Save and except for the matters specified above, the Group
does not have any litigations or claims of material importance
and, so far as the directors of the Company are aware, no
litigation or claims of material importance are pending or
threatened by or against any companies of the Group.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able
to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes bank and other borrowings disclosed in note 29, and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital (disclosed in note 32) and reserves.

The management reviews the capital structure by considering
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. In view of this, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new shares issue as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.
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£RITH 40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
SRMIEESE Categories of financial instruments
—E-N\F —E—+F
2018 2017
FHExT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
SREE Financial assets
BEHR AR Amortised cost 1,737,230 609,094
BRAREF AER FVTPL 200,000 -
THAE Financial liabilities
b I Amortised cost 2,551,834 4,546,569
HBEREEREBERBE Financial risk management objectives and policies

AEENTFECRHIARIEES RHMRE
WaiE s BERRITER  RHRTE
R RITEHIAS B REMENK
B RITREMERMBERER - 252
BT AMFBRAAREMERE - TXXE#S
HZE D BT B AR E K & K %
SREBOEEK EEEEREMEEZER
B - DARELR BRSO IREUE E 5 o
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The Group's major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, pledged bank deposits, short-term bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables,
bank and other borrowings and loans from a shareholder.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group is mainly exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to variable-rate bank borrowings and bank
deposits, and fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate pledged bank deposits and other borrowings
which are non-interest bearing.

The Group currently does not have interest rate hedging
policy. However, management closely monitors its
exposure to future cash flow risk as a result of change on
market interest rate and will consider hedging changes
in market interest rates should the need arise.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk section of this
note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR and arising
from the Group’s variable-rate borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rate for bank
borrowings and loans from a shareholder. The sensitivity
analysis is prepared assuming the bank borrowings and
loans from a shareholder outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year.
No sensitivity analysis is provided on bank deposits as
the directors of the company consider that the interest
rate fluctuation on bank deposits is minimal.

A 50 basis point (2017: 50 basis point) increase or
decrease is used, which represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates. If the interest rate had been 50 basis point higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s post-tax profit or loss would have increased/
decreased by approximately HK$9,824,000 (2017:
HK$15,905,000).

In the opinion of the directors of the company, the
sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
interest rate risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the respective year.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Currency risk

Certain trade and other receivables, trade and other
payables, pledged bank deposits, stort-term bank
deposits and bank balances and cash are denominated
in foreign currencies other than the functional currency
of the relevant group entities, which expose the Group
to foreign currency risk. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arises.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end
of the reporting periods are as follows:

BE
Assets

—EB-N\F —E—tF

2018 2017

THET FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

SRPREE ([P ) Macau Pataca (“MOP") 232,665 192,757

R Thai Baht 93,184 70,077
HEARTES Cape Verdean Escudo

([EARIES ) ("CVE") 12,695 442
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

H i E R () Market risk (Continued)
(i)  EEEREE) (i)  Currency risk (Continued)
afE
Liabilities
—E-N\F —T—+F
2018 2017
FTHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
SRPTHEE MOP 346,149 1,052,904
BT Thai Baht 18,572 22,126
HEARTES CVE 17,495 -
MARRPIEEE TR - KR AE The directors of the Company do not expect any
FEHTEBTAERIINERR - significant foreign currency exposure as MOP is pegged
to HKS.
HBEEDWT Sensitivity analysis
TRAMREERFHRL B TITE The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to
REE3I%NGRE - 3% HAEE a 3% increase and decrease in Thai Baht against HKS.
BB A B RNER R oM R By 5K 3% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
WEURELLE - WHRKE R EH I currency risk internally to key management personnel
BIEXNAIRSEZBNTE - & and represents management’s assessment of the
REDTEBEUINESHENER reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
XNEHIER - The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency dominated monetary items.
—E-N\F —T—+F
2018 2017
TR FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
FNRRT 6 I N Increase in post-tax profit for the year
(Z2—1F : FAKRKR (2017: Decrease in post-tax loss for
EERL) the year) 2,238 1,439

WAREFNHEHRTEZOGRED Tﬁ
AARBEEERRERNAIGEARE
TEHAEEBREEREATE -

No sensitivity analysis for CVE was presented as
the management of the Company consider that the
reasonably possible change in those foreign exchange
rates will have no material impact to the Group’s profit
or loss.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2018 Annual Report 217




m RERHERRME(R)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE—

T-N\F+_A=T—RBILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2018

40.

B 218

ERITE(E)
P EMEEEERBE ()

1= BB B R Bl (B 7T 1

AEBHRHFITRHERRKERTE
BMEERAEBEELPBEREINESE
ERER TR B AR M BIRER SR AE
EOHRALMEENREE -

REBBABYEER BEPIA 1IF';‘J
BEEBYEPMNEMIBLEERP XK
MEERBRERE  AEBEE ﬁFE%
TEFREEEEERBREREMRZ - &
SAEMFEPA - AEBERARIEE
NHEMGEEEEFPZERER  WRE
FREGERE - RTHEFPHRERTSD
BFRIMRK - AMEERERF DRI AW
RELRE B ER SRR ETS - BE

AEEERABRERMRNRITREE
HBBETRS - I AEEREREL

MBERELEANEIRRREHREEBER
BN (215 CEABBRRI) Y
REHEEBEENEREREENIRIEREE
R TRER i -

1B EE

BREBFIA  ASEHEAETRESE
WHEZEERR  RAAE S EKNIE
BEER 63%( =T —+4F : 37%) KA E
% Ebh FEUCRE (FRFIMIBE L ER)
FIFIE o AL E TN A S PR H b e U R
BEERR  RAARRZZE—N\F+=

A=+ —BEMERRERTES 29% (=
T—+F 1 19%) IERHEFARIE -

AN AEBEHAETRAERNEEEY

BEPBRZEERR - AREILEHK A
BEEBZETERERR  RRAOGRZ
HEP o

HPMBRARERLT 2018F K

40.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
obligations by the counterparties at the end of reporting
period are arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk in regard of balances
with the gaming operator, gaming promoters, individual
VIP gaming patrons and other customers of non-gaming
operation, the management of the Group has delegated
a team responsible for determination of credit limits and
credit approvals. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group uses an internal credit scoring system to assess the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits
by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring procedures are in
place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. Moreover, the Group only transacts with
high-credit-rating banks or financial institutions. In addition,
the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model upon application of HKFRS 9 (2017: incurred loss
model) on balances subject to ECL individually or based on
provision matrix.

Gaming operation

Inrelation to the gaming business, the Group has concentration
of credit risk on trade receivable as 63% (2017: 37%) of the
total trade receivables is due from SJM within the gaming
segment, which is a gaming operator in Macau. The Group
also has concentration of credit risk on other receivable as
29% (2017: 19%) of the total other receivables is due from
this customer as at 31 December 2018. In addition, the Group
has concentration of credit risk on the Group's advances to
individual VIP gaming patrons. The Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk from the non-gaming business,
with exposure spread over a number of customers.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Gaming operation (Continued)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for the gaming operator,
gaming promoters and individual VIP gaming patrons. As
at 31 December 2018, the Group’s trade receivables and
other receivables from gaming operations are assessed for
impairment on an individual basis. Lifetime ECL is recognised
for trade receivables with an aggregate gross carrying
amount of HK$168,107,000, of which receivables from
gaming promoters and individual gaming patrons amounting
to HK$65,322,000 is credit-impaired. In respect of the other
receivables, lifetime ECL is recognised for an aggregate gross
carrying amount of HK$44,104,000 which are identified as
credit-impaired financial assets and 12m ECL is recognised
for an aggregate gross carrying amount of HK$62,319,000
because there has been no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition based on past due information.

Non-gaming operation

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its trade
receivables in relation to its non-gaming operation because
these customers consist of a large number of small customers
with common risk characteristics that are representative of
the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance
with the contractual terms. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which is assessed based on provision matrix
as at 31 December 2018 within lifetime ECL (excluding an
aggregate gross carrying amount of HK$1,892,000 which are
credit-impaired financial assets).
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

B EE () Non-gaming operation (Continued)
SREA SRR B 5 R IR
Average Trade
Gross carrying amount loss rate receivables
TET
HK$'000
B (RImEA) Current (not past due) 0.28% 25,109
BE1E30H 1-30 days past due 0.84% 8,096
BmHEI31E60H 31-60 days past due 2.00% 3,000
BEI61E 90 H 61-90 days past due 5.00% 464
BEI90 ALA more than 90 days past due 69.00% 1,147
37,816

BMABBREIRBEEBERENRIZRE
WHRHR 2 R FRMGEET  URBEARE
U4 B O B T R 1 R A5 B0 BT RE 1 B R
BWITHRE - DHEBEEE TSR - A
REFEBABEBYRRZEBER - ©
BE_Z—N\F+A=-+—BLEFE"
AEBE S RUWFIAR B REEMRET R
394,000/ T2 EEEA

MR —ZE—NE+_-_A=+—BREHFF
TEEZHEMERENS  REEEA
#£13,900,000 & i #%51 A L R EERE
CERMEERRAEHEHEEEE K
E 4584 21,562,000 TR A+ — @
AEHEEEE  REAREZAISHER -
B IR AR LA RS B R MR 0 B K R4 N -

HPMBRARERLT 2018F K

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated. During
the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group provided
HK$394,000 loss allowance for trade receivables based on
provision matrix.

In respect of the other receivables from non-gaming operation
as at 31 December 2018, lifetime ECL is recognised for an
aggregate gross carrying amount of HK$13,900,000 which
are identified as credit-impaired financial assets and 12m
ECL is recognised for an aggregate gross carrying amount
of HK$21,562,000 because there has been no significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition based on past
due information.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Reconciliation of loss allowances

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the

simplified approach.

2 HEEEE >HEERE
(WEEERE) (HREERE) #ET
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
FA&T FAT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-_E—/\&—H—H At 1 January 2018 - 14 14
FTFERR R EE18 Impairment loss recognised for
-RZE-N\F—A—HZ —financial assets as at
TRIEE 1 January 2018 - 46,663 46,663
-RFEARESBEAFT R — new financial assets
BE originated or purchased
during the year 405 3,502 3,907
RZZT—N\F+-H=1+—H At31 December 2018 405 50,179 50,584

TRBEREMERFORER 2 EIRREE

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances
that has been recognised for other receivables:

28

2 HEEEE
(HBREERE)
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
FET
HK$'000
RZZE—-N\F—-H—H At 1 January 2018 -
FrEgRRER 1B Impairment loss recognised for
-RZE-NF—-—H—B2 - financial assets as at
CEEE 1 January 2018 20,166
- RERRESBEAFEF - new financial assets
BE originated or purchased
during the year 37,837
RZZE—)\F+_-_A=+—H At 31 December 2018 58,003

KEHEMERFEBEZ T —EABBEERS

BYTEKX -

The 12m ECL arose from other receivables is insignificant.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Other items subject to ECL

For the remaining of other receivables including chips on
hand, no impairment allowance was made since the directors
of the Company consider the probability of default is minimal
after assessing the counter-parties’ financial background
and creditability.

For the pledged bank deposits, short-term bank deposits and
bank balances, no expected credit loss was made since the
directors of the Company consider the probability of default
is negligible as such amounts are receivable from or placed
in banks in Macau, Hong Kong and Laos that have reputation
based on the credit ratings provided by recognised credit
rating agencies.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit
risks associated with the perpetual bonds classified as
financial assets at FVTPL. Accordingly, its carrying amount of
HK$200,000,000 represents the maximum exposure to credit
risk at 31 December 2018.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the operations as
disclosed in note 1 and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows. The Group relies on bank borrowings as a
significant source of liquidity. The management monitors
the utilisation of borrowings and ensures compliance with
loan covenants.
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40. T AR (&) 40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

BERREEAZEREEE) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

REELREE (&) Liquidity risk (Continued)
REBETF Liquidity table
TRHAVAEEGFEIETESHEENT The following tables details the Group’s remaining
BADRDNEER - TROBEBEAEBZAN contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities.
THEEHE  REMBENKRIERS The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted
MERY - FTESRMEBEIHAER cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
WBERBRAH - ZRBEMNERETESEH S on which the Group can be required to pay. The maturity
B o MLLEEIFIEREE - RBFIREFEY dates for non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the
PASREBA R TR EEY - agreed repayment dates. The table includes both interest

and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

¥y RERFY RERRE
HRAE 3EAREE 3@AZ1E 16525 2FE55F HiB5F hERHE BIREE

Weighted Repayable on

average  demand or Between Between Between Total Total
effective within 3 months to 1to 2 2to5 Over undiscounted carrying
interest rate 3 months 1 year years years 5 years cash flows amount
% FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZF-N\F At 31 December 2018
+=A=+—H
PEIER Non-interest bearing
instruments TEAN/A 587,022 - - - - 587,022 587,022
FEIA Variable interest rate
instruments 5.22 175,291 71,526 358,048 853,647 971,210 2,429,722 1,964,812
762,313 71,526 358,048 853,647 971,210 3,016,744 2,551,834
R-ZE—t5F At 31 December 2017
+=A=+-8
BT A Non-interest bearing
instruments TEAN/A 1,365,558 - - - - 1,365,558 1,365,558
FRIA Variable interest rate
instruments 3.66 317,186 1,135,145 1,026,031 952,474 - 3,430,836 3,181,011
1,682,744 1,135,145 1,026,031 952,474 — 4,796,394 4,546,569
s )5 B 7| 2= 52 B A Rl B # & B R EE 2 B9 A The amounts included above for variable interest rate
TG FFALASETA SR BENZR instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
ITEMSRAgEs - to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those

estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.
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200,000,000 T( = —+tF : T)HK
BEFEBEAANEEBRE=H KA
MREEEY  FERARBEAEEEE
3.64% (X EZREENALE S ALER
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40.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Fair value of financial instruments

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable
data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are
not available, the Group engages third party qualified valuers
to perform the valuation. The valuation committee works
closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.
The chief financial officer of the Company reports the
valuation committee’s findings to the board of directors of the
Company every quarter to explain the cause of fluctuations in
the fair value.

Perpetual bonds classified as financial assets at FVTPL with
the fair value as at 31 December 2018 of HK$200,000,000
(2017: nil) is categorised as Level 3 of fair value hierarchy.
Hull-White model with key inputs of credit spread of 3.64%,
mainly taken into consideration of credit rating and implicit
specific risk, and mean reversion constant of 0.03%, mainly
taken into consideration of market-quoted volatilities of
European-style swaptions, is adopted. A significant increase
in the market interest rate and credit spread used would result
in a significant decrease in the fair value of the perpetual
bond, and vice versa.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

The fair values of financial assets, except for financial assets at
FVTPL, and financial liabilities are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted
cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.
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RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows

HaE - as cash flows from financing activities.
RITR

EARE EERE HnfEmR BREEMR st

Bank and Loans

Dividend Interest other from a
payable payable borrowings shareholder Total
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(M5E29)  (BFE30)

(note 29) (note 30)
RZZE—/\F—H—H  At1January 2018 - 33,942 2,467,277 771,234 3,272,453
mEReRE (M) Financing cash flows (Note) (501,406)  (130,991)  (425,600)  (771,234) (1,829,231)
B 75 & BB Finance costs - 97,309 12,035 - 109,344
BEEIRZRE Dividend declared 501,406 - - - 501,406

N-E—-NE+_-A At 31 December 2018
=+—H - 260 2,053,712 - 2,053,972
RZZT—+tF—HA—H  At1January 2017 - 23,833 3,453,167 - 3,477,000
BER e nE (M) Financing cash flows (Note) - (122,097) (1,001,000) 771,234 (351,863)
% E R Finance costs - 132,206 15,110 - 147,316
R-ZE—+F+_-A At 31 December 2017

=+—H - 33,942 2,467,277 771,234 3,272,453

M ReEREGARERERPEERRE
R BNERE - R REERTREME
RREMFE -

Note: The cash flows representrepayments of loans from a shareholder,
dividend paid, the additions and repayments of bank and other
borrowings, and interest paid in the consolidated financial
statement of cash flows.
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42.

43.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

On 5 June 2013, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the "Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group. Eligible
participants of the Share Option Scheme include, among
others, the directors of the Company, including independent
non-Executive Directors, full-time or part-time employees,
executive or officers of the Group, advisors, consultants,
suppliers, customers and agents. The Share Option Scheme
became effective on 5 July 2013 upon the Listing.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the
Share Option Scheme.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Apart from balances and transactions with related companies
as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no other significant transactions
with related parties for both years.

Compensation to key management personnel of the Group
which represents directors of the Company is set out in
note 10.
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44, T EMBATYE 44. LIST OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

ARBIRBERRETEMBRINFS Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end of

NN the reporting period are as follows:
BT AV BRTRBZES S FLAMBERTRE
MEAR A BRI i B AEMER AEMEANEELS TEEK
Place of Proportion of nominal value

of issued share capital/
registered capital

Issued and fully
paid capital/

incorporation/
establishment/

Name of subsidiary operations registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
—E-NFE —T—F
2018 2017
BE R A 100% 100% REERAB#RER
1,000,000 P9 # B ARRE — AR E AR
Hong Hock* Macau Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Provision of gaming
MOP1,000,000 related facilities and
gaming related general
management services

FRFIE M R Rl - 100% ACEBIE R

100,0002F#

New Macau Landmark? Macau Ordinary shares - 100% Operating hotel business

MOP100,000

Macau Legend BB ERBIEHKS1 78T 100% 100% MIEERAFREERRDS
Development
(Hong Kong) Limited*

Macau Legend Hong Kong Ordinary share 100% 100%  Provision of management
Development HK$1 services to group
(Hong Kong) Limited* companies

SRPVRATEERIRE R gl 100% 100% AL E 5 %755

10,000,000 29 #&
MFW Investment* Macau Ordinary shares 100% 100% Operating hotel business
MOP10,000,000
EREEBRAR il [iREE v 100% 100% TEXY) - EE MY
100,000 #&

Grand Merit Retail Group Macau Quota shares 100% 100%  Retail of clothing,

Limited MOP100,000 footwear and

accessories
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44. FEHMBATIIFR(E) 44. LIST OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

MRS BROTRMEESL S XIARFRHEBTRE

- PN FRAL, 5 i B AMEAR SR E A A EE L B FTEEK
Place of Proportion of nominal value
incorporation/ Issued and fully  of issued share capital/
establishment/ paid capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operations registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
—EB-NF Tt
2018 2017
The Legend Club Limited 8PS BegEAR 19 100% 100% FFEMEMRE
130,0002F#&
The Legend Club Limited Macau Quota shares 100% 100% Holding two vessels
MOP130,000
MLD Cabo Verde BiEA gl 100% 100% #EEBRES
Entretenimento, S.A. 2,500,000 #1715 A4
RETES
MLD Cabo Verde Cape Verde Ordinary share 100% 100% Operating gaming
Entretenimento, S.A. CVE2,500,000 business
MLD Cabo Verde Resorts, ~ f#15 =gl 100% 100% #EEBIEET
SA. 2,500,000 15 8
RETES
MLD Cabo Verde Resorts,  Cape Verde Ordinary share 100% 100%  Operating hotel business
S.A. CVE2,500,000
Savan Legend Resorts Sole  ## Rl 100% 100%  AEEIREESS OB 5 375
Company Limited 336,000,000,000
EE
Savan Legend Resorts Sole  Lao PDR Ordinary share 100% 100%  Operating casino and
Company Limited KIP336,000,000,000 hotel business
* 100% R AN EI EHEER - RFIBABE * 100% directly owned by the Company, except MFW
RE(BOBMARNAIEEES * 20%EAA Investment, which is 80% directly and 20% indirectly owned by
RAIEEAEB R - the Company.
# ERZZE-N\FEA-++tHEE, FB # Disposed on 27 April 2018, details are set out in note 33.

HYIRHIFE33 -

B 228 smmmamsmas 20185%
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44. LIST OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Further to the disclosures in prospectus of the Company
dated 17 June 2013 and the Company’s announcement dated
31 December 2013, the Company diversified its business and
has indirectly participated in the gaming promotion business
through New Legend under the VIE Structure. The Group
obtained all required approvals from regulatory authorities
and independent shareholders of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2014 and has had control over the
gaming promotion business of New Legend and rights to
consolidate the financial results of New Legend since 3 July
2014 as if it was the Group's wholly-owned subsidiary, which
allows the economic benefit of New Legend’s business flow
to the Group. As a result, the financial results of New Legend,
in which 100% of the issued shares are owned by Mr. Yip Wing
Fat, Frederick, was consolidated by the Group effectively as a
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary.

The above table list the subsidiaries of the Company, which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, would result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year.
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45. XD AN BRI R 45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY
—E-N\F —E—+F
2018 2017
FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
BB R R RRE Investments in subsidiaries 4,247,029 4,247,029
BEfike Deposit paid 697,824 697,824
4,944,853 4,944,853
MEEE Current assets
TERTRIR Prepayments 2,293 14,327
JrE S B B8 R R FRIB Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,925,813 355,206
RITEERR Bank balances 1,133 2,125
1,929,239 371,658
mEAE Current liabilities
FEETFX Accrued charges 1,149 2,267
FERTP B A BRI Amounts due to subsidiaries 1,293,377 1,591,749
1,294,526 1,594,016
mEEE(ARE)FE Net current assets (liabilities) 634,713 (1,222,358)
EEFE Net assets 5,579,566 3,722,495
PR R Capital and reserves
&N Share capital 626,758 626,758
G Reserves 4,952,808 3,095,737
AR Total equity 5,579,566 3,722,495
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46. EARMNEREER 46. STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OF
THE COMPANY
HEEE Movements in reserves
(R&HE5E)/
B2 =E Hitt s REEF L]
(Accumulated
losses)/
Share Other retained
premium reserve profit Total
FHET FHET FHET FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(FfE)
(Note)
R-ZE—+F—HA—H At 1 January 2017 4,233,248 202,312 (1,328,434) 3,107,126
FREEBREZEMZMHE Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year - - (11,389) (11,389)
R=ZZE—+t+=A At 31 December 2017
=+—H 4,233,248 202,312 (1,339,823) 3,095,737
FRHEF R EEUWREEEE  Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year - - 2,358,477 2,358,477
BEIRZERIRE Special dividend declared - - (501,406) (501,406)
R-ZT—-NE+=A At 31 December 2018
=+—H 4,233,248 202,312 517,248 4,952,808
BiaE : EhEAERQ WA ME QRSN Note: The other reserve represents the difference between the

HERARAR-_ZTZNFT-AKHE
EARREBEC ETORNRF RO EE
M ZEHIR B A RWIB AT RENE 2K

BB o

nominal value of the shares of subsidiaries acquired by the
Company and the nominal value of the shares of the Company
issued for acquisition at the time of group reorganisation in
December 2006 less dividends distributed from pre-acquisition
reserves of the subsidiaries.
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47.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 27 February 2019, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement pursuant to which the Group has
conditionally agreed to acquire and the sellers, certain
independent third parties, (the “Sellers”) have conditionally
agreed to sell 21.5% of the share capital of Lai leng Investment
Company Limited (“Lai leng”), a company incorporated
in Macau with limited liability, and the shareholders loans
granted by the Sellers to Lai leng, at a total consideration
of HK$84,495,000 (the “Acquisition”). Lai leng together with
its wholly-owned subsidiary are principally engaged in land
development, sale, leasing and management of the self-built
commercial buildings in the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC"), and is operating a property development project in
the PRC. The completion of the Acquisition is conditional upon
fulfilment of conditions as set out in the sale and purchase
agreement which has yet been fulfilled as at the date of
this report. Further details of the Acquisition are set out in
announcement of the Company dated 27 February 2019.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the

sk Group for last five years is set out below:
BZ+-A=t+—-HALEE
Year ended 31 December
—B-NE ZZT—+tF ZT—RF IE-—HF T—MOF
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
FHET FHET FHET FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
4 Results
Wees Revenue 1,865,383 1,836,057 1,471,461 1,436,143 1,811,112
$HE R ARTSEAR Cost of sales and services (1,346,618)  (1,341,174)  (1,058,447)  (1,015,609) (881,828)
518,765 494,883 413,014 420,534 929,284
HMUg A - Yezk K538 Other income, gains and losses 133,011 (65,442) 21,702 2,047 138,715
HE—FEBARIMKE Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 3,430,078 - - - -
TRIEE 2 RERE Impairment losses on financial
assets (108,573) - - - -
B 7 REEER Impairment loss on goodwill (681,986) - - - _
HiE\RMEEZRME  Impairment losses on other
E518 intangible assets (97,377) - - _ _
MSHEERSEEMAY  Marketing and promotional
expenses (194,000) (183,791) (154,325) (133,883) (89,511)
B - TN EAMFY  Operating, administrative and
other expenses (439,393) (576,138) (513,522) (477,436) (415,649)
B E R A Finance costs (109,344) (103,751) (23,491) (84,749) (88,877)
R AR (1) Profit (loss) before taxation 2,451,181 (434,239) (256,622) (273,487) 473,962
TS () e Income tax (charge) credit (485,075) (73,102) (20,873) 4,979 4,979
ERGEF (EE) Profit (loss) for the year 1,966,106 (507,341) (277,495) (268,508) 478,941
R+=A=+—8H
At 31 December
ZB-NF T—+F ZT-RE T-hF T-OF
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
FHET THETT THETT THET THET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EEREE Assets and liabilities
BEBE Total assets 10,993,171 11,676,824 11,268,333 11,864,772 12,537,920
BB Total liabilities (3,301,229)  (5,440,519)  (4,575,909)  (4,771,681)  (5,078,228)
EEFE Net assets 7,691,942 6,236,305 6,692,424 7,093,091 7,459,692
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PARTICULARS OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

REBRZ_ZE-N\F+ZA=Z+—BNFEME Particulars of major properties of the Group as at 31 December

FIEERIT 2018 are set out below:

REBENG

MEERE b2 ke HH EEATL

Percentage

of interest

attributable to

Property name Location Use Lease term the Group

BPTRAIER AV PN BEEES R 100%
TR IR G R B N IE =85

FE—HRIEEE
(B8R RFAATESE D)
Macau Fisherman’s Wharf  Phase | and Phase | Extension of a Tourism Hotel/ Medium 100%
and Entertainment Complex known as Commercial/
"Macau Fisherman’s Wharf” (C2P9)8 AEEE) at Car Park
Avenida da Amizade (KFEAS ), Macau

B 234 smpmuaszswas 2018F%
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[ZZ-NFBRRAF ]
2019 AGM”

[BEH]
“ADR"

[Er2408]]

"Articles of Association”

[BEZZEE]

“Audit Committee”

3=
“Board”

[R5 A
“Cape Verde”

[ ERTAI
"CG Code”

AN

"Company”

[RRIERA

“Corporate Guarantors”

[ [ 85 pEE i s |

"David Chow Share Options”

[MEER ]
"DICJ”

THARREE

B
DEFINITIONS

In this report, the following expressions shall, unless the content
otherwise requires, have the following meanings:

ARABRZE-NFRA-ZTHBERTZREAFAE
the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 29 May 2019

SAFHER

average daily room rate

RARETRERT M ERAA

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time

ARBEZEREE

the audit committee of the Company

=g

the board of Directors

B AHANE
the Republic of Cabo Verde

LR B ER 14 PR R R EDA<T R

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

BPEBRAEBARAR  —HRHEEREEMAINBRAR - A BEITRONBRN
TREM

Macau Legend Development Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability, the issued Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange

EN/NCIDS 1
the Company and Hong Hock

RRARZB——F+— AR TERIE L AR 24,412,724 RIX) () 2 BBk
B R-E-RE+—AZ+=ZAKK

the option to subscribe for 24,412,724 Shares, as adjusted, granted by the Company
to Mr David Chow in November 2011, lapsed on 23 November 2016

RPIERERGAD

Direccdo de Inspecgao e Coordenacao de Jogos, the Gaming Inspection and
Coordination Bureau in Macau

Macau Legend Development Limited 2018 Annual Report 235




B=(E)

DEFINITIONS (CONTINUED)

==

"Directors”

[HESIR]

"Disposal”

[HERH]
“Disposal Date”

[TEE]

“Executive Directors”

B85 B8 M A AR 1
"Exclusive Management and
Consultancy Services Agreement”

[ B E G &
"Exclusive Undertaking to
Sell Agreement”

[BE&

"Facility”

B E a5

"Facility Agreement”

[RE&EE ]
"Group”

7]
"HKS"

678
“Hong Hock”

236 EREmARERAT 20185%

RARES
the directors of the Company

[R]85 37 58 = 77 A 4,600,000,000 87T 2 KB & () #TRFTE M1 H) 100% A AR + K (ii)
FURFIEMERBRI B EE - AENRER

the disposal of (i) 100% equity interest in New Landmark Macau and (ii) all obligations,
liabilities, and debts owing or incurred by New Landmark Macau to Hong Hock, to
independent third parties, at the consideration of HK$4.6 billion

“E-NFOA—+tH
27 April 2018

ARAFMITES

the executive directors of the Company

IR ET RN — T F I A N BET LV ER B IR R ARBE S
the exclusive management and consultancy services agreement dated 16 April 2014
entered into between Hong Hock and New Legend

AR~ BB R AN B —FN A+ RNAF L BRIHE A E
the exclusive undertaking to sell agreement dated 16 April 2014 entered into among
Hong Hock, New Legend and Mr Frederick Yip

RERAFRPTR AR AR —2$5/32,100,000,000 78 7T 6 F B A ST
HERRE

a seven year transferable term loan facility in the amount of HK$2,100,000,000
provided by the Lender to MFW Investment

BFPBATBERE - ARERARTREMGTZAMA-Z-/\F=ZA-ThBEHR
BHIRE s

the facility agreement dated 29 March 2018 and entered into among MFW
Investment, the Corporate Guarantors and ICBC Macau relating to the Facility

AR REMB AR

the Company and its subsidiaries

BT BELEER

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BREXEMNERATR - —HNRFIEMKZARRL SRR FNHE LS
Hong Hock Development Company Limited, a company incorporated in Macau and
a subsidiary of the Company



(&8 2 [ BEBRAITTHE ]
"Hong Kong” or “HKSAR"

[ THRERMT
“ICBC Macau”

[Z5)]
“Lao PDR”

[ERA

“Lender”

=
“Listing”

[ Em A
“Listing Date”

[ ErmsRAll

“Listing Rules”

&P ]

“Macau”

[Pt

“Madam Lam”

[RFYE ARG

“MEW"

R ATGSEEE

“MFW Group”

DR ATSSERE

“"MFW Investment”

2%(|)
DEFINITIONS (CONTINUED)

HEFEBRRITHRE
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

B TR TT ORPI BN BR AT

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Macau) Limited

ZMARRITHME

The Lao People’s Democratic Republic

BERNERA - AN THRRA
the lender of the Facility, which is ICBC Macau

BHE—ZE—=F+ AR BRREBAMER LT
the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with effect from
5 July 2013

BRI R P £ IR _E TRy B HA
the date when the Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

B2 g s L AR A

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

g AR AMBLRFIS RIFTIRE
Macau Special Administrative Region, PRC

MBBR L ARRINEIEE - BITEE - ZERER(EER ETHRA) - FARELEEZ
BRI REARBREZER

Madam Lam Fong Ngo, the vice chairman, an executive Director, a controlling
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, the mother of Mr David
Chow and the grandmother of Mr Donald Chow

HIRPTRABRINE 2 ERRFIE ARG
Macau Fisherman’s Wharf operated by MFW Investment

BPTRANGRIRE R EM B AR

MFW Investment and its subsidiaries

BFVAABRERIRERNBERRIR - —RRRPIEMALH R B RA R RH KB
A

Macau Fisherman’s Wharf International Investment Limited, a company incorporated
in Macau and a subsidiary of the Company
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DEFINITIONS (CONTINUED)

DRFTAATSSEERIAR | ¥ RFTRATESRRER

"MFW Redevelopment” the redevelopment of MFW

[1RAE<PA ] £ FARBIMER 10 PTE Y E BT ABRETE SRR HHRLESTR

“Model Code” the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in

Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

R | Eis SRPTEE - RPUEE B

“MOP” Macau Pataca, the lawful currency of Macau

[ARE A& | 15 ARER A ARBNEEER « PITESRITHAH ARFTERBRR(EER LW
A« BEEZINES MEXLZ2RFRARBEEZH

“Mr David Chow” Mr Chow Kam Fai, David, a co-chairman, an executive Director and the chief

executive officer of the Company, a controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company, the spouse of Ms Melinda Chan, the son of Madam Lam and
the father of Mr Donald Chow

[ARELEAE ] b=l BRESEE  ARAFINPITES SEEKEHERGE  AABBEENREEL LI
BFURMEZ LT Z2ER
“Mr Donald Chow"” Mr Chow Wan Hok, Donald, an executive Director, vice president, corporate business

development of the Company, the son of Mr David Chow and Ms Melinda Chan, and
the grandson of Madam Lam

[EX S | HERBRL - MERE—RRRE—EE  YRAARRITAIRSRRESEETE

"Mr Frederick Yip"” Mr Yip Wing Fat, Frederick, the sole shareholder and sole director of New Legend
and the executive vice president, head of casino operations of the Company

[BRE R L] EC REER L - RPFTAABBERENAEE - SRBERENEEBRARBEE 28

“Ms Melinda Chan” Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda, a president of MFW Investment, the spouse of Mr David
Chow and the mother of Mr Donald Chow

[ #TEhSE | & HEREESE - ABRAR - —HREXRBEENRFEMR LD - WREATE
RaEREBERAARNNERRFEE AR

“"New Legend” New Legend VIP Club Limited, a company incorporated in Macau by Mr Frederick
Yip, and consolidated as a subsidiary of the Company under the VIE Structure

[#mRFIE U £ RFEHERAR AR - WRFIEMKIZZ AR BBRFBEMES 2 SEEA A

“New Macau Landmark” New Macau Landmark Management Limited, a company incorporated in Macau, legal
owner of The Landmark Macau

[REZEg] | AREREEER
“Nomination Committee” the nomination committee of the Company

238 mmEmaraRAT 20185%



[hE
"PRC"

[ ER]

“Prospectus”

[FMEEg)]

“Remuneration Committee”

[ hAE R s
"REVPAR”

[ Savan Legend]

“Savan Legend”

[ Savan Legend IR 4435 |

“Savan Legend Casino”

[Savan Legend Ef&AT ]

“Savan Legend Resorts

"

[ AR5t

“Service Agreement”

[E7 RS &
“SFO”"

[t RT 2]
“Share Option Scheme”

[ A7 ]
“Share(s)”

[RfE
"SIM”

2%(|)
DEFINITIONS (CONTINUED)

REE AR HAE
the People’s Republic of China

ARBAPA-T—=F AT LENBERER
the prospectus of the Company dated 17 June 2013

ARRIFHHEZEE

the remuneration committee of the Company

BRETHEERE KR

revenue per available room

Savan Legend Resorts Sole Company Limited * —FEIREBAMKZH AR » WAERA
RIMEEWB AR » &iESavan Legend ERITEE MIREELR A 21

Savan Legend Resorts Sole Company Limited, a company incorporated in the
Lao PDR and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which operates
Savan Legend Resorts Hotel and Entertainment Complex

Savan Legend IR ZH#B Savan Legend E BT A & iE H IR 435

a casino operated by Savan Legend inside Savan Legend Resorts

Savan Legend B /& RIREELR G SR e

Savan Legend Resorts Hotel and Entertainment Complex

PR EDREN —FTRNENA T A BRFTIRF s M EAARERT - Bt - AEER
EHIREES & B RIREES IR B B R IR
the service agreement dated 25 September 2006 and its related amendments entered
into between Hong Hock and SJM, under which the Group provides gaming services
to SJM in Landmark Casino and Babylon Casino

EEEBIFE 571 BEF LA DI
the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong

FERRRIFRAN B AERT B
the share option scheme adopted by the Company

AARBAREREEC. BTN E B
ordinary share(s) of HK$0.1 each in the share capital of the Company

PSRRI BRAT
Sociedade de Jogos de Macau, S.A.
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DEFINITIONS (CONTINUED)

[P ) 2k [ B ABME P B EAMAXRZMARRIR

"Stock Exchange” or “SEHK" The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

[ TR E AL ¥  AREABRPAT-=FARA-TAENAERBRER

“Supplemental Prospectus” the supplemental prospectus of the Company dated 26 June 2013

RS S ] i PRI RFEA S 555 5DRPIBE M EIS AERVES - B8 - S MRS AR
RiZES

“The Landmark Macau” the hotel, dining, conference and casino complex, and the car parks, located at

Macau Landmark Building, 555 Avenida da Amizada, Macau

= | XL ENBERBEETEEE
"Us$” United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America
AR TR | EEEBATHRR BRI ERELELTUNBEREE NAAREHE  BREE

EEE W EERN R ERGE - RO MESEE IR R AEE - - SHEENAR
RIRHR-ZT-—HFERANBRBENA

“VIE Agreements” the Exclusive Management and Consultancy Services Agreement, the Exclusive
Undertaking to Sell Agreement, the Transfer of Profit and Loan Agreement, the Share
and Equity Pledge Agreement and the Power of Attorney entered into among Hong
Hock, New Legend and Mr Frederick Yip, where appropriate, further details of which
are set out in the Company’s circular dated 9 June 2014

[AIEERERARE] | BRI SRR ERMEENERE - REBEATHEILE B ERORPIEREFER S
TEH
"VIE Structure” the structure established through the entering into of the VIE Agreements, which

enables the Group to indirectly participate in the gaming promotion business
operations in Macau through New Legend

[T EC BUT - BREREE SR

“e" Euro, the lawful currency of the European Union
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Macau Legend Development Limited

*for identification purposes only
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